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EDITOR'S PREFACE

BrFORE the appearance of the recent Lives of Napoleon by
Professor Sloane and Mr. J. H. Rose, the work here presented
in English was generally recognized by competent judges to
be the best brief history of Napoleon that had been written.
Whatever relative position would be accorded to it to-day, com-
pared with these biographies, it may be affirmed confidently
and without invidiousness that its positive merits are no less
great than formerly and that it has the relative advantage in
this edition of being comprised in one volume and of being
accompanied by a classified bibliography equally well adapted,
within its limits, to serve as a guide to the student of Napo-
leonic history and as a manual for the librarian.

Among the positive merits of Fournier’s Napoleon I. should
be mentioned the thorough research upon which the narrative
is based, the interesting, vivid, and at times dramatic style in
which it is written, its broad historical spirit and impartiality
of judgment, its excellent proportions, not allotting undue space
to certain phases nor neglecting the civil side of Napoleon’s
career, and, finally, its lucid exposition of the general historical
situation and of the various contending factors.

These merits so strongly impressed me at the time of its
original publication that I felt that a good translation would
be a distinct and valuable addition to the large mass of Napo-
Jeonic literature already accessible to the English reader. Some
vears later I secured the author’s sanction for such an under-
taking and entrusted the work of translation to mv fnend and
former pupil Mr. F. H. Schwan of Cleveland. . Schwan
executed the task with scholarly fidelity. As I was not able,

however, at the time arrangements were made for publication to
i



v Editor’s Preface

give the manuscript the literary revision which seemed desirable
to the publishers and to myself, I enlisted the services of Mrs.
Corwin for the work. After revising the first chapters Mrs.
Corwin became convinced that she could accomplish better
results if she could labour with a freer hand, and she therefore
proceeded to make a new translation. Mr. Bissell’s experience
was similar with his part of the work, which is to an equal
degree an independent version, although its preparation was
facilitated by consulting Mr. Schwan’s manuscript. Mr.
Schwan’s contribution to the production of the book, there-
fore, although not exactly measurable, deserves appreciative
recognition. For Mrs. Corwin’s part of the volume, the
first fifteen chapters, the French translation of the first
two volumes of the original by E. Jaeglé proved of consid-
erable assistance, and, in most cases where the French text
differed from the German, it was followed as representing a
revised edition. Mr. Bissell translated the third volume of the
German, i.e., the last six chapters in this edition and the bibli-
ographies accompanying them. The index, in the main, is
the work of the translators.

As editor, I have gone carefully over the entire work in manu-
script and in proof, making such changes as seemed desirable,
translated the Table of Contents and the bibliographies for
Chapters I-XV, and supplied the material supplementary to the
bibliographies as contained in the original. I have refrained
almost entirely from editorial comment, and beyond adopting
the readings of the French version in most cases of variation,
I have made no changes in Fournier’s text except a very few of
minor character, such, for the most part, as the correction of
obvious errors in dates or numbers. I cannot flatter myself
that no mistakes have escaped my eye or that I have made none
of my own, but I hope that few serious errors will be found. I
shall be glad to have my attention called to any that may be

discovered.
E. G. B.

New Havewn, August, 1903.



AUTHOR’S PREFACE*

TuE purpose of the following pages is to recount briefly and
simply for the benefit of the wide circle of cultivated readers
the rise, the ventures, and the achievements of a man of incom-
parable historical importance. I am well aware that persons
competent to judge have recently and repeatedly stated that
the time has not yet come for the history of Napoleon 1. to be
written. If I undertake the task in spite of this warning, it is
due to the conviction that the historian, even if unable to pre-
sent definite and final results, is nevertheless under obligation
to supply those far from the laboratories of science with infor-
mation in regard to the existing state of knowledge, just as it
is their right to demand of him such information. To delve
for ore and never do anything but delve for ore cannot be the
chief aim of his life’s work; the world demands ornaments and
arms, and their makers may not beidle.

To the historian of Napoleon I. the task is moreover not
such an easy one as would be involved in simply clothing in
appropriate words a record of present results in historical re-
search. For these results are frequently contradictory to one
another and again often not sufficiently substantiated to allow
of their being at once accepted as settled. Consider the
changes that have come over the memory of the mighty Corsican
even in France, from the hymns of Béranger to the satires of
Barbier, from the glorifying narrative of Thiers to the anni-
hilating criticism of Lanfrey. The latter work, which was
published between 1867 and 1875, overthrew forever the legend
of the immaculate glory of Napoleon I.,and since that time the

* T the first volume of the German edition,
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general judgment in regard to the first Emperor of the French
has but increased in severity. Two causes have been espe-
cially prominent in bringing about this result. In the first
place authentic memoranda made in the days of Napoleon and
published since Lanfrey’s work—such, for instance, as the
memoirs of Madame de Rémusat—have kept disclosing new
faults and weaknesses in this the most celebrated self-made
man of all ages, and have so influenced and affected the esti-
mate of history in respect to him that at the present time the
inclination is but too marked to overlook his greatness in
dwelling upon what is petty. In the second place the imperial
reign of his nephew, Napoleon III., which had been founded
upon the basis of the as yet unshaken Bonapartist tradition,
was in 1870 compelled to give place to the Republic, that is
to say, to that form of government which Napoleon I. earlier
violently and arbitrarily destroyed. France having again
decided in favour of a republic, the historians who had been its
opponents were thrown as it were for reasons of state into dis-
credit, while the acts and achievements of the great Revolution
were brought forward into undeservedly favourable light. Not
until quite recently has it been recognized among earnest
French scholars, detached from party strife,—having perhaps
been incited thereto by the investigations of the Germans,—
that there is not only a Napoleonic but also a Revolutionary
legend which must needs be rejected as the other has been, and
be replaced by the truth without reserve. The efforts made
in this direction have not as yet produced incontestable results,
nor has the light yet been turned upon all the questions involved
in the history of the last hundred years in France. But already
it may be seen that with a more correct estimate of the first
Republic, 1792-1799, a more accurate appreciation is at the
same time to be gained of the historical importance of Napo-
leon I. The fact must be borne in mind that he was at the
same time the product and the consummation of the Revo-
lution, and that he still continued to tread the path which it
had marked out even while his hand was boldly preparing to
grasp the diadem of France.



Author’s Preface vii

It is from this point of view that Napoleon’s biographer of
to-day must approach his problem, and it is from such a stand-
point that I have attempted in a most modest way to make my
contribution to its solution in so far as permitted by the nar-
row limits imposed by circumstances upon this work. It makes
no pretence to being anything further than a simple outline.
To what extent I am indebted to earlier works it is impossible
to acknowledge in detail; it will be obvious at once to specialists.
At times I have, however, preferred to follow my own course,
which I hope has led me, avoiding political bias on the one hand
and the mere cavilling of a moralizer on the other, to a portrait
which, though imperfect and indefinite in its lines, is perhaps
a faithful picture of the character and work of this man who
more than any one before him has influenced the destinies of
the world.

Bibliographical notes are appended, but they are of course
far from complete even in regard to the most essential points.
Neither they nor the notes at the bottom of the pages are in
the least intended to corroborate statements in the text, but
are offered rather as guidance in finding the works which may
best, be relied upon to serve such readers as may be stimulated
through this book to wider reading and deeper research into
the subject. Only by stimulating such a desire will this work
accomplish the result which is desired for it.

TeE AUTHOR.
Vienna, December, 1885,
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Napoleon the First

CHAPTER 1

THE BONAPARTES IN CORSICA. NAPOLEON’S BIRTH AND
EARLY TRAINING

“THERE is still one country in Europe susceptible of mould-
ing by legislation—the island of Corsica. The courage and
steadfastness which enabled this brave people to regain and to
defend its liberty well deserve that a sage should teach it how
that blessing should be preserved. 1 have a presentiment that
this little island will some day astonish Europe.” Thus wrote
Jean Jacques Rousseau in 1762 in his immortal book “Le Con-
trat Social.” A few years later the prophecy of the philosopher
was fulfilled in the birth, on “this little island,” of one by the
power of whose genius the whole world was to be convulsed.

Jean Jacques Rousseau was not alone in his sympathetic
interest in Corsica. The attention of all Europe was attracted
toward the patriotic little nation which since 1729 had been wag-
ing a war for independence against Genoa, under whose sov-
ereignty it had groaned for centuries. The best minds of Europe
were interested in its fortunes; the works of Frederick the Great,
of Voltaire, and of Montesquieu speak with respect and sym-
pathy of these energetic mountaineers and of the imposing
personality of their leader, Pasquale Paoli. The latter, having
been declared regent of the “kingdom” by his compatriots, had
wrested the island, with the exception of the seaboard cities,
from the grasp of Genoa; had established a wise and beneficent

government without infringing upon the liberties of the people,
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and had thereby exemplified within narrow bounds the political
ideal of the advocates of progress and of a rational system of
government. And success would certainly have attended his
efforts to drive the enemy out of these last positions and to win
complete independence for his country had there not interposed
a power whose superior resources finally drove both combatants
from the field. That power was France.

This took place during the course of the Seven Years’ War,
when Genoa gave its adhesion to France, and Louis XV. prom-
ised in return to support that republic in its contest with Corsica.
For three years (1756-1759) the French occupied the harbours
of San Fiorenzo, Calvi, and Ajaccio, and attempted to mediate
between the belligerents. Soon, however, they took measures
toward securing for themselves this important island in the
Mediterranean.

Negotiations with the Doge of Genoa resulted in a treaty in
1768, by the terms of which the King of France, in return for
‘the remission of sums due him from Genoa, and the payment
of an annual subsidy, was granted the sovereignty of Corsica
“as security.” Despite the restrictive clause the whole world
understood it to mean a definitive annexation. And indeed
who was to prevent it? The attention of the great powers was
focussed on a different object and Louis XV. had thus but a single
antagonist to deal with—the Corsican people. To surrender
their independence to France seemed in nowise more endurable
than to submit to the rule of Genoa, and Paoli ventured the un-
equal contest, but only to succumb. After gaining & few unim-
portant victories he suffered defeat in a decisive battle on the
Golo (May, 1769) and was obliged to flee. In July he left the
island to find in England a hospitable refuge. Only a few of
his most faithful companions in arms accompanied him thither.
The greater part of them had retreated to Monte Rotondo, and,
having been offered favourable terms by the French, they laid
down their arms. TFrance was in possession of the island.

Among the speakers of the deputation sent to sue for peace
from the victor was Carlo Buonaparte, the father of Napoleon.
This confidential mission was entrusted to him doubtless on
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account of the respect in which his family was held at Ajaccio,
where they had lived for two centuries. In later years, when the
little Corsican had become great, inventive flatterers were not
wanting who traced back his lineage to a Byzantine emperor
of the Middle Ages. His line can, however, be traced, with any
degree of certainty, only to the sixteenth century, when one
Gabriel Buonaparte quitted Sarzana in Tuscany to establish
himself at Ajaccio. The Buonapartes were of the nobility. At
least the Grand Duke of Tuscany, Leopold of Austria, did not
hesitate to confirm the nobility of Napoleon’s grandfather in
1757. It was also confirmed later by the Heralds’ College of
France. The Buonapartes (this was the original spelling of
the name and thus Napoleon himself wrote it until 1796), like
most of the residents of the seaboard cities, remained loyal to
Genoa until no longer able to withstand the patriotic uprising.

When war with France opened, Carlo joined the ranks of the
patriots and was rewarded with special distinction by Paoli.
After the victory of the enemy, however, he soon became a
zealous supporter of the newly-established government. A
cordial. welcome was ever extended to the foreigners in Carlo’s
house at Ajaccio, where his beautiful young wife Letitia (née
Ramolino) made a charming hostess, and the French command-
ant, Count Marbceuf, was a frequent visitor.

Carlo Buonaparte was a man of some attainments, although
not remarkably gifted; ambitious, also somewhat frivolous and
fond of pleasure, yet solicitous withal in caring for his numerous
family. He was a lawyer by profession, and his own client;
he had nothing more at heart than the litigation he was carry-
ing on for the recovery of a valuable estate bequeathed by a
pious relative to the Jesuits. The latter were for this reason
detested by him, and indeed he could never have been counted
a very devout Catholic. The lawsuit carried on by the French
authorities as legal successors to the banished monks wasted
much time and money, as did also the repeated journeys to
Versailles, whither his office of deputy of the Corsican nobility
led him. It was while on an expedition of this kind that death
overtook him at Montpellier in 1785, at the early age of thirty-
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eight. He left, besides the undecided lawsuit, but scant means
of subsistence for his family.

Maria Letitia had borne her husband thirteen children.
When he died eight were still living, five of them boys. Je-
rome, the youngest, was but three months old. It was no easy
task for the widow to carry on her household and provide for
so large a family with these limited resources. But Leetitia
solved the problem. A woman of quick perception and sagacity,
with the tenacious energy that overcomes difficulties; impul-
sive yet thoughtful, undaunted and, at the same time, calculating,
she was a true Corsican. With no great mental gifts and slight.
pretensions to education, she had much common sense and was
not wanting in a certain loftiness of sentiment. When, at the
time of the war with France, Carlo joined Paoli, she had coura-
geously followed her husband into the mountains, and, although
she was with child, had willingly borne all the hardships of the
campaign. Now she governed her household with a firm hand
and utilized her limited means with prudence and economy.

In truth Carlo’s unreserved adherence to France and the
friendship of the governor had at length proved of practical
benefit. The elder sons had been put to school in French insti-
tutions at the king’s expense; now at his father’s death Joseph,
the eldest, returned to Corsica to help his mother, and in the
same year, 1785, Napoleon, the second son, left the Paris Military
Academy as lieutenant, no less ready to help those at home to
the extent of his ability. Who would have dreamed that under
the protection of this little officer the whole family should some
day attain to grandeur, power, and distinction?

Napoleon was born in Ajaccio on the 15th of August, 1769;
a date the accuracy of which is put in question by the most
recent investigation. Indeed the latest researches cast no
little doubt upon the much-celebrated Napoleon’s Day.* Accord-
ing to these the year of his birth should be 1768, and his birth-
place Corte.

* See the bibliography, ch. I, for the arguments for and against the
accepted date.—B.
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The evidence, however, is not so strong as to give cause for
abandoning the traditional date, to say nothing of the fact that
it is a matter of comparatively little importance whether our
hero was born a year earlier or later, whether in the interior
of the island or on the coast. Suffice it that there he was and
that he soon made his presence felt.

In his childhood he is said to have resembled his mother in
appearance, having inherited also Letitia’s energetic disposi-
tion, while his brothers were more like their father. Wilful
and stubborn, Napoleon gave trouble to all about him. To
quote his own words written toward the close of his life: “I
was self-willed and obstinate, nothing awed me, nothing discon-
certed me. I was quarrelsome, exasperating; I feared no one.
I gave a blow here and a scratch there. Every one was afraid
of me. My brother Joseph was the one with whom I had the
most to do; he was beaten, bitten, scolded; I complained that
he did not get over it soon enough.” His mother alone was
able, by the exercise of great severity, to control the headstrong
boy, while his father usually defended him. As is evident, his
early training was not of the best. Under the instruction .of
his uncle Fesch, a half-brother of Leetitia’s, Napoleon learned
the alphabet, and, later, in a girls’ school of the little town he
acquired the essentials of his mother tongue.

Doubtless he gave much greater attention to the many tales
which he overheard of Paoli and the war for independence
and eagerly constructed ideals from the material which lay so
near at hand. He was overflowing with heroic dreams of this
kind when he afterward went to France.

The lad’s untamable spirit may have led his father to dis-
cover his predisposition for a military life. He applied for a
scholarship for his son at one of the royal schools where the
scions of the French nobility were prepared for a military career,
and his request was granted. Toward the end of the year 1778
he left home in order to place his two elder sons in the College
of Autun, where Napoleon was to learn French before entering
the military school at Brienne, while Joseph was to finish his
classical studies preparatory to taking orders, In three months
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the former had made some progress in learning to express him-
self in French, and on the 23d of April, 1779, Napoleone de
Buonaparte was enrolled among the students at Brienne. The
die was cast—he was to be a soldier.

The five years spent in this place were not of the happiest
for the young Corsican. To be transported from the ever-
smiling scenes of the south to the northern gloom of Champagne,
from the sea to the most monotonous province of the interior,
from untrammelled freedom to a monastic discipline, where
he knew no one of the trifling pleasures which made home
happy, what wonder that the sensitive nature of the boy should
become gloomy and morose? What above all brought about
this unhappy state of affairs was his unsociable disposition.
His imperious, defiant temperament found all too soon resolute
antagonists in the haughty sons of the Castries, the Comminges,
and all the other illustrious houses represented by his fellow
students at Brienne. He had to endure the mortification of
learning that they considered his title to nobility defective,
and that they spoke insultingly of his father, whom they dubbed
the “usher” in derision of his incessant petitioning at Ver-
sailles. For a time Napoleon revenged himself in his own un-
governed fashion, but at length sullenly withdrew from the
society of them all.

Two of his schoolfellows have left us credible accounts of
his life at the Military Academy and of his unsociable demecan-
our. One of them writes: “Gloomy and even savage, almost
always self-absorbed, one would have supposed that he had
just come from some forest and, unmindful until then of the
notice of his fellows, experienced for the first time the sensations
of surprise and distrust; he detested games and all manner of
boyish amusements. One part of the garden was allotted to
him and there he studied and brooded, and woe to him who
ventured to disturb him! One evening the boys were setting
off fireworks and a small powder-chest exploded. In their
fright the troop scattered in all directions and some of them
took refuge in Napoleon’s domain, whereat he rushed upon the
fugitives in a passion and attacked them with a spade,” Winter



Er. 10-15] At Brienne 7

alone compelled him to be more companionable. Then was
his opportunity to show the others how to build snow forts and
defences of all sorts, and how to attack and defend them.  But
the first day of spring found him again in his corner of the
garden, serious and solitary. Naturally he made no friends
among his schoolmates,—he never had one during his life.
One is even inclined to doubt whether he ever had any youth;
it seems indeed as if no ray of the springtime of life, which fills
so many hearts with gladness, had ever brightened the path
of this early embittered nature.

It was not long before troubles of a more material nature
were added to the pangs of wounded pride. The straitened
condition of the family did not admit of keeping the boys at
school supplied with an abundance of pocket-money, a new
mark of inferiority to the hated Frenchmen. On this account
Napoleon, then twelve years old, sent to his father a letter of
expostulation which is exceedingly characteristic of the disposi-
tion and mental attitude of the writer. He begs to be taken
away from Brienne, and rather, if need be, to be set to learn
some handicraft, than to be compelled further to exhibit his
poverty. He writes: “I am weary of advertising my desttu-
tion and of seeing it ridiculed by insolent schoolboys whose
only point of superiority to me is in their wealth, for there is
not one amongst them who is not a hundred degrees below me
in nobility of feeling. What! Sir, would you have your son
continually the butt of a lot of high-born clowns, who, vain
of the pleasures they are enabled to enjoy, insult me in laugh-
ing at the privations which I am obliged to undergo?” * He
learned in reply that it was indeed impossible for those at home
to furnish him with funds necessary to keep up appearances.
Another cause of embitterment augmented by his distress over
the situation of the family at home.

Napoleon was neither a very industrious nor talented scholar.
When he left the school after five years of study his spelling was
wretched. Indeed he never was able to write pure French.
His acquirements in Latin were of so limited a character that

* This letter is rejected by Masson, ‘Napoléon inconnu,” I. 55.—B,
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there were among his teachers men narrow-minded enough
to consider him on this account without intellectual gifts. His-
tory and geography, on the contrary, he studied with pleasure,
and above all he preferred mathematics. ‘It was the general
opinion,” said he in later days, “that I was fit for nothing except
geometry.” Taken all in all he matured early. The letters
which he wrote from Brienne to his uncle Fesch are throughout
serious, clear, and logical. He showed ability to compare, dis-
criminate, and judge acutely. One hears with astonishment
the way in which this boy of fourteen characterizes his elder
brother who proposed to enter the military service in place of
the priesthood. ‘“He is mistaken in this for several reasons,”
wrote Napoleon to Fesch. “1. As my father says, he has not
the intrepidity necessary to confront the dangers of a battle.
His feeble health does not permit his undergoing the hardships
of a campaign. Indeed my brother considers a military career
only from the standpoint of garrison life. He would unques-
tionably make an excellent officer of the garrison. Well built,
with ready wit, therefore fitted for paying frivolous compliments,
and with his talents he will make an excellent appearance in
society. But in battle?—That is the point whereon my father
has his doubts. 2. He has been educated for the church; it is
now very late to make a change of profession. The bishop of
Autun would have given him a rich living and he would with cer-
tainty have become a bishop. What advantages that would entail
to the family! My Lord Bishop of Autun has done his utmost
to induce him to persevere in his original course, assuring him
that he will never have cause to regret it. All in vain,—he is
not to be moved. I should commend his determination if it
arose from a decided taste for that calling, which is after all the
finest, and if the great Controller of human affairs had planted
in his breast (as in mine) a real love of things military.
3. He wants a place in the army; very good,—but in what
branch of the service? . . . Doubtless he prefers the infantry,
that is readily understood; he wants nothing to do the livelong
day, to promenade up and down the streets all day. And to
add to all this what does a petty officer of infantry amount to?
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A loafer three quarters of the time, and that is ene thing which
neither my father, nor you, nor my mother, nor my uncle the
Archdeacon desire, so much the less that he has already shown
himself somewhat frivolous and extravagant, etc.”

In his moments of leisure Napoleon gave free play to his
lively imagination. In his reveries he was carried back to his
island home with its high mountains and the ever-clear sky
above them, its picturesque seacoast and the deep blue sea,—
back to the happier days of his childhood. These day-dreams
were his sole recreation and comfort, and in his cheerless solitude
in the midst of strangers, his longing for the land of his birth
grew to be a glowing patriotism. Are not those who humiliate
and sneer at him here at the same time the foes and subjugators
of his native land? -

The thought that his father had helped to further the cause
of the French in Corsica was unbearable,—forgive him he could
not, and he took no pains to conceal his feelings. The heroic
figure of Paoli appears before his mind in radiant splendour, and
he expresses the wish to become another such as he. “I hope,”
he exclaims, ‘“some time to be in a position to restore her free-
dom to Corsica.”

The fact that he was preparing himself for that purpose at
the expense of France gave him not the least uneasiness. But
first of all he fecls impelled to acquaint himself thoroughly
with the history of the Corsican people, and begs those at home
to send him Boswell and other books dealing with the subject.
Perhaps the plan has even now taken shape in his mind to
become himself the historian of his native island. In short,
he was an out-and-out Corsican, and implacably hostile toward
the French. But ahove all he detested those among them who
arrogantly vaunted their superiority of birth and fortune and
looked with scorn upon those who were not their equals in rank.

Thus in the solitary broodings of this mind, naturally given
to reflection, were developed those revolutionary ideas which
were just then beginning to agitate the whole of France. When
once he meets them in the minds of others, they will appear
neither strange nor unfamiliar.
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According to his father’s wishes and his own inclinations
Napoleon was to have entered the navy. But Fate willed it
otherwise. So large a number of applications had already been
made by boys from the military schools who preferred the marine
service that had he insisted upon carrying out his intention he
would have been obliged to lose a whole year. The straitened
circumstances of the family scarcely admitted of this, and he
decided without delay upon entering the artillery, a branch of
the service usually avoided by the boys on account of the heavier
work involved. His resolution once taken he was placed in the
company of cadets of the nobility in Paris, to which place he
removed on the 23d of October, 1784. This change had but
slight effect on the inward workings of his mind. At Paris, as
at Brienne, the difference was anifest between the sons of the
great families and those of the lesser nobility who were edu-
cated at the king’s expense. The same insurmountable barrier
which separated him from the Comminges and the Castries at
Brienine interposed here to keep him from the Rohans and the
Montmorencys, and wounded anew his unbounded self-esteem.
He made himself no more beloved in Paris than at Brienne and
even added to his unpopularity by protesting in a memorial
against the effeminate luxury which made the Ecole militaire
one of the most costly institutions of the state, while it at the
same time unfitted its graduates for active service.

Just at this time came the tidings of his father’s death, and
his attention was turned entirely to the question of an appoint-
ment as officer at the earliest possible moment, an advance-
ment to which he was entitled to aspire, having reached the
required age of fifteen years. His examination passed after a
fashion, he presented a petition to be assigned to the Artillery
regiment of La Fére stationed at Valence; his commission as
second lieutenant followed on the 1st of September, and in
October—having borrowed the money necessary to defray his
travelling expenses—he departed for the garrison.

The instructors at the military school, among whom at that
time was Monge, the celebrated mathematician, gave, in regard
to the student who had just taken leave, the following dis-
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criminating report: “Reserved and studious, he prefers study
to amusement of any kind, and takes pleasure in reading the
works of good authors; while diligent in his study of abstract
science, he cares little for any other;- he has a thorough knowl-
edge of mathematics and geography. He is taciturn, preferring
solitude, capricious, haughty, and inordinately self-centred.
While a man of few words, he is vigorous in his replies, ready
and incisive in retort; he has great self-esteem, is ambitious,
with aspirations that stop at nothing; he is a young man worthy
of patronage.”

“When I entered the service,” said Napoleon one.day to
Madame de Rémusat, “I found garrison life tedious; I began
reading novels, and that kind of reading proved interesting.
I made an attempt at writing some; this task gave range to my
imagination. It took hold of my knowledge of positive faects,
and often I found amusement in giving myself up to dreams in
order to test them later by the standard of my reasoning powers.
I transported myself in thought to an ideal world, and I sought
to discover wherein lay the precise difference between that and
the world in which I lived.” He was then the same dreamer
as of old! The fondness for seclusion and meditation, which
appeared under the restraint of his school days, was not lost in
the free intercourse of every-day life without its walls. What
sort of men could have peopled his ideal world if, on comparison
with them, his fellow mortals no longer appeared worthy of his
companionship?

One thing at least we may gather with safety from his con-
fessions: that the officers of the royal army had ample time
for novel-reading, for dreaming, and for meditation. And as
a matter of fact under the old régime the organization of the
army was such that neither private soldiers nor their superiors
had cause to complain of hardship. Thorough drill, camp-
exercises, manceuvres, were things unknown. To be sure,
after the discomfiture at Rossbach in 1757 there had been those
who demanded reform, but no one heeded them; the weakness
of the government and the indolent ease of the officers of the
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nobility proved an insurmountable obstacle. There was then
no want of leisure, but the prospect of the future presented to
the mind of one of these young officers, had he cared to employ
his leisure in considering it, could not appear brilliant unless he
belonged to a powerful and wealthy family. Such alone might
aspire to the rank of staff-officer and general, while the poor
and inferior nobility must be satisfied throughout their lives
with subaltern positions.

Imagine the fiery-natured Napoleon, with his feverish thirst
for appreciation, facing the barren prospect of a half-dozen
years of waiting for his promotion to the rank of first lieutenant
with at least the same time of weary waiting before he could be-
come captain, finally as such to retire and end his days, having
been faithfully accompanied throughout his career by want
and privation.

Who wonders that his thoughts turned into other channels,
or even that he openly held aloof from those who found pleasure
in so modest a lot? He associated with his comrades in the
garrison as little as he had with those at school. Indeed, they
differed at bottom from the youths at Brienne and Paris only
in being a little more mature. Napoleon found much more
to his taste the society of royal officials, lawyers, and other
persons of the middle class who suffered in a way similar to his
own from the rigid distinctions of society and who paid more
attention to the outbreaks in which he vented his radical opin-
ions than did the officers of La Fére, who, incensed at his keen
derision, threw him, one day, into the Rhone.

For a time he consorted with the social circle of Valence and
frequented particularly the house of Madame de Colombier, in
which the Abbé de Saint-Ruf was the most prominent guest,
and in which assembled the daughters of the neighbouring fami-
lies of rank. But this was only transitory. He soon resumed
his former solitary manner of life. '

Was it, perchance, through some tender attachment that
he had been drawn toward this house, and had his feeling re-
mained unrequited? We have no certain knowledge as to this.
But five years later—at the age of twenty-two—he wrote the
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following in his “Dialogue on Love”: “I was once in love and
I still retain enough of its recollections not to require these
metaphysical definitions which never do anything but confuse
matters. I go further than to deny its existence; I consider
it dangerous to society as well as to the happiness of the indi-
vidual. In short, I hold that love does more harm than good
and that it would be a beneficent act on the part of a protecting
divinity to rid us of it and deliver mankind from its thrall.”

But his leisure time was by no means entirely devoted to
novel-reading and the fantastic play of his imagination. He
developed an interest greater than ever in serious study and
read especially political and historical works.

This was the time in which the greatest minds of France
had appeared as leaders and teachers of the nation to proclaim
those rationalistic theories which condemned existing conditions
and demanded in their place a new form of state and of society.
The writings of Voltaire and Montesquieu, Rousseau and d’A-
lembert were in the hands of every one. Bonaparte* had already
given himself with eagerness to the study of their works while
at the Military School in Paris, and rarely have the words of
Jean Jacques fallen upon more fruitful soil. He made excerpts
from the “Contrat Social” and added notes thereto, and eagerly
adopted the extravagant enthusiasm of the Genevan philosopher
for the state of nature. He likewise read Filangieri’s “Scienza
della legislazione,” which had enjoyed since 1780 a quite un-
deserved consideration, Adam Smith’s “Wealth of Nations,”
Necker’s “Compte-rendu,” and much else. But more than any
of these, Raynal appears to have influenced his further develop-
ment. Raynal was during the eighties the most widely read
author in France. His ‘““Histoire philosophique et politique
des Etablissements et du Commerce des Européens dans les Deux
Indes” had acquired an unrivalled popularity on account of its
revolutionary tendencies. The book offered more than was to
be inferred from its title. It discussed, for instance, not only
the political situation of China, but compared the same with
that of France to the distinct disadvantage of the latter. It

* I shall henceforth adopt this spelling.

yd
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depicted with impressive eloguence the condition of his native
land, the unreasonable privileges of the nobility and higher
clergy, the immense abyss separating the rich from the poor,
and the wrongs suffered by the middle class without power of
redress: the demoralizing corruption shown in the sale of office,
and the wretched administration of the finances. It prophesied
the collapse of the government soon to follow, nay, more, it
summoned openly to revolution as a clear duty under such
circumstances. This doctrine made a profound impression on
Napoleon, more profound than that made by any of the teach-
ings of Rousseau. He acknowledged ‘himself, later, a zealous
disciple of Raynal in a pamphlet entitled ““Discours sur le
Bonheur,” which he presented (blunders in spelling included)
to the Academy of Lyons in 1791. In 1787 he became personally
acquainted with Raynal, and spoke with him about his studies
into the history of his native land. A few years later he be-
stowed upon Raynal a fragment: “Lettres sur I'Histoire de
1a Corse,” which he had begun writing in 1786 and in which he
narrated the history of the island down to the time of Paoli.
Napoleon’s brother Lucien would have us believe that Raynal
showed the “Lettres” to Mirabeau, and that the latter extolled
the genius of their author. But Lucien’s veracity is not un-
impeachable.

However that may be, Napoleon had become a writer and
now, with indefatigable pen, composed, in addition to his history,
a novel, the scene of which is laid in Corsica, a drama—*le
Comte d’Essex,” and stories after the manner of Diderot and
Voltaire.® .

But to him it was not sufficient to put his thoughts on paper;
he could not be satisfied until they should be printed and read,
and this not merely for the sake of vanity and ambition, but in
order to gain money. For pecuniary cares had nct deserted
him in his garrison life; on the contrary, they had become
more than ever importunate and tormented him beyond en-

* Bonaparte himself eventually burned, with but few exceptions, all
“‘the rubbish of his youthful literary attempts.”” (Th. Jung, “Lucien
Bonaparte et ses Mémoires,” t. IL. p. 144.)
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durance. Not that the one hundred livres a month which he
received as pay would have been insufficient for his personal
expenses; his wants were not many or great. His lodgings
at the house of Mademoiselle Bon cost him something more
than eight livres, and for a time he ate but one meal a day;
the fact that he had little intercourse with his gay fellow soldiers
was in itself an additional economy. But there were times when
real want threatened those at home. In September, 1786, death
bereaved them of their benefactor and patron, Marbeeuf, the
governor of Corsiea, and a great-uncle, the archdeacon Lucien,
who had always helped them with his watchful care and advice,
lay seriously ill. Joseph, who, in spite of remonstrance, had
discarded the clerical for the military profession, and who, after
his father’s death, had been obliged to renounce this also in
order to find a position at home, was still seeking remunerative
work. TUp to this time the Bonapartes had been the annual
recipients of a certain sum of money, in return for the care of
one of the nurseries of mulberry-trees which the government
had established in Corsica; now notice was given that this
stipend was to be discontinued. It was not long before the
household was without money.

This succession of disappointments and troubles was more
than even Letitia’s spirited nature could endure. She wrote
her son Napoleon of her distress and besought him to return to
her. The impression made upon him by this letter was both
deep and painful. He resembled his father in his solicitude
for the welfare of his family, and to know them to be in difficul-
ties caused him unaffected sorrow. This feeling became the
more intense when his request for immediate leave of absence
met with the reply that such could be granted him only by
the beginning of the following year. Bitter were the words
in which his emotions found vent in his diary:

“Always alone when in the midst of men, I return to my
room to dream by myself and to give myself up to the full tide
of my melancholy. Whither did my thoughts turn to-day?
Toward death. In the springtime of my life, I may still hope
to live for a long time. I have been away from my native
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land now for six or seven years. What pleasure shall I not
feel in seeing once more, four months hence, both my com-
patriots and my relatives? From the tenderness felt in recalling
the pleasures of my childhood may I not infer that my happiness
will be complete? What madness then impels me to desire
my own destruction? What, forsooth, am I here for in this
world? Since death must come to me, why would it not be as
well to kill myself? If I were sixty years old or more, I should
respect the prejudices of my contemporaries and would patiently
wait for Nature to finish her course, but, since I begin life in
suffering misfortune, and nothing gives me pleasure, why should
I endure these days when nothing with which I am concerned
prospers?

“ How far men have departed from Nature! How dastardly,
abject, and servile they are! What sight awaits me at home?
My fellow countrymen loaded with chains kissing with trembling
the hand which oppresses them. These are no longer the gal-
lant Corsicans roused by the virtues of a hero, enemies of tyrants,
of luxury, of base courtiers. . . . Frenchmen, not content with
having ravished us of all that we held most dear, you have in
addition corrupted our morals! (The picture thus presented
of my country, and my own powerlessness to change it, are a
new reason for leaving a world where duty compels me to praise
those whom virtue bids me despise.) When I reach my own
country again what attitude am I to take; in what manner am
I to speak? When his country ceases to exist, a loyal citizen
should die. . . . My life is a burden to me, for I relishnota single
pleasure and everything causes me pain; it is a burden to me
because the men among whom I live, and shall probably always
live, have habits of mind as far remote from mine as the light
of the moon differs from that of the sun. I am, therefore,
unable to follow the only manner of living which could make
life endurable, from which results a disgust toward everything.”

. Nothing could be more characteristic than this effusion of a
soul filled with discontent. It is evident that Goethe’s Werther
(which Napoleon claims to have read five times) and Rousseau’s
impassioned writings have had their. effect upon his mind;
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their influence is plainly discernible in more than one place.
And yet, side by side with this apparent subserviency, there
exists a vigorous and self-reliant judgment, and one is at once
convinced that the writer of the diary, however readily he
may speak of his thoughts of death, has as little real intention
of making his words good as had the dethroned emperor at
Fontainebleau, twenty-eight years later, of taking his own life.
It is always the same double nature to which he himself bears
witness in the conversation with Madame de Rémusat above
cited; the same fantastic dreaming, to which nevertheless is
always applied the measuring-rod of a calm and methodical
deliberation; an idealism subdued, corrected, and controlled
by a highly developed, realistic intelligence. This is the funda-
mental trait of his character and at the same time its key.

And now he has suddenly fixed upon a practical resolution.
Once in Ajaccio, he will get his leave of absence prolonged, “on
the ground of ill health,” as far as the forbearance of the Minis-
ter of War will permit. In this way his family will profit by
his pay, while he himself will have the opportunity to carry
out his literary projects. And as a matter of fact he did not
rejoin his regiment at Auxonne before May, 1788.

It would, however, be a mistake to suppose that the young
officer’s concern for the support and future of his family and
the cheerlessness of his own prospects were alone responsible
for his dejection. What tormented him beyond all these was
the conflict between what he recognized as his duty and what
he himself honoured as civie virtue in the light of his specula-
tions on the natural rights of mankind.

He had once written in a letter to Fesch: “A soldier's sole
attachment should be to his flag.” But did not this flag bind
him to the cause of the French whom he had learned to hate
even while at school, before whose doors his pride had been
obliged to humble itself to beg assistance and benefits for the
Buonaparte family—the French who had subjugated his country,
in the liberation of which he saw realized the most audacious
dreams of his fancy? He, to whom Sampiero and Paoli had
been shining ideals, had sworn allegiance to their victorious
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foes and thereby imposed upon himself fetters which para-
lvzed his ambition and condemned his existence to insigni-
ficance. He had purposed to become the hero of his nation
and he had become merely one of its armed custodians. This
state of affairs was intolerable and yet it was scarcely to be
changed.

For unheard-of things must take place in order to overcome
the obstacles which towered before the feverishly urgent deter-
mination of this ambitious youth. The established order of a
world must be overturned to make way for the flight of this
extraordinary genius.

And behold! the unheard-of came to pass: the order of the
world was disestablished and a new era opened.



CHAPTER 11
THE REVOLUTION. NAPOLEON’S CORSICAN ADVENTURES

It is impossible to undertake to set forth here all the causes
and ocecasions which brought about in France that revolutionary
movement to which a large proportion of our modern political
and social conditions owe their existence. In point of fact,
the necessity for these changes was felt long before the decisive
year of 1789. As early as the middle of the century, during the
reign of Louis XV., notorious in history for his mistresses and
his defeats, the word ‘“Revolution” had been uttered with
something of that prophetic tone with which the Old Testa-
ment seers pronounced the name Messiah, and having once
acquired a foothold, it never again disappeared from the lan-
guage. Upon the succession of Louis XVI. to the throne of his
grandfather he showed the best of intentions toward the cor-
rection of abuses, but it soon became evident that the evil was
too deep-rooted to be moved by well-intentioned attempts at
reform. No minister, however able, could hope by means of
judicious measures to overcome the difficulty. Ever since the
seventeenth century the government in France had been tend-
ing toward despotism and centralization; the welfare of the
nation rested solely upon the caprice of the king and the will of
nis domineering ministers. The fundamental rights of the
people were ignored; the States General—the legal representa~
tives of the three political classes, the clergy, nobility, and
commons—had for a long time not been convoked for partici-
pation in the framing of laws, though this right was accorded
to them by the ancient constitution of the realm. As a conse-
quence there existed a constant feud between the government
and the Parliaments, the highest judicial courts of the country.
The clergy and nobility had submitted to the position of political
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insignificance which the new system gave them, and were re-
warded with lavish hand by the king for their loyalty; their
exemption from taxation, together with all other prerogatives
formerly granted them by the state in acknowledgment of
their services as judges and guardians, was preserved to them.

On the other hand, the third estate, which had not shared
in any of these privileges, was obliged to assume, almost unaided,
the burden of the state’s expenses. Of the land two thirds
were owned by the two privileged classes and were accordingly
free from taxation, while the remaining third was divided among
a large number of small property-holders who were in nowise
entitled, as were their superiors, to exact feudal service and
levy turnpike and bridge toll of the peasantry, but were com-
pelled to pay taxes of all descriptions upon their meagre lands.
The peasants, living exclusively upon the domains of the privi-
leged classes, had to pay taxes to state, church, and stewards
of the landlord, and there remained to them after the deduc-
tion of these imposts an all too scanty means of subsistence.
In the cities a few rich and favoured circles were opposed to a
populace without property, who, excluded from guilds, corpo-
rations, and all municipal offices, earned their living in daily
labour for the upper classes. Thus the poor man of France was
oppressed, while the aristocracy squandered the fruit of others’
labour in Paris or at the prodigal royal court at Versailles in
leading the brilliant and luxurious life of the salons.

That these conditions were contrary to nature had long been
recognized by thinking minds. In imperishable works, con-
spicuous for their brilliancy and elegant simplicity of language,
they attacked the intolerance of the church, which, even after
1760, incited the willing authorities to harsh measures against
the members of the reformed churches; they demonstrated that
existing social conditions were in violation of the rights of man,
and sought, in sundry ways, the ideal government to replace
the present one when that should collapse as it deserved to do.

And the catastrophe followed soon. Bad financial admin-
istration on the one side, with failure of crops and distressing
need on the other, hastened the crisis. After the disclosure by
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Necker, Minister of Finance, in the early eighties, of the des-
perate condition of the State’s treasury; after the ineffectual
labours of his successor Calonne over the problem of how to draw
upon the wealth of the two privileged classes for the benefit of
the country; after repeated borrowings had exhausted credit
and bankruptcy scemed inevitable, the king at last decided to
vield to the universal demand and to convoke the States General
at Versailles early in May, 1789.

The States General as they had assembled for the last time
in 1614 was no such united deliberative body as, for instance,
the English Parliament or the modern German Reichstag.
The deputies of the three estates debated and voted separately,
and the majority of votes of all three—two to one—was neces-
sary to enact or reject a bill. TUnder such conditions the com-
mons were of necessity at a disadvantage when opposed to the
clergy and the nobility.

But the third estate of 1789 was a different body from that
of 1614. The example of two great and successful revolutions,
that of England in the seventeenth and that of America in the
eighteenth century, had not remained without effect upon the
minds of its members.

The doctrines of philosophers and political writers had
penetrated their minds, the conviction of the injustice of exist-
ing conditions was pre-eminently theirs. and the wish to give
expression to this conviction in deeds impelled them to take
the first step toward revolution.

Contrary to the provisions of the ancient constitution, as
well as to the wish of Louis XVI., the representatives of the
third estate, who equalled in number those of the other two
combined, refused to conform to the former manner of sitting.
They declared themselves to be the representatives of the nation,
and summoned the deputies of the other two estates to co-operate
with them in their deliberations and decrees. (June 17th, 1789.)
This purpose was accomplished and thus the feudal States
General were transformed into a modern Chamber of Deputies
which, far from contenting itself with complacently approving
the government loans, felt itself called upon to do away en-
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tirely with the old régime and to constitute in its place a new
France. The first part of this task was accomplished before the
end of the year. In the night session of the 4th of August,
amidst universal excitement, those memorable decrees were
passed which annulled all privileges of rank, removed all feudal
burdens from the peasant, declared ecclesiastical tithes re-
deemable, suppressed the selling of public offices, and pro-
claimed all citizens eligible to any office whether civil or military.
By this action—too precipitate, to be sure—was demolished
the crumbling edifice of ancient France and the foundation laid
for a new and habitable structure.

These decrees were, however, not the result of calm considera-
tion and deliberate judgment. While the lawmakers at Ver-
sailles were drawing up the code of newly-acquired liberty the
capital near by was in the wildest uproar. Riots had for years
been frequent in Paris, but now they became the established
order of the day. Shortly before the above-mentioned decrees
were passed by the National Assembly, the populace of Paris,
having become ‘‘sovereign,” had repulsed the royal troops on
the Place Venddme, had taken by storm the Hétel des Invalides,
and had razed to the ground the Bastille. It was with the
greatest difficulty that the Deputies were able to restrain the
mob from further excesses. Strange and varied elements
constituted the populace of Paris: fairly-educated, honest
enthusiasts in the cause of freedom stood side by side with
brutish vagabonds whom the poverty of the open country had
driven by thousands into the city; oppressed labourers who were
contending for their just right to live decently, marched beside
impudent adventurers and light-fingered gentry who brazenly
declared war upon all movable property; theorists ready to
push their cherished ideas to the last extreme were beside
legions of ignorant beings who blindly acted upon any suggestion
overheard in the streets—an imposing array enlisted in the
interests of anarchy and soon to assume a fearful importance.

The capital did not remain alone a prey to revolt. The
provinces also felt the force of the current from the beginning
of the political movement. Here hunger assumed the executive
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power. Hundreds of grain riots were but the precursors to
further excesses. The harvests of 1789 in the south of France
had proved a failure. In the middle and northern parts of the
country, where the vield had been sufficient, no one showed the
spirit necessary to put the grain on the market. The high
prices kept up and occasioned new disturbances. Proprietors
were forced by threats of violence to deliver up their supplies.
Peasants assembled before the castles of the nobility and com-
pelled them to yield not only their feudal rights, but their
possessions. Whoever resisted forfeited his life. Eastern
France, from the extreme north down to Provence, was dis-
tracted by peasant-uprisings and confiscations of property.
Murder and assassination were nothing unusual. All authority
was powerless to restrain the disorder.

Auxonne on the Sadne, where the artillery regiment La Fére
was stationed in garrison, was not undisturbed by the Revolu-
tion. In July, 1789, the alarm-bell had sounded here also, the
toll-gates had been broken down, the office of the tax-collector
destroyed. A detachment of cannoniers, appointed to re-
establish order, refused obedience to commands and stood with
their weapons passive spectators of the disturbance. Their
captain, who attempted to arrest one of the ringleaders, was
pursued by the mob and barely escaped with his life. Not until
some companies of the city’s National Guard began to quell
the tumult would the troops give the least assistance. Whether
the young Lieutenant Bonaparte participated in this affair is
unknown, nor can we gain any knowledge as to his attitude in
these days, interesting as any information on this subject would
be. We know only that after his return from Ajaccio he was
more than ever friendly to the idea of a radical change in the
government. In his diary we find under date of October 23d,
1788, the outline of a “Dissertation sur I’Autorité Royale.”
“This work,” it reads, “will begin with setting forth general
ideas upon the origin and growth of the name of king in the
mind of man. Military government is favourable to it. This
work will enter next into the details of usurped authority en-
joyed by the monarchs of the twelve kingdoms of Europe.
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There are but very few kings who have not deserved dethrone-
ment.” Tolerably advanced ideas for a lieutanant in the royal
army at the age of twenty!

Still his mind remains fixed upon Corsica. He revises his
“ Lettres sur I'Histoire de la Corse” and purposes dedicating
them to the banished Paoli. In a letter of June, 1789, in which
he attempts to approach his hero, he manifests most unmis-
takably his hatred toward the French oppressors. Presently
a single idea seizes possession of his mind—to take advantage
of the Revolution to obtain power and influence in his native
land, and to acquire at the same time with his own independence
that of his people. This is no longer the hour for written words.
The “Lettres sur "Histoire de la Corse,” which Paoli declined
to have dedicated to himself, remain unprinted. Their author
is seeking for himself a place in the history of his country.

Since their conquest by the French, the Corsicans had been
divided into two parties—the partisans of the foreigner, who
had reconciled themselves with the new order of things and
turned the same to their own advantage, and the Nationalists,
who submitted with the greatest reluctance to the yoke of the
new supremacy. To the former faction, the Conservatives,
belonged the inferior nobility and the clergy with its blind
following, as did also a part of the residents of the seaport towns;
indeed those who lived along the coast and were thus at the
mercy of every passing frigate speedily learned submission to
the will of a foreign power, while the mountaineers of the in-
terior, not unlike their neighbours, the Montenegrins, preserved
more readily their free and independent spirit.

The Nationalists were themselves cleft into two divisions,
of which one hoped to secure civil liberty by making common
cause with the revolutionists in France, while the other wished to
have nothing to do with them or Wlth any compact in which
they were concerned.

The Conservatives elected to the States General the official
candidates, General Buttafuoco and the Abbé Peretti. The
Na‘uonahsts chose Salicetti and Colonna di Cesare Rocea,
members of the opposition. The latter succeeded in maklng
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the wishes of their constituents prevail in the National Assembly:
the Commission of Nobles, who acted as advisory board to
the governor of the island, was to give place to an elective
Council of Administration, and a paid native militia was to be
maintained.

While the idea of a native administrative body originated
in the ambition of a group of young Corsicans, Pozzo di Borgo,
Peraldi, Cuneo, and others, who were already dreaming of them-
selves as Regents, the creation of a militia was the suggestion
of Lieutenant Bonaparte in Auxonne, who was kept informed
by his uncle Fesch as to all events on the island, and whose
family after the death of Marbeeuf had joined the opposition.
He, too, aspired to the highest office at home, but his ambition
did not rely upon elections and debates and fickle public senti-
ment. Even now the bayonet was to him the surest means
of acquiring power. He felt that his military education would
assure him a high command in the Corsican militia and that he,
once in possession of such a command ... But such projects
demand one’s presence on the scene of action. Accordingly
he again obtains a somewhat extended leave of absence and the
month of September, 1789, finds him back in Ajaccio.

Difficulties present themselves at once upon his arrival.
The Conservative deputy Buttafuoco had prevailed upon the
royal government to defer the carrying out of the changes
demanded by the opposition. For the present there was no
hope of a popular council or a paid militia.

But the time has come in which the opposition resorts to
violence. Napoleon, also, has not passed through the expe-
rience of this revolutionary summer without result. He has
seen the National Guard form in French cities and recognized
the magic of the cockade; he now utilizes his observations and
displays a feverish zeal in making preparations for carrying out
his aims. He plans to wrest the power from the hands of the
reactionary authorities, to organize a National Guard, to seize
the Bastille of Ajaccio and drive the French from the island.
The patriotic club of the city, to which he confides his purposes,
is full of the wildest enthusiasm in favour of them.
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And in faet a National Guard was formed, and the revolu-
tion, under the leadership of the young lieutenant in the royal
army, started under most favourable auspices. One of his
biographers tells us that “in Ajaccio he moved, he electrified
everything with his indefatigable activity.”” But at this point
Napoleon’s plans were interfered with by the reinforcement of
the French garrison, the suppression of the club, and the dis-
banding of the National Guard; the leaders of the revolution
had to content themselves with addressing a protest, drawn up
by Napoleon, to the National Assembly at Paris begging its pro-
tection to their liberties. (Last of October, 1789.)

Meanwhile, in imitation of Ajaccio, other towns had revolted,
and in some instances, as in Bastia and Isola Rossa, remained
victorious. Upon the advice of Buttafuoco the government
determined to quell the insurrection by levying for that purpose
a large detachment of troops, and orders therefor had already
been issued, when the National Assembly, at the instigation of
Salicetti, raised Corsica, hitherto considered merely as con-
quered territory, to the dignity of a French province enjoying
all the rights and immunities to which others were entitled.

No regard was paid to the treaty of 1768 by which Genoa
had surrendered the island to France ‘““as security.” An am-
nesty made it possible for Paoli and his companions in exile to
return to Corsica. The government at Paris was forced to
abstain from carrying out the harsh measures intended, and the
radicals of the island recovered complete liberty of action. In
Ajaccio the club resumed its sessions in the summer of 1790,
the National Guard was drilled under Napoleon’s directions,
and a new municipal council was elected wherein Joseph Bona-
parte at last found employment.

What was more natural than to resume the plans inter-
rupted the year before? Nothing but the watchfulness of the
-garrison which occupied the citadel prevented Napoleon from
carrying out his plan of seizing the stronghold; to his proposal
of laying a regular siege the club would not consent. The hated
French remained in possession.

Shortly afterwards Paoli returned. Thousands assembled
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to do him honour and greeted him with ecstasy and transports
of joy. Deputations from all cities met him. The former
dictator, the glorious chief, whom the recollections of the struggle
for independence and the martyrdom of exile surrounded with
a sublime halo, was the object of unmixed veneration. When,
in accordance with the new constitution of France, the election
of public officers took place in each of the departments in Sep-
tember, 1790, Paoli was unanimously chosen president of the
Council of Administration. All who had political aspirations
gathered around him. Napoleon was among these, always con-
fident that the paid militia, to the command of which he so
ardently longed to be appointed, was about to become a reality.
This would have enabled him to resign his commission in the
royal army which was such a burden to him and withheld him
from the real scene of his ambition. At the side of Paoli, who
was not a trained soldier, he would have played a distinguished
part—and Paoli was already an old man. Vain hopes! The
ministry refused to arm the Corsican people at the expense of
France, and Bonaparte at last was obliged in February, 1791,
to rejoin his regiment.

Meanwhile the emigration of the royalists had deprived
the regiment of La IFére of many of its officers, and it was owing
to this circumstance that Napoleon was not called to account
for being deficient in his sense of duty and in diseipline, but was
even promoted, June 1st, 1791, to the position of first lieutenant
in the fourth regiment of artillery at Valence.

The country was enjoying then an apparent calm, and he
was able to resume his manner of life such as it had been two
years earlier, except that he now shared his modest lodging and
meagre pay with his younger brother Louis, the future king of
Holland. When, twenty years later, Louis created difficulties
for the Emperor of the French by arbitrarily resigning his crown,
Napoleon alluded in conversation with Caulaincourt to these
bygone days. “What!” exclaimed he, ‘“my brother injure instead
of helping me! This Louis whom I brought up on my pay of
a lieutenant, at the price of Heaven knows what privations! I
found means of sending money to pay the board and lodging of
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my younger brother. Do you know how I managed it? It
was by never setting foot inside a café or appearing in the social
world; it was by eating dry bread and brushing my clothes
myself so that they should remain the longer presentable.
In order not to be conspicuous among my comrades I lived
like a bear, always alone in my little room with my books—
then my only friends. And those books! By what strict econ-
omies, practised on actual necessities, did I purchase the enjoy-
ment of possessing them! When, by dint of abstinence, I had
at length amassed the sum of twelve livres, I turned my steps
with the joy of a child toward the shop of a bookseller who lived
near to the bishop’s palace. I often went to visit his shelves
with the sin of envy within me; I coveted long before my purse
allowed of buying. Such were the joys and dissipations of my
youth.”

But frequently his small income could not be brought to cover
his expenses. Debts had to be contracted, modest to be sure,
but nevertheless oppressive with the hopelessness of increasing
his resources.

Presently he resumed his literary projects. His ““Discours
sur le Bonheur,” presented to the Academy of Lyons in the
hope of its being awarded the prize of twelve hundred francs,
brought nothing but disappointment to its author. His literary
reveries were resumed and resulted in the above-mentioned
“Dialogue sur ’Amour.” Besides this he wrote “Réflexions
sur VEtat Naturel,” in which he combated Rousseau’s hy-
potheses and gave evidence of being a keen observer of human
affairs.

All at once the speculative solitude of the young officer is
interrupted by the noise of unprecedented excitement which
prevails throughout all France.

During the first months of 1791 the fundamental provisions
of the new Constitution of France had been formulated, and
they needed but the royal sanction to become law. But since
this Constitution reduced the royal authority almost to insig-
nificance, and the radical laws concerning the church wounded
the religious conscience of the king, Louis XVI. decided to flee
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from Paris and seek in some foreign land safety and defence
for his person and kingly dignity.

The plan failed; the king and his escort were stopped on
the way and brought back to Paris.

A storm of indignation swept the country against the king
and against those who had persuaded him to abandon his people.
The National Assembly suspended the royal authority, and
in all the towns of France the clubs, the militia, and the troops
of the line swore unswerving fidelity to the decrees of the Par-
liament and to the new Constitution. With difficulty only
could the more moderate, the “Feuillants,” restrain the radical
“Jacobins.” Only when the king had accepted the Constitution
was order in some slight degree restored.

At this time First Lieutenant Bonaparte subseribed to the
following oath:

“I swear to use the arms delivered into my hands in the
defence of my country, and to support against all enemies,
whether from within or from without, the Constitution decreed
by the National Assembly, to perish rather than suffer the
invasion of French territory by foreign troops, and to obey only
such orders as are given in accordance with the decrees of the

National Assembly. BUONAPARTE
NAPARTE,

Officer in the 4th Regiment of Artillery.
Valence, the 6th of July, 1791.”

Napoleon was taking an active part in the political clubs. He
was secretary of the “ Amis de la Constitution” of Valence, who
were affiliated with the Jacobins in Paris, and in that capacily
he composed an address to the National Assembly in which its
acts were approved by the members of the club.

On the occasion of a patriotic banquet he offered a toast in
honour of the radicals. But it would be an error to regard these
acts as evidence of the patriotic enthusiasm with which at that
time all Frenchmen were carried away and which raised toa
new significance the word ““ Nation.”

In the midst of all this Napoleon remained a Corsican, and
only a Corsican, and held firmly to the plans which linked his
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destiny with that of his native land. These projects were soon
to assume more solid form.

In the session of July 22d, 1791, the National Assembly
determined to create battalions of paid volunteers, the force
to include something over one hundred thousand men. The
department of Corsica was to furnish four such battalions.

Hardly had the news reached Napoleon when it became an
impossibility for him to remain longer at Valence. The long
and ardently desired opportunity to play a military part in his
native island had presented itself. Before the end of September
he was again on furlough in Ajaccio. What mattered it to him
that France was on the eve of war? He was equally uncon-
cerned that his leave of absence would terminate on the Ist of
January, 1792. He sought later to exculpate himself on the
ground of “unforeseen circumstances,” and of “the dearest and
most sacred duties to be fulfilled.” “In these difficult cir-
cumstances,” he writes to Sucy, the Commissary of War, “the
post of honour of a good Corsican is in his own country.” That
he was at the same time a French officer, educated at the ex-
pense of the king, and that he had just sworn to defend France,
counted for nothing with him. He succeeded in getting his
name struck off from the army list, the act taking effect January
1st, 1792, and more zealously than ever endeavoured to obtain
the position of lieutenant-colonel in the volunteer battalion
of Ajaccio, which appointment lay with the vote of the troops.

For years he had ingratiated himself with the mountaineers
who now voted for him, and this resulted in giving him a majority
above his rival. Meanwhile, until the election should be over,
Napoleon took the precaution to seize and detain in his own
house one of the commissioners of the election who was hostile
to him. With an insignificant man chosen as first lieutenant-
colonel, Bonaparte became virtual commander of the battalion
from his native city. This was his first coup d’état. Again
his eyes turned toward the citadel, still the residence of French
officers and soldiers. Now, at the head of a band of devoted
men, the blow could not fail. Nothing was needed but to await
a favourable opportunity. '
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There was in Ajaccio, as in other Corsican cities, a consider-
able number of ardently pious Catholics to whose religious
feeling the new laws governing the church seemed no less iniqui-
tous than to the King of France. It was no difficult matter
for the numerous priests of the island to strengthen this element
in its hatred toward the new order of things and its advocates.
It was no wonder that there were many bitter enemies of the
Jacobin Club, which was in close touch with the clubs of Toulon
and Marseilles. Napoleon was particularly detested, not only
as having attached himself at home, as in Valence, to the radical
party, but as having, with the collaboration of his uncle Fesch,
published a pamphlet dealing with the question of the oath
required of priests.

Even as far back as in July, 1790, there had been tumults in
which were heard such cries as “Vive la Révolution! Death to
Jacobins, death to the officer!”

Once the frenzied mob had hurled itself upon him, and his
rescue from its hands was due alone to the intervention of a
friendly bandit. This feeling had not modified since that time,
and the church laws were accorded but slight respect. Napo-
leon now made use of this circumstance.

“In order to secure respect for the decrees of the National
Assembly,” he took possession with his volunteers of the con-
vent of the Capuchins in the city. He calculated that in the
conflict which must ensue with the friars, the moderate sup-
porters of the Constitution among the civil authorities would
be obliged to take their stand on his side, which would afford
him the desired influence against which the gates of the citadel
could not remain closed. Having gained an entrance, his plan
was to fraternize with the French soldiers, compel the officers
to decamp and make himself master of the city. As he had
anticipated, during Easter week, 1792, a furious brawl arose
in the streets and Napoleon hastened to occupy the most im-
portant points throughout the city. He had already erected
a mighty barricade facing the gate of the citadel, in preparation
for a contest with the garrison, when commissioners of the gov-
crnment, sent by Paoli. appearcd and demanded a cessation of
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hostilities, and delivered to Bonaparte the censure of the
governor for instigating the disorder, and the order to leave
Ajaccio at once with his forces for the interior of the island.
The occurrence was further reported to the Minister of War,
and only the turmoil of the time prevented the trial by court-
wartial of the officer guilty of such misdemeanours.

Again all seemed lost. Hated at home by a large number
of his countrymen and regarded with just suspicion by the
authorities, with charges filed against him in France, and with-
out a position in the regular army, to what could he look forward
when the brief one year’s term of service of the volunteers
came to an end?

Nothing but decisive measures taken at the right place
could help in this quandary. With the consent of the govern-
ment Napoleon betook himself to Paris.

He found the capital a prey to the most violent agitation.
The truce between Crown and Revolution had been of short
duration. Louis XVI. had incurred anew the resentment of
the progressive parties by denying his sanction to the decrees
of the legislative assembly against the priests who refused to
take oath to support the new church laws, and against the emi-
grant princes and aristocrats, whose assembling in arms on the
frontiers was to be punished by confiscation of their property.
The Jacobin clubs already openly declared themselves in favour
of a republic.

Besides, there could be no longer any doubt concerning the
relations between the Court and foreign countries, and the
opposition was persuaded that a successful war against foreign
powers would be at the same time a triumph over the French
monarchy. Accordingly the republicans of the Assembly
agreed to foster a war against foreign princes, overthrew the
ministry desirous of peace, and compelled the king to declare
war against Austria, a court to which he was personally related.
(April 20th, 1792.)

The result was, however, at first disappointing. An attack
upon the Austrian Netherlands was easily repulsed and the
defeat of the French troops created prodigious excitement in
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Paris. ‘“Treason,” was the cry on all sides. The king was
regarded as personally responsible and a conspirator against his
own people, a suspicion which was strengthened by the fact that
just at this time, June 13th, 1792, Louis dismissed the radical
ministry and surrounded himself with advisers chosen from
among the moderate royalists.

The leaders of the radical parties profited by this feeling in
playing the animosity of the anarchistic elements of the capital
against the Crown. On the 20th of June a great crowd con-
sisting mainly of an armed rabble streamed into the Tuileries to
compel the sanction of the two decrees. Nothing but the calm,
dignified manner of the king averted an attempt upon his life.
But on August 10th, at the instigation of the Jacobins, the
populace returned to the charge. Bands of pikemen, workmen
from the suburbs of St. Antoine and St. Marcel, and all manner
of riffraff besieged the roval palace and forced Louis XVI. to
seek protection in the National Assembly. But here his dignity
as sovereign was declared forfeited and the monarchy sus-
pended. With him fell likewise the conservative ministry,
giving place to a government consisting of republican Girond-
ists.

This change in the course of the revolution was to Bona-
parte of the greatest importance. Without means of sub-
sistence, in disrepute at home, he had come to the capital to
solicit readmission into the army. He was not entirely without
patrons, but they were powerless in dealing with the June
ministry, which was perfectly informed as to the recent occur-
rences in Corsica. It was not long before he was unable to
secure the necessaries of life. He chanced to meet Fauvelet de
Bourrienne, a former schoolfellow at Brienne, whom he tried
to induce to enter with him into a scheme for subletting apart-
ments, but nothing eventually came of the plan as Bourrienne
just then received an appointment at the Legation.in Stuttgart.
Napoleon’s embarrassment increased so that he was at length
obliged for a time to part with his watch. Those were hard,
distressing days. The only possible chance of help lay in the
downfall of the refractory Minister of War who had shown him-
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self so obdurate in regard to Bonaparte’s application. For
this reason was the 10th of August a day of great significance
to Napoleon. Whether it was a fact, as has been asserted, that
he helped to keep up the agitation by harangues in wine-shops
is unknown. His own account of what took place, given at a
somewhat later time, would not indicate that such had been
the case: “I felt, on the 10th of August, that, had I been called
upon to do so, I should have defended the king. I was opposed
to those who would establish the Republic by means of the
populace; besides I saw civilians attacking men in uniform,
that gave me a shock.” No doubt that was his inmost feeling;
but it did not accord with his personal interests of that time.
These demanded victory to the despised rabble, and that vie-
tory was welcome to him.

At any rate Napoleon’s circumstances now improved of a
sudden. To the new radical ministry the machinations of the
young officer seemed nothing extremely blameworthy; he
was again received into favour, and more, he was appointed
captain in his regiment, the commission being dated February 6th,
1792, that is, on the day when his promotion would have oc-
curred if he had not quitted the army. Indeed, in consequence
of the flight of aristocrats, advancement of officers was at this
time unusually rapid. It will be supposed that Napoleon
now went to rejoin his regiment at the front, to fulfil the duties
for which ae was at least receiving payment. Not at all. The
fate of France did not interest him in the least. The horizon
of ais thoughts and efforts was still bounded by the coast-line
of his native island. To regain there his lost repute was to him
a higher aim than honours and triumphs in the service of those
principles for which at that time thousands of Frenchmen
joyfully met death. Had accident not furnished a pretext
for his return to Corsica he would nevertheless have found some
means of accomplishing that purpose. But it so happened that,
the new ministry closed the boarding-schools for young gentle-
women and sent the pupils back to their homes. Among thesc
young ladies was Napoleon’s sister, Marianne Bonaparte. Who
could wish to hinder a brother from accompanying his sister in
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times such as these with the entire country in a state of agita-
tion? By the middle of September they were both again in
Ajaccio. Napoleon remained there into the summer of 1793.

This period of nine months was decisive for his career, and
likewise for the fate of the world. At once upon his arrival
Napoleon had several violent altercations with Paoli, owingto
the fact that Napoleon resumed his command of the volunteer
forees just as if nothing had meanwhile occurred and he were
not a captain in the regular army. The young officer was,
indeed, in so far successful in what he desired as to be granted
the command of the troops provisionally and for the time during
which they were engaged in an (unsuccessful) expedition against
the island of Sardinia. But the relations between him and the
aged governor grew more and more strained in the course of
the next few months, to end eventually in complete rupture.
The cause lay to a large extent in the general situation of affairs.
Paoli had returned from England with a strong predilection
for constitutional monarchy and had approved the French
Constitution and agreed to serve under it only because it was
in accordance with that condition of affairs which he had learned
to admire on British soil. But this Constitution had been
shattered in its most essential provisions, the new National
Convention had abolished royalty, the king had been deposed,
accused of treason, tried, and put to death, January 21st, 1793,
The government was in the hands of extremists who could give
no assurance of stability. Futhermore, at the time of his return
t> Corsica, Paoli, moved by a sense of gratitude to those who
had received him so hospitably during his exile, had stipulated
that he should never be called upon to bear arms against Eng-
land. Now, after the execution of Louis XVI., war had broken
out with England, and Paoli was a French general. He refused
to comply with the order to leave Corsica and attach himself
to the Army of the South, and when, in reply to this resistance
to command, the Convention, on April 2d, 1793, issued a warrant
for his arrest (Jater withdrawn as having been the result of
misapprehension), nine tenths of the Corsican” population of
the island declared themselves for their aged chieftain and
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against the republican government and its adherents upon the
island.

Among the latter figured Napoleon Bonaparte. It was the
critical moment of his life; two courses lay before him, and he
had to choose between them. Another had achieved what it
had been his dream to accomplish in Corsica, what he had striven
for. Should he attach himself to the Paolists it was certain that
there would be nothing but a subordinate part for him. On the
other hand, his duty as an officer of the French army imperatively
demanded his presence with his regiment. Moreover, all the
political opinions which he had entertained up to this time
drew him toward the Convention, where the Radicals were
continually gaining ground. If there were still a possibility
of his mastering Corsica, his ambition could be realized only with
the aid of France. Accordingly, early in May, 1793, he broke
openly with Paoli,—who had made one more effort to win over the
son of his friend Carlo,—and threw himself unreservedly into
the arms of the French who had for so long been the objects of his
bitter hatred.  Shortly afterwards a Corsican popular council
declared him an outlaw and the whole Bonaparte family in-
famous. It was with difficulty that Letitia escaped to Calvi
with her children; her house in Ajaccio was sacked and set
afire.

A final effort was made by Napoleon to conquer Ajaccio.
Relying upon the continued devotion of his battalion in the
militia, he planned an attack upon the city with the aid of
French expeditionary troops. But the enterprise miscarried.
On the 11th of June, 1793, he and his family left the island
and withdrew to Toulon. His brother Lucien had preceded
them by a few weeks, having hurried over to France with a
deputation of like-minded men, to denounce Paoli as a con-
spirator against the Republic, and at the same time to demand
support of the Jacobins. Napoleon had himself made accusa-
tions against the aged patriot in a memorial of the 4th of June,
and therein calumniated and insulted the ideal of his boyhood
and youth.

His role in Corsica has been played to the end. Two motives
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had guided him in his revolutionary undertakings there: a
strong local patriotism which almost ignored everything which
lay beyond the confines of the island, and an uncontrollable
impulse toward the acquisition of power and influence by the
aid of which he believed himself ecalled to be the deliverer and
ruler of his people. Of these two motives one had lost its
object. The curse of his own nation had deprived him of his
country and annihilated in him every tender feeling which he
had hitherto cherished toward it. In truth the desire to con-
quer the island was still active within him during the next two
years, and many were the schemes which he conceived to carry
out this purpose; but these were no longer due to patriotism,
but rather to hatred toward the patriots and to fulfil his eraving
for revenge. When later, in 1796, he actually brought Corsica
again under French dominion this feeling also had ceased to
exist and his native country could inspire no greater interest
in him than, for example, Corfu or Malta.

If sympathetic interest in the weal and woe of his own people
be a moral element in the nature of a man, Napoleon’s subsequent
life and acts were lacking in this characteristic. He ceased
of necessity to be a Corsican, he never succeeded in becoming
a Frenchman. His ambition, likewise, became divested of
national feeling; this ambition, hitherto circumscribed by the
coast-line of a small island, knew henceforth no bounds.



CHAPTER III

THE SIEGE OF TOULON AND THE DEFENCE OF THE
CONVENTION

Tue revolt of Corsica was but one of a long series of uprisings
in opposition to the rule of the Jacobins which had developed
in Paris after the execution of the king. The contest, carried on
over the grave of Louis XVI., between the two republican factions
of the Convention—the radicals of the Mountain, and the mod-
erate Girondists—ended in the defeat of the latter in the summer
of 1793. All among them who had not fled were imprisoned
and perished on the scaffold. The victors thenceforth governed
France by means of that body appointed by the Convention
and known as the Committee of Public Safety, the members of
which, led by Robespierre, relied upon the Jacobin Club and its
branches for support. This Jacobin government possessed one
quality lacking to its Girondist predecessor and indispensable
to success under the extraordinary conditions then existing:
unparalleled energy. The Girondists, the greater part of whom
were young orators, entirely unequal to the political issues (“des
fous extréemement honnétes”), had plunged France into an inter-
minable war with almost the whole of Europe, unprovided as the
country was with either information or resources necessary to
encounter the dangers they had conjured up. Their successors
in executive power assumed with this war a gigantic problem,
and they found its solution, though not without constant resort
to illegal measures, unsparing bloodshed, and cruelty. Com-
missioners of the Convention travelled throughout the country
overseeing the compulsory recruiting among the people and
supporting, “in the name of the Representatives of the People,”
the courts-martial and revolutionary tribunals appointed to

38
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punish the refractory and to judge the suspicious. And since
those now in power owed their advancement solely to absolute
subservience to the will of the lowest class and could preserve
their authority only by further concessions to it, there arose in
the capital, as in the cities of the provinces, a tyranny of the
common people which, not content with threatening and perse-
cuting holders of moderate political opinions, eventually accused
as “traitors to their country” all wealthy and educated people.

Such a Reign of Terror could not long remain unopposed.
It was not only in those parts of the country where the partisans
of the king and of the old faith had taken up arms against the
Parisians that the opposition manifested itself, as in Vendée
and Brittany, but also among those who had originally and
enthusiastically promoted the revolutionary movement. Such
was the case particularly in the towns of southern France, which
had zealously taken part in the contest against the old régime,
but which now, incited by fugitive Girondists, rose up against
radicalism carried to the point of anarchy.

In Lyons, Marseilles, and Toulon the Jacobins were overcome
by the more moderate and peace-loving element in the commu-
nity, and in Provence there arose a central committee which
constituted itself an independent government and decreed armed
resistance to the terrorism of the Committee of Public Safety.
Battalions of insurgents had already advanced from the south as
far as Avignon, when the Convention, which by the exercise of
a little moderation could have easily restored order without
bloodshed, eagerly accepted the challenge, proclaimed as the
primary object of the government the complete extermination
of all domestic opponents and directed its Commissioner, Dubois
de Crancé, to subjugate Lyons and prevent the concentration
of the forces of the insurgents. Dubois hurriedly collected a
corps of men from troops of the line and volunteers and sent it
under command of his subordinate Carteaux against the rebels
at Avignon. In the middle of July, 1793, this force encamped
before the ancient residence of the popes.

Here aid was forthcoming to Carteaux. He was, to be sure,
reinforced only to the extent of a single petty officer of artillery,
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but yet a man who was to render no slight service in the expedi-
tion against the cities of the south: Captain Bonaparte.

After his flight from Corsica, Napoleon had established his
family in needy circumstances at La Vallette near Toulon and
gone to rejoin his company, stationed at that time in Nice, which
had been recently conquered. He bore a certificate from his
fellow countryman and friend, Salicetti, Commissioner of the
Convention, to the effect that his presence in Corsica had been
imperatively necessary during the last few months, and this
attestation shielded him from censure. On the 25th of June,
1793, he began his service in the shore battery established on the
Riviera. The defences at Nice being inadequate, Napoleon
was ordered to Avignon to bring back the cannon parked there.
Here he came upon the before-mentioned corps commanded by
Carteaux, who straightway took him into his own service, and
assigned to him, as officer of artillery, a small flying column.
Soon afterwards the insurgents and the troops of the Convention
disputed in battle the possession of Avignon, and the forces under
Carteaux were successful. Napo'eon is said to have aimed the
cannon himself in this engagement, and to have brought about
the flight of the enemy through his personal efforts. The former
statement is not improbably true, the latter is supported only by
the assertions of sycophants of a later day. As the result of this
victory, the neighbouring towns of Tarascon, Cavaillon, and
Beaucaire had to be abandoned forthwith by the insurgents,
and the way to Marseilles lay open to the troops of the govern-
ment. Napoleon was despatched back to Avignon to organize
an artillery park. The leisure afforded him by this task he
utilized in writing “Le Souper de Beaucaire,” in which he dis-
cussed the question of the civil war, the object being to convince
the Marseillais of the futility of their resistance to the Convention.
Two merchants of Marseilles, a native of Nimes, a manufacturer
from Montpellier, and a soldier of the line accidentally meet one
evening at an inn in Beaucaire, and the soldier, aided by the
travellers from Nimes and Montpellier, attempts to prove to one
of the merchants from Marseilles that from a military point of
view the position of that city is untenable and that its political
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stand is to be condemned. One passage, particularly, is interest-
ing historically, in which, the citizen of Marseilles having adduced
the Girondists as testimony in behalf of his views, the soldier,
who voices the personal opinions of Napoleon, replies: “The
case, as I am satisfled, is, that ‘the Mountain,” actuated by public
or by party spirit, having proceeded to the harshest extremities
against them, having outlawed, imprisoned, and, I will admit, ca-~
lumniated them, the Brissotins (Girondists) were lost without a
civil war which would put them into a position for laying down
the law to their enemies. It is then in reality to them that your
war is useful. Had they merited their early reputation they
would have thrown down their arms upon the formulation of the
Constitution, they would have sacrificed their own interests to
public welfare; but it is easier to cite Decius than to imitate
him.” To this the traveller from Marseilles makes answer that
he and his friends also desired the Republic, but wanted a Con-
stitution formulated by representatives who were free to act;
they also desired liberty, but liberty as granted by worthy
deputies; what they did not want was a Constitution favouring
pillage and anarchy. To this Napoleon makes reply through
the manufacturer from Montpellier, who reproaches the insur-
gents with rebellion and counter-revolution, “for,” he declares,
“the Convention is the centre of unity, the real sovereign, espe-
cially when the nation is divided.”

Hardly was this piece finished when the Commissioners of
the Convention arrived in Avignon. These were his friend
Salicetti, the younger Robespierre, brother of the autocrat at
Paris, and the deputy Gasparin; they were on their way to the
Army of the South. Napoleon was introduced to the others by
Salicetti, and his penetration and culture charmed Robespierre,
with whom he from this time entered into near relations. The
“Souper” was listened to with attention and satisfaction by the
Commissioners, who at once published it at the expense of the
state. In this wise Napoleon made his entrance into the political
movement.

Meanwhile Carteaux had marched upon Marseilles and,
after a victorious engagement, retaken the city for the Con-
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vention. The “treason” of the inhabitants toward their country
was punished with frightful barbarity. After a short interval
the march was resumed toward Toulon. The conquest of
this port was the more essential as the Insurgents there had
opened negotiations with England and had actually already
delivered into her hands the fleet which lay before the town
and was the best in France. In the siege laid to this strong-
hold Napoleon was now to play a distinguished part. During
an engagement in the neighbourhood of Toulon, one of the
superior officers in the artillery had been wounded, and on the
19th of October, 1793, Napoleon was promoted to the command
of a battalion in the Second Regiment of Artillery; from this
time he was able to act with greater independence. To add
to this his new friends had made every effort to recommend him
to the Convention, representing him as the only man in the
besieging army capable of projecting a plan of operations. He
himself had addressed a memorial to the Committee of Public
Safety in which he complained of the neglected condition of
his branch of the service, and asked for the appointment of an
artillery general with full powers, ‘“who, by virtue of his very
rank, would increase respect and make an impression upon 2
lot of ignorant fellows on the staff with whom one has to be
continually laying down first principles and coming to terms
in order to carry out plans approved both by theory and by
experience.”

Carteaux was soon aftérward removed from his position and
the chief command given Major-General Dugommier, whose
coolness, perseverance, and military perception Napoleon com-
mends; General Duteil was entrusted with the command of
the artillery, while Napoleon himself was put in charge of the
battery established to the west of the city. He proposes now—
this is the plan which he submitted to the Council of War—
to capture the peninsula of Cépet lying to the southwest,
from this point to clear the harbour, and by this roundabout way
to bring the city to surrender. His plan having been adopted
by the generals, he at once set about the task with the greatest
zeal. It was not long before his guns were placed in the desired
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locations; a sally on the part of the English was repulsed on
the 30th of November, and for his fine conduct on this ocecasion
Bonaparte was appointed colonel. On the 17th of December
Fort I'Eguillette, and with it the before-mentioned peninsular
fell into his power. When this gain was followed up by a con-
centric attack of all the divisions upon the defences of the city,
the besieged Toulonese, menaced with certain destruction by
Napoleon’s batteries, dared make no further energetic resist-
ance. The English and Spaniards, allies of the insurgents,
promptly embarked their troops and sailed out of the harbour,
taking with them many fugitive inhabitants of the city. On
the 19th of December the victors made their entrance into
Toulon, and, in mad rage for vengeance, as at Marseilles and
Lyons, relentlessly condemned all who were under suspicion
or who were in any way compromised. Hundreds of such were
assembled together and shot down. It was the intention of
Fréron, one of the Commissioners of the Convention, to leave
not a single rebel alive, but this was opposed by Dugommier,
and one readily accepts the statement that Bonaparte alse
" counselled moderation. He was not inclined to the exercise of
useless cruelty, and was animated in no degree by that spirit
of bloody fanaticism to which in that awful year such innumer-
able victims were sacrificed.

While the part played by Bonaparte before Toulon was one
of great importance, he occupied but an inconspicuous position;
he was nothing more than commander of a battalion. He had
none the less rendered great service to the government through
the strategy which he advised. An attack from the north and
east would not have led to such prompt results, and upon this
point much depended just at this time when the allied foes of
France were beginning to turn the closest attention to Toulon,
when already the English had despatched an expedition, pri-
marily intended for Vendée, toward southern France, and the
Austrian court had determined to send forces thither. Accord-
ingly it was but a well-earned acknowledgment of his services
when Napoleon was now appointed brigadier-general of artillery
by a provisional decree of the Commissioners of the Conven-
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tion on the 22d of December, 1793, a nomination afterwards
confirmed by the Committee of Public Safety.

When on this oceasion the authorities demanded the neces-
sary record of his life he disclaimed all nobility of origin. It
could but have told against him with the Jacobins, to whom he
had allied himself, and in whose service he was employing his great
talents. Whether he was really in sympathy with them, whether
he inwardly espoused their cause, or whether it was due to
anything more than ambition that he cast in his lot with the
Radicals, is not made clear by this act. Once,—shortly after
his appointment as general,—unmindful of the prevailing radi-
calism and on purely strategic grounds, he recommended the
rebuilding of the Marseilles Bastille, Fort St. Nicholas. He
was at once declared “suspect,” and called upon to justify him-
self before the Convention. Salicetti had much difficulty in
disposing of the matter. From that time Napoleon lost no
opportunity of showing himself a zealous republican.  Says
Mlle. Robespierre in her memoranda: ‘Bonaparte was a repub-
lican, I should say even that he was a republican of the Moun-
tain, at least he made that impression upon me from his manner
of regarding things at the time when I was at Nice (1794). Later
his victories turned his head and made him aspire to rule over his
fellow citizens, but then, while he was but a general of artillery in
the Army of Italy, he was a believer in thoroughgoing liberty and
genuine equality.” The younger brother of the dread Presi-
dent of the Committee of Public Safety recommended him in
April, 1794, as a man of transcendent merit, and reposed such
confidence in him that the initiated called him the “privy
counsellor” of the Commissioner. Yet the latter did not fail
to add to his praise this observation: “He is a Corsican, and
offers only the guaranty of a man of that nation who has with-
stood the petting of Paoli and whose property has been laid
waste by that traitor.”

But Robespierre had absolute confidence in Napoleon’s
military counsels and discussed with him and Ricord, the Com-
missioner, a secret plan of operations for the so-called “Army
of Italy.” That portion of the French forces was encamped
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on the Riviera, engaged in war against the allied Sardinians
and Austrians, who occupied the heights of the Apennines. The
revolt in southern France had exhausted the land,and the Army
of Italy was compelled to draw its supplies from the neutral
territory of Genoa. Two problems presented themselves in
the management of this part of the army: first, to protect these
indispensable importations against interception and attack by
the allies, and, second, by some fortunate offensive movement
to clear the way into the rich plain of Piedmont. This plan of
offensive operations was elaborated in several ways by Bona-
parte, who had been detailed as general of artillery to the Army
of Ttaly in May, 1794. In July he himself went on a mission to
Genoa, officially to treat with the Doge on the subject of the
condition of roads and coasts, but secretly to investigate the
fortifications of Savona as a possible gateway of invasion.
Two aides, Marmont and Junot,—the subsequent Dukes of
Ragusa and Abrantés,—accompanied him; he was himself
filled with joyful hope of being able soon to carry his plans into
execution as General-in-chief.

But too soon these high-soaring dreams were to come to
naught. When, at the end of July, he returned to Nice, affairs
in France had taken a complete change. Robespierre, who
had gradually rid himself of his rivals in the Convention, Danton,
Hébert, and their adherents, and had been more and more
openly aiming to secure the dictatorship, was overthrown by a
coalition of the radical and conservative elements of the Con-
vention and condemned to the scaffold, July 27th, 1794 (Ther-
midor 9th). With him fell the government to which Napoleon
had but recently offered his services. His fate could not but
be affected by this change, particularly as the plan of cam-
paign upon which he had been labouring had been under dis-
cussion between him and Robespierre without the knowledge of
the Convention and the Committee of Public Safety. The Jaco-
bins, regardful of their own safety upon the fall of their powerful
leader, sought to protect themselves in the denunciation of
others. And thus it came to pass that Salicetti accused his
fellow countryman Bonaparte to the Convention of being



46 The Siege of Toulon (1704

“plan-maker”’ to the Dictator. Napoleon was deprived of his
commission as general, and on the 12th of August, 1794, im-
prisoned in Fort Carré.* What a tempest of distracting re-
flections must have assailed him here! In the midst of his
ambitious hopes he found himself paralyzed and suddenly cast
out of the way whereby so many had already arrived with
rapidity at power and influence. The reform in the organiza-
tion of the army, begun in 1793 under Dubois de Crancé, a
member of the Convention, with its principle of universal mili-
tary obligation and its revised list of officers, had already begun
to bear fruit. At the end of the year 1792 there had been not
more than a hundred and twelve thousand men of the regular
troops in France, by the summer of 1794 there were not less
than seven hundred and thirty thousand, animated by a fatal-
istic patriotism, controlled by rigorous discipline, and com-
manded by generals whose abilities, developed by equal com-
petition in the open field, were brought to recognition with
unexampled rapidity. At the head of the Army of the North
stands Pichegru, who had at one time superintended as sergeant
the little cadets at Brienne; he was now driving the enemy out
of France and conquering the Austrian Netherlands. Jourdan,
one of the volunteer officers of 1792, is in command of the Army
of the Sambre-et-Meuse, fighting victoriously against the
Austrians in the battle of Fleurus, June 26th, 1794, while the
decisive attack is led by General Marceau, a man of Napoleon’s
own age. Another, Hoche, his senior by a year, at the beginning
of the Revolution a mere subaltern, had, as general-in-chief,
vanquished the Austrians at Weissenburg and driven them out of
Alsace in December of the preceding year, thereby covering

* He may have anticipated this outcome, for he wrote a letter a few
days previous to his arrest to Tilly, the French Chargé d’Affaires at
Genoa, who would, as he knew, make report in Paris concerning it. In
this he speaks of his relations with the younger Robespierre and adds: “1
was somewhat affected by the catastrophe of Robespierrethe younger,
to whom I was attached and whom Ibelieved to be pure; but,had he
been my father, I would have stabbed him myself if he had aspired to
tyranny.””  Napoleon III. considered it advisable to omit this letter from
the official edition of the correspondence of his uncle.
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himself with fame and honour. Following these was a long
succession of others: Saint-Cyr, in 1792 still a captain of volun-
teers, was now general of division; Bernadotte, sergeant-
major at the opening of the Revolution, commanded in 1794
likewise a division: Kléber, a volunteer in the year 1792, had,
a year later, reached the same rank; and so on. And he, the
most ambitious of them all, fully conscious of his abilities and
qualifications, saw himself shut out of this circle, perhaps for-
ever, and, moreover, threatened by an accusation which had
already cost many their lives in that terrible year.

But he was not the man to give himself up to despair. One
thing already in his favour was that he had not been sent to
Paris. In a letter addressed to the Commissioners of the Con-
vention, he attempted above all to manifest his unqualified
patriotism. “Have I not,” it reads, “been attached to its
principles ever since the beginning of the Revolution? Have
I not been seen in the struggle here with the domestic enemy,
or there as a soldier against the foreign foe? I have sacrificed
my residence in my own department, I have abandoned my
property, I have lost all for the Republic. . . . Ought I then
to be confounded with the enemies of my country; and are
patriots heedlessly to lose a general who has not been unservice-
able to the Republic? Should Representatives put the govern-
ment under necessity of being unjust and impolitic? Hear me,
make way with the oppression which surrounds me, and restore
to me the esteem of the patriots. An hour later, if the evil-
minded desire my life, I will yield it to them gladly; I care so
little for it, and I have so often wearied of it. Yes, only the
ilea that it may still be of service to my country helps me to
bear the burden of it with courage.”

Necessity had taught him to use the word ‘““Patrie” in
speaking of France; his own country had become to him merely
a “Département.”

The letter produced the desired effect. Furthermore, Sali-
cetti had come to the conclusion that he was himself no longer
in danger and again took up the defence of his fellow countryman,
whose papers he examined personally and declared to be free
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from anything of a suspicious character. On the 20th of August
Napoleon was released from custody. A few weeks later, on
the 14th of September, he was rehabilitated with his rank of
general, and in the same month was permitted to take part in
the offensive movement of the Army of Italy by means of which
the Austrians were driven back from the crest of the mountains
of the Riviera as far as Dego and Acqui. Upon the return of
the French to the coast Bonaparte was assigned the post of
commander of artillery in the expedition fitting out for the
reconguest of Corsica.

There the last remaining French strongholds had fallen
into the hands of the English: San Firenze on the 17th of
February, Bastia on the 24th of May, and finally Calvi, on the
1st of August. In the interior of the island the British had
established themselves somewhat earlier. Paoli was invited
by King George III. to come to England. Influenced by the
English, a popular meeting was held at Corte on the 18th of
June, 1794, in which the Corsicans declared their island a con-
stitutional monarchy under the protection of England and
-under Sir Gilbert Elliot as viceroy. Upon hearing of these
events the new Committee of Public Safety at Paris undertook
once more to wrest the department from the enemy. But
while the division of troops intended for this service stood ready
by the end of autumn, the wretched condition of the navy
delayed the expedition into the following February. Napoleon
in one of his letters represented the prospective conquest as a
mere military “promenade,” but the result was far from justify-
ing this assumption. When in March, 1795, the French fleet at
last set sail to clear the Corsican waters of English craft, an
encounter which took place between Cape Corso and Livorne
ended disastrously to the French. Two of their ships fell into
the hands of their adversary and the remainder were obliged to
retreat into the Gulf of Saint-Juan. After this rebuff the
expedition was abandoned; the troops already on board the
transports were disembarked and detailed to the Army of
Italy; Corsica was, for the present, lost.

Again Napoleon was without a command. Unexpectedly
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came the order to betake himself to the Army of the West.
On the 2d of May, 1795, he left Marseilles; on the 10th he
reached Paris. He had no intention of leaving that city for
some time.

After the events of the 27th of July, 1794 (Thermidor 9th), the
more calm and cautious clements of the population of Paris had
waked, as from a state of torpor, into life. As if with the death
of one man all terror had ended, they now fearlessly expressed
their opinions and set forth their demands. In newspapers
and pamphlets, no longer under any restraint of censorship,
and in all public resorts of the capital the abhorrence in which the
Jacobins were held came to unreserved expression. For the
first time the number of their victims began to be appreciated.
There were but few families who had not suffered under the
iron yoke; many among them had lost one or more members,
many had lost their property during the Terror. The opening
of the prisons brought day by day new horrors to light and
increased the indignation of those who had suffered injury.
In the Convention itself, where the factions of the ‘“Mountain'’
had formed an alliance to depose the Dictator Robespierre, one
of these, composed of the former adherents of Danton, with-
drew from the Jacobins. They styled themselves Thermidorians,
as they claimed the merit of having brought about the decisive
step of that day. Their leaders, Merlin and Tallien, Fréron and
Barras, sought to come into touch with the moderate element
of the Centre against the extreme Left. The banished Girond-
ists were recalled to the Convention, and the readiest tools
of the fallen government, after making a futile attempt at
resistance, expiated their offences on the scaffold.

Just at this time Napoleon arrived in Paris. Hardly a
favourable moment in which to make an appearance for a man
recently under accusation of being a sharer in the designs of
the abhorred tyrant. Very likely he had not pictured to him-
self so complete a change in the situation of affairs. For his
outward circumstances this was exceedingly unfavourable.
The mere order to betake himself to the Army of the West and
serve under Hoche, who was barely his elder, as simple brigadier-
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general, was intolerable to his boundless ambition. And this
in a war against peasants and irregular troops where little
opportunity would offer for his art to display itself! He was
determined not to obey the order, and sought above all to gain
time and await the outecome of a new move on the part of the
Jacobins, for he still belonged to that party. But this new
insurrection against the Convention, that of the Ist Prairial
(20th of May, 1795), ended in the defeat of the rebellious Jaco-
bins and increased the difficulty of Bonaparte’s situation. He
was transferred, as being a supernumerary in the artillery, to
the infantry, and received peremptory orders to depart for the
west. If he now hoped to maintain himself under the new
condition of things, he must cut loose from the radicals and
try to come into touch with the Thermidorians. He under-
took this feat and was successful in accomplishing it. At no
time did Fortune completely forsake him. It was certainly a
happy coincidence for him that two of the leaders of the party
now in power, Fréron and Barras, had, as Commissioners of the
Convention, been present at the council of war held before
Toulon, when the proposals of the young captain of artillery had
been accepted. To them, at least, the conduct of Bonaparte,
in serving a government they were themselves at that time
endeavouring to uphold, could not appear blameworthy. They
accordingly received him well and lent him their support.
Those plans which Napoleon now submitted to them were
essentially his projects of an offensive war which he had com-
municated a year before to Robespierre, but with certain altera-
tions imposed by the general political situation. Prussia had
retired from the list of the enemies of France and had concluded
a separate treaty of peace, April 5th, 1795. Negotiations had
already been entered into with Spain which were soon also to
lead to peace. There remained on the Continent but one of
the great powers as adversary, but Austria was making prepa-
rations to prosecute the war with all possible vigour. These
changes in the situation of affairs necessitated the modifica-
tion of the young general’s plan of campaign. The year before
it had been his proposal to have the Army of Italy take
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the offensive, co-operating with the troops in Germany, accord-
ing to which plan the weight of action would fall upon the last-
named country. “It is Germany,” said he in the memorial
addressed to Robespierre, “which should be overpowered; that
accomplished, Spain and Italy will fall of themselves. . . . The
defensive system should be adopted on the Spanish frontier,
and the offensive system on that of Piedmont. Our blows
should be directed against Germany, never against Spain or
Italy. If we have great success, we should not allow ourselves
to be thrown off the scent by penetrating into Italy while Ger-
many still presents a formidable and unweakened front.” *

Now that, through the withdrawal of Prussia, the power
of resistance on the German side had become weaker, he pro-
poses striking the decisive blow against the Austrians in Italy.
For this purpose the force of the Italian Army should be sub-
stantially increased, an achievement easily possible by drawing
for that purpose upon the troops set free by the peace with
Spain. The Riviera having been seized and secured as far as
Vado, the army thus reinforced would press forward along the
coast and across the mountains toward Piedmont, cutting off
the King of Sardinia, known to be already desirous of peace,
from Austria and winning him over to the cause of France.
Once in the plains the army could support itself by levying
requisitions. If the expedition were started at the most fa-
vourable time, in February, Mantua could be conquered before
the end of spring, and by the termination of this first campaign
the army could have reached Trent. In a second campaign,
united with the Army of the Rhine, it would penetrate into the
heart of Austria and dictate terms of peace.

Such was the daring plan which a year later he was to carry
into execution with amazing ability, laying thereby the founda-
tion of his fame and power. This plan was not entirely original.
For a great part of it he was indebted to the profound study
which he had made of military history, particularly of the cam-
paign in Italy conducted by Count de Maillebois in 1745. This
campaign had been the object of his conscientious study while

* Jung, ‘“ Bonaparte,”” II. 436.
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captain of artillery at Nice, as we are assured by a credible
witness.* . )
This plan was based upon his knowledge of a territory which
he had studied minutely during the last few years, and of an
adversary who was no stranger to him. And now he was called
upon to remove himself from both in order to play a secondary
part in Vendée, while perhaps another would be carrying out
these plans of his in Italy! He could not submit to such a fate.
Hardly had the conservative Aubry, who had been the occasion
of his transference to the infantry, retired from the Committee
of Public Safety, when he made bold, relying upon the pro-
tection of his friends, to make an energetic protest against such
an arrangement. He says in this document: ““General Bona-
parte relies upon the justice of the members of the Committee
of Public Safety to reinstate him into his former position, and
to spare him the pain, after having commanded the artillery
under the most unfavourable conditions during the war and
having contributed to its most brilliant successes, of seeing his
place occupied by men who have always kept in the rear, who
are absolute strangers to our successes, unknown in our armies,
and who have the impudence to present themselves to-day to
grasp from you the fruit of victory which they have not been
willing to incur risk in obtaining.” He was so much the more
confident of a favourable reply to this complaint as Aubry’s
successor, Douleet de Pontécoulant, had accepted his plan of
operations and had sent it to the generals commanding the
Ttalian Army for consideration. He was temporarily assigned
to serve on the committee having the duty of directing the
armies and plans of campaign, and was full of happy confidence.
The same hope that had been frustrated by the sudden down-
fall of Robespierre animated him once more. He writes at
* See the excellent article ““Sur la Campagne de Napoléon en I’Année
1796,” in the third supplement of the “‘ Militar-Wochenblatt,”” 1889, where
it is shown that the young general-in-chief followed the ‘‘Histoire des
Campagnes du Maréchal de Maillebois en 1745 et 1746,”” by Pezay (Paris,
1775), with regard to the ruling idea which was to separate the Piedmont-

ese from the Austrians, impose peace upon the former, and drive back
the latter as far as the Adige.
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this time: - “My offensive plans have been adopted; we shall
soon have serious action in Lombardy.” TUnder date of Sep-
tember 8th, 1795, he writes to Joseph: ‘I see nothing but
pleasant prospects before me, and, should it be otherwise, one
must nevertheless live in the present. A man of courage may
disregard the future.”

And “otherwise” it resulted, and his courage was soon put
to a new and severe test. It was his fate henceforward to cut
his way through ceaseless vicissitudes of good and evil fortune.
The end of Doulcet de Pontécoulant’s term of service on the
Committee of Public Safety arrived, in accordance with the
law of rotation in office, before the protest of the young general
had been acted upon. In him the suppliant lost his strongest
supporter. Nor was he without personal enemies, and when
the time for decision of his case arrived, his petition was rejected
by the officials of the War Department, and his name was again
stricken from the list of French generals on duty, on account of
his refusal to proceed to the post assigned him. (Decree of
September 15th, 1795.)

And now once more his brightest hopes had been dashed.
Without a position at a period whose uncertainties had already
been the ruin of thousands; without money, for, as Marmont
relates, “the small fund of bank-bills which he had brought
back from the army ”’ had been lost in unfortunate speculations;
without eredit in a financial crisis in which by the end of July,
1795, paper money had depreciated to one fortieth of its face
value, he was impotent to help his family again in need through
the changed political situation. He had been mistaken: one
cannot always “live in the present.”

And what made his situation appear the more gloomy was
the fact that a new and great danger was already imminent.
The royalists and the liberals of 89 and ’91 menaced the hated
Convention in which his friends sat. If they should be successful,
he and his friends were lost together.

The last revolts of the Jacobins had inclined the factlons of
the centre of the Convention, the Thermidorians and indepen-
dents,—to use a modern expression,—farther toward the right.
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The new Constitution, drafted during the summer of 1795, was
moderate In character and was to render a return to the cir-
cumstances of the last few years forever impossible. First of all,
the executive and legislative powers were no longer to be united
in the hands of the national representatives. The legislative
power was to be entrusted to two bodies instead of one: a
“Council of Five Hundred,” and a “Council of Ancients” (An-
ciens) numbering two hundred and fifty members; while the
executive authority was to be vested in a “Directory” of five
men who must be at least forty years of age. One third of the
members of each of these legislative councils was to retire an-
nually, their places to be filled by election. It did not come
within the domain of the executive body to propose bills, nor
could it refuse to execute laws passed by the legislature; one
of the Directors must retire yearly, and the outgoing member
was not eligible for re-election until five years had elapsed.
The Directors, to whom the ministers of departments were sub-
ordinated, were chosen by the Ancients from a list drawn up by
the Five Hundred. They were to have the charge of Foreign
Affairs, Finance, War, Justice, and Affairs of the Interior. The
Constitution accorded liberty of the press, of worship, of com-
merce, and of trade; it extended its protection to home and
property, but clubs were forbidden and political societies were
tolerated only on condition that no public meetings should be
held and that there should be no affiliation between them; no
petitions of the masses, no banding together of the people was
allowed; the Emigrés were forbidden to return home, and the
Jacobins were prohibited from reappearing at their club.

These were the distinctive features of the Constitution of the
year IIT (1795). It was as little in keeping with the desires of
the Jacobins as with those of the Royalists. The moderation
of the parties in power tended rather to convince the latter that
the hour for them to strike had come. Already there was talk
of restoring the monarchy and of proclaiming the son of the
decapitated king as constitutional sovereign under the name
of Louis XVII., when the child died, worn out by the inhuman
treatment to which he had been subjected during the preceding
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years. At once the partisans of the Bourbons turned to Louis
XVIIL., the emigrant brother of the former king, who from
Verona was flooding France with his unskilful agents.

The agitation was accompanied by outrages on the part of
the royalists in the provinces almost equal to the horrors of the
Reign of Terror. In Vendée the civil war, but just quenched by
Hoche, blazed up anew. In Paris itself the common people,
who were royalists, or at least of the moderate party, armed
themselves against the Convention. These events made a deep
impression upon that body; its republican elements, who
recognized that with the loss of control their very existence
was threatened, united and decreed that two thirds of the new
legislative body of Five Hundred must be composed of members
of the Convention, the remainder to be elected without restriction.
This transition decree as well as the Constitution was to be
submitted to the people of France for approval by vote. While
they thus secured for themselves a majority in the new con-
stitutional legislature these members of the Convention believed
also that they were assuring in the best way the new dispensa-
tion and preventing the return of the old monarchical govern-
ment. To protect themselves further against probable attack
from the Paris populace, the Thermidorians united once more
with the Jacobin deputies, gathered to the capital a few thousand
soldiers of the line and formed a “battalion of patriots” from
those brigand elements upon whose pikes the throne of Ter-
rorism had been erected.

This last precaution increased beyond measure the wrath
of the Parisians who were opposed to the Convention. The
Constitution they were ready to accept, it is true, but they
rejected the additional decree, and when, in spite of their re-
monstrance, the Convention promulgated, as law, the new
Constitution including the transition provisions, the citizens
from forty-four out of the forty-eight sections revolted,
assembled some thirty thousand men of the National Guard,
and on October 4th successfully resisted General Menou in
command of the troops of the Convention, who in consequence
of this defeat was charged with treason and removed. The
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situation of the legislature was distinetly critical. Barely six
to eight thousand men were available with which to confront
the militia of the National Guard, and absolutely no artillery.
The Convention declared itself a permanent body and appointed
from the Commissioners of Government a committee of five
who were empowered to maintain order. Barras was one of
these, and as he had formerly been an officer in the navy he
assumed charge of the military part of the task. He was indeed
courageous, but he was without the requisite breadth of view
for the emergency and shrank from extraordinary efforts for
which he did not feel himself equal. On the same day that
he was appointed he called to his assistance his friend Bonaparte
and discussed with him the problem of protecting the legislature
against an attack which had been planned for the ensuing day.
Barras having been made commander-in-chief of the Army
of the Interior as the result of a stormy night-session of 4th-5th
October, he induced the Committee to appoint Napoleon second
in command and invest him with full power necessary to the
defence of the Convention.

In later life Napoleon gave Madame de Rémusat the following
account of this decisive moment of his career:* “One evening I
was at the theatre, it was the 12th Vendémiaire (October 4th
1795). I overheard some one say that there was to be a ‘row’
(‘du train’) on the following day; you know that was the cus-
tomary expression of the Parisians who had come to view with
indifference changes in the government, since they did not in-
terfere with their business, their pleasures, or even their dinner.
After the Reign of Terror they were satisfied with anything which
did not disturb their way of living. They were saying around
me that the sittings of the Assembly were permanent; I hurried
thither, I found nothing but confusion, hesitation. From
the depths of the hall'a voice was suddenly raised which said:
‘If any one knows the address of General Bonaparte, he is
requested to go and say to him that his presence is desired by
the Committee of the Assembly.’ I have always liked to take
note of the element of chance in certain events; this determined

* Mme. de Rémusat, ‘“Mémoires,” 1. 269,
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me; I went to the Committee; I found there several deputies
who were quite distracted; among others Cambacérés.* They
expected to be attacked on the morrow and did not know what
course to pursue. My advice was asked; I replied by demand-
ing cannon. This suggestion appalled them; the whole night
passed without coming to any conclusion. The next morning
brought bad news. Thereupon the whole affair was turned
over to me, after which they began to deliberate whether after
all they had the right to repel force by forece. ‘Do you expect,’
I said, ‘that the people are going to give you permission to fire
upon them? I am now involved, since you have nominated
me; it is no more than just that you should let me act according
to my own discretion.’”

Unfortunately we are compelled to accept with great mis-
trust all accounts given by Napoleon of events in his own life.
He seldom restricted himself to the exact truth, least of all where
his purpose was to disguise his obvious ambition in the garb
of unconstrained and disinterested conduct. Who is going to
believe that the intimate of Barras and Tallien first learned of
the permanent sittings of the Assembly on the decisive night
while innocently attending the theatre? No one. Even
though we had no knowledge of a certain note from Barras,
dated on the 3d of October, summoning Napoleon to meet him,
to the suspension of all other business, on the morning of the
4th of October. It is nothing unusual to encounter in the life
of this ambitious man an attempt to make his decisive measures
appear to be the work of the last moment and a sudden inspira-
tion of his genius. In the present instance also he would have
one believe that the really masterly arrangements for the de-
fence of the Convention were devised only on the morning of
the 5th and immediately carried into execution. But it would
be safe to conclude that everything had been carefully weighed
and considered on the previous day and the essentials deter-
mined upon when the deputies gave Napoleon permission to
‘““act according to his own discretion.”

* One of the leaders of the moderates who appreciated Napoleon’s
genius. Cambacérés had recommended him to Doulcet.
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It was but natural that he should insist upon the use of
cnergetic measures. His fate was linked to that of the Con-
vention. As a good artilleryman he knew the power of his
weapon. The National Guard had no cannon. Everything
depended upon getting the ordnance from an artillery park
outside the city to the Tuileries. A spirited cavalry officer,
Murat, the future brother-in-law of Napoleon, was despatched,
doubtless at the suggestion of the latter, to assure their safe-
conduct before daybreak. He was successful, and when, on
the afternoon of the 5th of October (13th Vendémiaire), the
National Guard advanced upon the Tuileries where the Con-
vention was in session, they found it already flanked by guns
behind which the general in command had posted infantry and
cavalry. Seeing the numerical superiority of the sections, the
deputies wavered and were disposed to parley with the insurgents.
But a shot was fired which gave the signal for battle. It will
never be known whether this shot came from the side of the assail-
ants or the defenders, or whether, perchance, in obedience to a
secret, order from Napoleon. The police reports on the occur-
rences of this day are missing from among the archives of Paris.
At once the strong position held by the insurgents at the church
of Saint-Roch was carried, and the street of Saint-Honoré effec-
tively raked by cannon, the bank of the Seine was swept clean
by volleys of grapeshot, and the Guards were driven back
during the night of the 5th of October to the most remote quar-
ters of the city, where they were easily overmastered on the fol-
lowing day by separate detachments of troops of the line.

Napoleon had saved the Convention and the Convention
showed its gratitude. In the session of October 10th, upon
the motion of Barras and Fréron, his appointment, as second in
command of the Army of the Interior was confirmed. DBut
this did not satisfy Napoleon. He understood striking while
the iron was hot. He first of all urged his reassignment to ser-
vice in the artillery, then—in a petition of the 16th of October—
he requested for himself the commission of general-of-division,
and on the 26th of the same month he was appointed com-
mander-in-chief of the Army of the Interior in the place of
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Barras, who now at the close of the session assumed the duties
of Director in the new government.

But a few weeks before without a position and with forbid-
ding prospects, a supplicant for a mission to Constantinople,
he had suddenly attained to one of the highest military posi-
tions in France. It was not without cause that he wrote to
Joseph on the day after the 13th Vendémiaire: “Fortune is on
my side.” It is said that destiny can make fatalists of men;
it produced in Napoleon, with its sudden changes of favour, a
man who from that time forth journeyed through life with full
confidence in his star. ‘““Au destin’ became his motto, and this
was engraved in the wedding-ring of her whom he chose to
become his partner in life. But this reliance on fate was not
blind. Whenever fortune appeared to hesitate, he had learned
to put forward the whole of his own reckless power, his abundant
talent, and—that heritage of his nation—subtlety and cunning.
Fortune did not make a slave of him, he understood controlling
it and making it serve his ends. Certainly the paths by which
he climbed unremittingly to power, if regarded merely from the
standpoint of a moralist, were not always of the straightest, the
means employed to accomplish his purposes sometimes equivocal
and objectionable, and if history had but to pass judgment upon
the way in which such assertive individuals come to dominate
over others, words could not be found harsh enough to charac-
terize the conduct of this man. But there yet remains the far
more important question: how was the acquired power utilized
and turned to account? Only in the answer to this question
can be found the means of deciding upon the historical signifi-
cance of Napoleon Bonaparte.



CHAPTER IV
JOSEPHINE

Tae downfall of Robespierre and his associates had brought
about not merely a politieal revolution, but also a profound social
change. It did more than simply to replace one of the political
factions in power by another. The population itself, heretofore
paralyzed by terror, now came forward to demand and recover
the freedom of action of which it had so long been deprived.
Every one rejoiced to feel that his life was safe once more and
the general joy was unbounded. The theatres were crowded,
and poets, enthusiastic in the cause of peace and order, lashed
the overthrown rule of arbitrary cruelty, eliciting unprece-
dented applause from the audience. From the houses and.
apartments, in which they had been living in retirement, the
timid thronged into the streets, rejoicing in their deliverance
from self-imposed captivity; and in the open squares where the
guillotine had but recently done its cruel work, thousands of
happy couples joined in the whirling dance. In the salons of
the people of rank assembled a heterogeneous company of up-
starts of both sexes who tried to assume the manner and appear-
ance of the aristocracy of the ““ancien régime.” "Everywhere
reigned joy and pleasure, with gallantry and levity, corruption
and undisguised indulgence. The iron bondage of the Reign
of Terror had deprived womankind of her ruling influence over
the other sex. Now upon its overthrow they again exercised the
power of their charms. As if to make amends for the lost years
of sway, they now attempted to captivate the men by the practice
of all the arts of seductive beauty, their dress was designed to
reveal much of the person, and conversation became more than
ever frivolous and animated. Those who like Madame de Staél

Yad wit, brought that also into play. The other leading ladies
6o
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of the new society, Madame Tallien, the beautiful Madame
Récamier, Mesdames de Beauharnais, Hamelin, and others were
the centre of the society which gathered about the victors of
Thermidor. Barras, the hero of the day, was the idol of this
" female throng, but not the only object of their devotion.

No man however uncouth and unsociable could resist the
charm of this newly-awakened life of heedless enjoyment. One
of those attracted and dazzled by this gay existence was the
young General Bonaparte, the author of the “Dialogue sur
I’Amour,” who held the omnipotence of love in contempt. We
know that his interests led him also to seek the society of Barras
and Tallien; but he failed to acquire in their salons such polish as
to make him a particularly attractive member of society. Care-
lessly dressed and indifferent as to his personal appearance, with
nothing engaging in his looks or manners, he attracted attention
only by his singular appearance. The wife of his friend Bourri-
enne says of him that he was ill-dressed and negligent in his
toilet, his character cold and often gloomy, his smile forced and
often badly out of place. To be sure he could relate aneedotes
of his campaigns in a way which was sprightly and charming,
though sometimes tinged with cynicism. He gave way at
times to outbursts of wild hilarity which gave offence and repelled
those who were about him. At the theatre, while the rest of the
audience was convulsed with laughter, he would remain entirely
unresponsive and change no line of his face, or he would sit brood-
ing with a gloomy and sullen expression as if totally unaffected
by what was taking place before him. And yet we know from
his own account that the unrestrained conviviality of this new
life with its surroundings of splendour and beauty made a pro-
found impression upon him. His letters bear witness to this.
“Luxury, pleasure,and the arts are reviving here in an astonishing
way,” he writes from Paris to his brother Joseph in July, 1795.
“(Carriages and people of fashion reappear, or rather they remem-
ber only as a long dream that they had ever ceased to shine. All
that can help to pass the time and make life agreeable is here
crowded together. One is torn away from incongruous reflec-
tions, and indeed how is it possible to regard anything in a dismal
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way in the midst of such ready wit and such a whirlwind of activ-
ity? The women are everywhere: at the theatre, on the prome-
nades, at the libraries. In the study of the scholar you find
charming young ladies. Here alone among all the places of the
carth do they deserve to control the rudder; and the men are
all crazy about them, think of nothing but them, and live only
for them. A woman needs just six months of Paris to know
what is due to her and what the extent of her dominion.” A
few days later he adds: “This great people gives itself up to
pleasure; dances, plays, and women, who are here the most
beautiful in the world, are the questions of chief importance.”
On the 9th of August he- writes: “Life is pleasant here and
much inclined to gaiety; it seems as if every one were seeking
to indemnify himself for his sufferings in the past, and the uncer-
tainty of the future prompts them to be unsparing for the pleas-
ures of the present. Good-bye, my dear fellow; do not be
anxious about the future, be happy in the present and gay, and
learn to enjoy yourself.”

What a transformation in this solitary nature! He who
had hitherto preferred seclusion, for whom society had no
charms, was now its captive. Not only that, but woman,
who had become all-powerful, cast her spell upon him. He
was seriously considering taking unto himself a wife and
beginning family life. He was then at work in the Central
Committee, full of hope and with bright prospects before him.
A year previous Joseph had married Julie Clary, the daughter
of the rich silk-merchant of Versailles; Napoleon had her sister
Désirée in mind. He wrote to Joseph requesting him to make
advances for him to this lady, “for,” as he says in his letter,
“T've taken the notion to have a home of my own.” His
removal from the army on September 15th put an end to this
plan for the time being, and the outcome of the 13th Vendé-
miaire turned the thoughts of the suitor in another direction.*

Now that he had made such a position for himself why

* Three years later Désirée married General Bernadotte, and, after
a further lapse of twenty years, ascended the throne of Sweden as the
wife of Charles XIV.
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should he not choose from among those brilliant women who
were leaders of fashion at the capital and who had influence
and prestige? There was, for instance, Madame Permon, a
widow. She was of very ancient lineage, known in Corsica, and
had been moreover a friend of his father’s. This lady was by
many years his senior, but wealthy and highly esteemed. It
is said that Napoleon made proposals to her, but was rejected.
Shortly afterwards another woman inspired him with genuire
passion—a passion as real and true as his soul was susceptible
of. The object of this affection was the Marquise Josephine,
widow of General de Beauharnais.

Josephine, the eldest of the three daughters of Joseph Gas-
pard Tascher de la Pagerie, was born June 23d, 1763, on the Island
of Martinique, where her father, formerly a captain of the Royal
Dragoons, managed his estates. The family was originally of
Chéateauneuf in Thimerais (central France). Eduecated in
Paris at Port-Royal, Josephine was married in 1779 to the
young Viscount Alexandre de Beauharnais, son of the former
governor of Martinique, who had long been an acquaintance
and friend of the Tascher family. The first fruit of this marriage
was a son, Eugéne (born September 3d, 1781). But the union
was not a happy one. Beauharnais left for the Antilles the
following year to fight against the English, and there fell in
love with a Creole and tried to get a divorce. Meanwhile his
wife gave birth to a daughter who is known in history as “ Queen
Hortense.” When the Revolution broke out, Beauharnais, who
had returned to France, was elected deputy of the First Estate,
and was one of the few of that order who gave energetic support
to the new Constitution. In the memorable night of August
4th, 1789, he was particularly zealous in taking part against the
old régime. Furthermore, he did not emigrate but remained
as an officer, and when the monarchy was replaced by a republic
he became a general and was given an independent command
in the Army of the Rhine.

Not until the Prussians had retaken Mayence in 1793 did
he resign his commission. During the Reign of Terror he was,
as an aristocrat, accused of treason toward his country, and,



64 Josephine (1795

though innocent like many others, was executed four days
before the fall of Robespierre.

Josephine, who had rejoined her husband while he was
playing a part in the National Assembly, was also imprisoned,
and her release was due to the intervention of her fellow prisoner
Madame de Fontenay-Cabarrus and of this lady’s lover, Tallien.

But Josephine had lived too many years out .of sympathy
with her husband to mourn him now for long. She was too
fickle, weak, and fond of pleasure to turn her back on the gay
life which the salons of the “nouvelles couches” of 1795 offered
her. She showed her preference by attaching herself the more
closely to Madame Cabarrus, and soon became one of the best-
known members of Parisian society and the intimate friend
of Barras. Her relations with him have been disclosed in re-
cent times by the publication of his “Mémoires,” but she did not
at that time have the reputation of a prude.* To the captivating
charm of her person all witnesses testify. Even Lucien, who
was not particularly well-disposed toward her, had to admit
this. In his “Mémoires” he gives us the following picture:
“Hardly to be noticed in the midst of this circle of pretty women,
generally reputed to be of easy morals, is the widow of the
Marquis de Beauharnais. With little, very little wit, she had
no trace of what could be called beauty, but there were certain
Creole characteristics in the pliant undulations of her figure
which was rather below the average height. Her face was
without natural freshness, it is true, but the artifices of the
toilet remedied this defect so as to make it appear fairly well
by the light of the chandeliers. In short, her person was not
entirely bereft of some of the attractions of her youth.”

Arnault, in his “Souvenirs d’un Sexagénaire,” does her

* ¢ At that time her reputation was badly compromised.” (Madame
de Rémusat, “ Mémoires,”” 1. 138.)

“My father was chamberlain to the Empress Josephine. He had
been her lover prior to her marriage to Napoleon, and resumed his rela-
tions with her after her divorce.” (Viel-Castel, ‘“ Mémoires,” II. 16.)

Barras’ “Mémoires’’ were published 1895-96, but critical readers will
make some reservations as to Barras’ veracity in recounting his gallantries
and in characterizing those to whom he bore ill will.—B.
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better justice. He says: “The evenness of her disposition, her
good-nature, the amiability that shone in her eye and which
expressed itself not only in her words but in the tones of her
voice, a certain indolence peculiar to Creoles which was recog-
nizable in her carriage and movements even when she was
making an effort to please, all these lent to her a charm which
transcended the dazzliug beauty of her two rivals Mesdames
Récamier and Tallien.”

Madame de Rémusat, who had known Josephine since 1793,
gives perhaps the most accurate description of her friend in these
words: ‘“Without being precisely beautiful, her whole person
was possessed of a peculiar charm. Her features were delicate
and harmonious, her expression gentle, her tiny mouth dex-
terously concealed defective teeth; her somewhat dark com-
plexion was improved by her clever use of cosmetics. Her
figure was perfect, every outline well rounded and graceful;
every motion was easy and elegant. Her taste in dress was
excellent, and whatever she wore seemed to have its beauty
enhanced. With these advantages and her constant care for
her appearance, she succeedced in being never outshone by
the beauty and youth of so many women around her. She was
not a person of especial wit; a Creole and coquette, her education
had been rather neglected; but she knew wherein she was
wanting, and never betrayed her ignorance. Naturally tactful,
she found it easy to say agreeable things. . . . Unfortunately
she was lacking in earnestness of feeling and true elevation of
mind.”

At that time she felt no warm affection for the young general.
And indeed Napoleon was by no means a handsome man. Short
of stature, hardly five feet in height, with an abnormally de-
veloped chest and disproportionately short legs, he was far
from irresistible. Moreover, he was thin at the time, and the
angular lines in his face sharply prominent; his sallow skin
made him look like a sick man; the glance of his gray eyes was
full of determination and resolve, frank and straightforward,
but often with something wild about it. The nervousness of
his disposition, which had been marked even in childhood, had
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developed in later years under the stress of violent emotions
caused by the continual changes in his fortunes and the re-
peated disappointments to his inordinate ambition, until it had
beecome morbid. A contemporary informs us that at this time Na-
poleon slept but three hours a day and was in reality ill. Later
a facial neuralgia asserted itself together with several idiosyncra-
sies, such as shrugging of the right shoulder and an involuntary
moving of the lips. We may safely attribute to this extreme
nervousness much of his downright selfishness and rudeness and
the irritability which suffered no contradiction, as well as his
distrust of every one and his occasional strange and excited
behaviour. On the other hand his confidence in himself im-
pressed everybody and involuntarily one became interested
in him. To Josephine he became an object of interest if nothing
more.

Very different was the impression. which she produced upon
him. “I was not insensible to the charms of women,” he said
later at St. Helena, “but up to that time I had not been petted
and spoiled by them and my disposition made me timid in their
company. Madame de Beauharnais was the first to reassure
me. She said some flattering things to me about my military
talents one day when I chanced to be seated next to her. That
praise intoxicated me; I addressed myself continually to her;
1 followed her everywhere; I was passionately in love with her,
and my infatuation was generally known among our acquaint-
_ances long before I ventured to declare myself to her. When this
rumour became general, Barras spoke to me about it. I had
no reason for denying it. ‘If that is the case,” he said to me,
‘you ought to marry Madame de Beauharnais. You have rank
and talents to be turned to good account, but you stand alone,
without fortune and without connections; you must marry;
that will give you position.””

To what manner of man did Barras say this? Napoleon
was capable of suppressing any passion if it were found to inter-
fere with his ambition. He gave way to this one because it
was evident to him that his union with this lady of rank, the
influential friend of the Directory, would strengthen his social
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position and secure advantages for the future. He felt himself
to be exalted by this marriage which enabled him to ascend
from his rank of plebeian to a higher social station wherein his
past could sink into oblivion. Even while still a Jacobin he
could not conceal a certain predilection for the aristociatic
mode of life; the coarse instincts of the masses were repugnant
to him, and the courtesy and politeness of people of culture
were all the more agreeable to one who was himself completely
lacking in social talent. There was still another reason in
favour of this union. Barras valued Napoleon’s genius at its
true worth, and his somewhat indolent nature led him to try
to put under obligations to himself a man whose ambition and
ability might some day raise his benefactor again to power. It
is said that he made an attempt to have Napoleon appointed Min-
ister of War, but that his colleagues refused their consent. Now
Barras undertakes to obtain Josephine's hand for him. In a
letter to a friend she admits that she does not really love Napo-
leon, but that she does not feel any aversion toward him; her
feeling is rather that of indifference, which is as little favourable
to love as it is to religion. ‘I admire the General’s courage,”
continues she, ‘““the extent of his knowledge upon all sorts of
topics, upon all of which he talks equally well, the vivacity of
his mind, which enables him to grasp the thoughts of others
almost before they have been expressed, but I am frightened,
I admit, at the control he tries to cxercise over everything about
him. His searching glance has something unusual and inex
plicable in it, but which compels the respect even of our Directors:
judge for yourself whether a woman has not good cause to feel
intimidated by it! Finally, that which ought to please me, the
force of his passion, which he expresses with an energy which
leaves no room for doubt of his sincerity, is precisely that which
makes me withhold the consent which I have often been ready
to give. Can I, a woman whose youth is past. hope to hold
for any length of time this violent affection which in the General
resembles a fit of delirium? If, after our marriage, he should
cease to love me, will he not reproach me with what he has done
for me? Will he not regret having failed to make a more ad-
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vantageous marriage? And what answer can I make then?
What will there be for me to do? Tears will be my only re-
source.” And yet the fatalistic confidence with which Napoleon
spoke to her of his plans and his future allured her, and when
the rumour became general that the Directory would make him
Commander-in-chief of the Army of Italy she yielded to his
suit. As a matter of fact her friends wondered that she could
marry a man so little known.*

On the 9th of March, 1796, the civil marriage ceremony
was performed. Barras and Tallien acted as witnesses. But
Truth veiled her .face when the couple presented their forged
certificates of baptism to the magistrate of the deuxiéme
arrondissement. Napoleon pretended to have been born Feb-
ruary 5th, 1768, and Josephine, who was in reality six years
his senior, gave as the date of her birth June 23d, 1767—a
sacrifice of facts to the cause of female vanity to which the
bridegroom gladly consented. People were then not very
sserupulous in such matters, and Napoleon was the last man to
hesitate at straining the truth. Joseph and Lucien likewise
made false representations at their marriages. By an absurd
coincidence each of the three brothers declared as his birthday
a different day of the same year, 1768. Indeed the moral stand-
ard of the whole family was.low.

Two days before the marriage, upon the motion of Carnot,
the Directory had signed the decree (dated March 2d) appoint-

* A genuine love-letter from the man who a few years before had
spoken so harshly of love will not be without interest. “Iawake full of
thoughts of thee. Your portrait and the intoxicating evening of yester-
day give my senses no rest. Sweet and incomparable Josephine, what a
strange effect you have on my heart; are you angry, do I see you sad, are
you anxious, . . . my soul is bowed down with anguish and there is no
rest for your lover; but is there then more for me, when, yielding to the
immeasurable feeling which overpowers me, I draw from your lips, from
your heart, a flame which consumes me? Ah! it was but this very night
that I realized fully that your portrait was not you. Thou leavest at noon,
in three hours I shall see thee. Meanwhile, ‘mio dolce amor,” a thousand
kisses, but do not give me any, for they set my blood on fire.”” (Mme.
de Rémusat, “Mémoires,” I. 182.)
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ing Napoleon Commander-in-chief of the Army of Italy; on
the 11th he took leave of his wife and set out for his post.

To what an extent were his interests already advanced!
Here was an independent command and with it the opportunity
of showing the world what he could do, and of turning from
Hoche to himself the universal admiration which that general
had won by his unbroken series of victories. To be sure his
former position as commander of the Army of the Interior had
been both high and important, for he had soon acquired a con-
siderable following of men whose hopes for the future rested
in this general who had become so influential. On the other
hand he had been detested by the Parisian populace ever since
the 13th Vendémiaire, and he was besidzs pursued by the envy
of those who begrudged him his rapid advancement and who
were systematic and persistent in calling attention to his errors
and defects, his adventures in Corsica, and his connection with
Robespierre, even to his foreign accent and his lack of breeding,
all of which were made much of and used against him. Who
could assure him that he would not soon be pushed aside by
new elements, inasmuch as the Constitution provided for changes
in the highest positions of the government? While at Paris
and General of the Army of the Interior he was but the hero
of a single party, and victory in the streets of the capital could
secure for him nothing more than the thanks of one faction.
But in conflict with foreign enemies, upon what he himself had
designated the most important theatre of war, glory and honour
were to be acquired in the eyes of the whole nation, the nation
to which he had more closely allied himself by marrying a French
gentlewoman of ancient family. This was more in accordance
with the extravagant plans for the future which his exuberant
fancy invented and which were too vast and undefined to depend
upon the fortunes of a political coterie. Power was his party,
and its possession his aim.

Even before her marriage Josephine had written these re-
markable words to her friend: ‘“Barras assures me that if
T marry the General he will obtain for him the appointment
of Commander-in-chief of the Army of Italy. Yesterday, in
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speaking to me of this favour,—which is already the occasion of
grumbling among his companions in arms, although it has not
yet been bestowed,—Bonaparte said: ‘Do they suppose that
I am in need of their protection in order to succeed? They will
all be but too happy some day if I will grant them mine. My
sword is at my side and with it I shall go far.” What say you
of such certainty of success? Is it not a proof of assurance
born of excessive self-esteem? A brigadier-general protect the
chiefs of the State! I know not, but sometimes this absurd
self-reliance leads me to the point of believing possible every-
thing that this singular man would put it into my head to do.”

If the letter be genuine, the woman’s instinet in Josephine
recognized in the soul of this extraordinary man what the acute
observation of his teachers had before discovered—"an ambi-
tion with aspirations that stop at nothing.” *

Whatever Josephine lacked in love for her husband she made
amends for in her belief in him, in his genius, in his future; nor
did that faith deceive her. Yet she does not seem to have had
the necessary moral strength to fulfil her duty of fidelity to the
man she admired. Hers was a sensual nature; not like that of
Catharine II., whom not even the risk of participating in crime
prevented the satisfaction of her passion; Josephine was passive,
weak, vacillating, and in danger even of hecoming a victim like
Mary Stuart. Her fajthful friend, Madame de Rémusat, who
fondly dwells upon her merits, does not conceal the fact that her
reputation was badly compromised before she made Napoleon’s
acquaintance, and we cannot but gather from his letters that
during the early years of their married life she never ceased to
play the coquette with the men with whom she came in contact.

* His brother Lucien in his “Mémoires’ (II. 314) also furnishes
proof of the fact that Napoleon obtained command of the Army of Italy
on account of his marriage with Josephine. Seven years later, in 1803,
Lucien dared to brave the anger of his all-powerful brother who tried to
compel him to separate himself from his wife and marry the Queen of
Etruria. ‘“What absurd presumption,” said Lucien to Cambacérés,—or
at least claims to have said,—‘to dare to hope that he could make me
abandon my wife! A wife who was not forced upon me and who brought
me neither dowry nor command of an army.”
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Some weeks after his parting with his bride he wrote a letter
full of yearning desire asking her to follow him into Italy. She
waits two months, until the close of the Paris season, before she
d cides to comply. He writes to Carnot at this time: “I am in
despair, my wife does not come; she must have some lover who
detains her in Paris. Cursed be all women!”

During the summer and autumn in which Napoleon was win-
ning his immortal triumphs, she whiled away the time in Milan,
Bologna, and Rome. The beginning of winter finds her again in
the beloved capital on the Seine. Later, in the spring of 1798,
when Napoleon undertook his Egyptian expedition, she remained
in France, and her conduct during that time caused much anxiety
to her distant husband, who was minutely, although perhaps not
always accurately, informed of all that was taking place. From
Cairo he wrote in July, 1798, to Joseph in these resigned words:
“T have many domestic sorrows, for the veil is at last entirely
removed. You alone are left to me on earth, your love is very
dear to me, nothing more is needed to make me a complete
misanthrope but to lose that and to find myself betrayed by you.
... It is a sad condition to have to harbour at the same time
all kinds of feelings toward one person in one poor heart. You
will understand me. See to it that on my return I have a
country-seat near Paris or in Burgundy; I count upon shutting
myself up there and spending the winter; I am tired of human
nature. I need solitude and isolation; greatness wearies me, my
feelings are dried up.”

After the Coup d’Etat, when Napoleon had made himself the
master of France,—it was at the time when her charms began to
be less alluring to other men,—Josephine clung to him with a
lasting affection, and she was almost beside herself with jealous
rage whenever his heart was occupied, even if but temporarily,
in some other quarter. This devotion on her part and the belief
that his good fortune was associated with her prevented him for
a long time from divorcing himself from her. In the end his
selfish policy triumphed over this last vestige of sentiment.



CHAPTER V

THE CAMPAIGNS IN ITALY AND THE PEACE OF
CAMPO FORMIO

Tre fact has already been mentioned that in 1795 Prussia
and Spain withdrew from the great coalition which had been
formed two years previous against revolutionary France. Even
before this act Tuscany had been led to conclude a separate
treaty of peace with the great republic in order to secure its
own immunity in case of the advance of the French army into
upper Italy. Holland also had been conquered during the win-
ter and compelled to become the humble ally of France under the
name of “The Batavian Republic’”” It was even rumoured
that Austria was secretly making negotiations in Paris, but such
report was entirely without foundation; Emperor Francis II.
had not the slightest intention of effecting a separate treaty of
peace. In view of the victories of the enemy during the fore-
going year, such a peace would have but entailed losses to
Austria, and Thugut, the chief adviser of the Emperor, was
intent upon making gains. Since the loss of Silesia, the conquest
of which had raised Prussia to one of the Great Powers, the
Court of Vienna was seeking compensation everywhere: in
Poland, Turkey, Germany—where Bavaria was the coveted
territory,—and in Italy—where the object was to acquire Venice
in order to connect Lombardy with the hereditary domains of the
house of Habsburg. Thugut had made advance toward the real-
ization of his plans to the extent of receiving from Russia, on
January 3d, 1795, a promise of support together with a portion
of Poland, on condition that Austria should continue to oppose
France. This put all thought of treaty with the Republic out of
the question. On the contrary, Thugut entered, May 20th,
1795, into a treaty of alliance and mutual guaranties with Pitt,

72
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Prime Minister of England, the aim-of whose secret stipulations
was to induce the Czarina to take part in active hostilities
against France. On September 28th of the same year Catharine
II. agreed to be a third party to this alliance.

The majority of the German States having refused Prussia’s
offer to mediate for peace, they, with Sardinia, Portugal, and
Naples, joined also in this powerful coalition. Peace was not to
be thought of in that quarter.

A pacific outcome of affairs between France and Austria might
perhaps have been possible had the Republic been willing to
renounce its recent conquests and restore them to the great
power on the Danube. The situation of internal affairs in
France during the last months of the Convention had been
discouraging enough to make a conciliatory attitude appear
not unadvisable. The demoralization was unprecedented. In
its precipitate zeal the Revolution had made an end of the rotten
feudal system, but had not yet been able to set up in its stead a
more enduring form of government. As with “ Liberty” for
the watchword all political institutions had been destroyed, so,
in the name of “Equality,”—which had degenerated into an
ever-increasingly tyrannical principle,—the entire social edifice
had been overthrown. Laws of marriage and inheritance were
changed to accord with revolutionary ideas, with the sole result
of depriving the family of its former importance and respect.
The government had confiscated the estates of the Church as
well as the property of the emigrants, who were for the most part
victims of arbitrary proscription. Public credit had been based
on what had been thus appropriated without heed to the fact
that the value of real estate decreases as the protection of the
laws becomes insecure, and where that protection is wanting
becomes a mere fiction. In consequence France was now
flooded with worthless paper money; honest tradesmen were
reduced to poverty, speculators and gamblers flourished, dealing
in stocks took the place of legitimate business, corruption and
fraud reigned supreme.

In addition to these disheartening circumstances came the
confusion in the affairs of the Church and the inadequacy of the
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new educational system, which decreed compulsory education
without being able to enforce its commands. The Marquis of
Poterat, a man of dubious character but of unusual intelligence,
describes the situation of France in a memorial addressed to the
government in July, 1795, and verily his picture isin every respect
accurate and faithful. “Consider the dangers of your position,
they are truly alarming; with the exception of Prussia, which 1
mistrust, you have as declared enemies all the Great Powers of
Europe; most of the young men of the land you have lost in
battle or hospital; before long recruiting will have become im-
possible. Agriculture is neglected for want of hands, horses,
and fertilization; trade, both domestic and foreign, is destroyed;
labourers in the arts, manufactures, and trades have lost either
life or reason. You are in need of provisions and of naval
stores as well as of every variety of imports, and you are without
credit either at home or abroad. Currency is inflated with an
immense amount of worthless paper money. The administra-
tior of the Interior does not work because it is subdivided into
too many departments and because those departments are
wretched. In short, you have as yet no government at all
When shall you have one? Shall you ever do so? If so, will
there yet be time for it to avail?”

There was indeed every reason for thinking of peace and giving
the country opportunity to recuperate. And in fact there was in
the Convention’s Committee of Safety a party which was desirous
of a general peace even at the price of contenting itself with the
old boundaries of France. But the old boundaries represented
the system of the Old Régime. The radical Revolution had
wider aspirations, and for this reason its leaders would agree upon
peace only on condition that France should retain her conquests
of the previous year and that the “natural boundary ” along the
banks of the Rhine should be secured to the state. This idea
was due to the doctrines of Rousseau, who derived from nature
not only his theory of law and morals, but was indebted to her as
well for his views of what constituted the frontiers of his country.

Inasmuch as the need of rest was deeply felt throughout the
country and especially in Paris, the conservative policy naturally
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received the support of the people, while the Progressives placed
themselves in violent opposition to it and eventually brought
the Convention into that critical position from which it was
rescued by Napoleon’s strategic talent on October 5th, 1795.
Three days previous the majority of the Convention had acceded
to the proposition of the government committee to incorporate
Belgium with France, thereby giving sanction to a principle of
conquest which was henceforth for twenty years to remain the
policy of France.®

* Whoever reads the acts and debates of the year 1795 with reference
to the question then under consideration of the natural boundaries of
France and the incorporation of Belgium will find therein the already
developed germs of Napoleon’s subsequent insatiable policy of conquest
with its contempt for traditional rights. In an edict of the Committee
of Public Safety dated June 26th, 1795, addressed to Barthélemy, Chargé
d’ Affaires, occurs, for example, this query: “ Of what use to us then would
have been this terrible war and this long Revolution if everything were
to return to former conditions; and do you suppose that the Republic
could maintain its existence in the midst of circumstances which had
undergone no change?”’

Rewbell, who was afterwards to direct the foreign policy of the Di-
rectory, discussing this question with a diplomat, gives utterance to hig
views, saying that one must be but little enlightened in regard to the true
interests of the Republic or be completely given over to Austria and Eng-
land to dare to propose a return to the former limits of the country in
order to obtain peace; such a peace would not only cover France with
disgrace, but would infallibly lead to the destruction of the Republic;
that one could not shut his eyes to the fact that the country was insuffi-
ciently provided with manufactured goods, gold, silver, and produce;
that, on the return of the armies to a country without means for recom-
pensing its defenders and without other resources than valueless paper
money, discontent would soon become general; the soldiers would of
necessity take part in political and religious dissensions, and the inevitable
result would be civil war of the most cruel order; foreign powers would
not, fail to take advantage of such circumstances, and as a consequence
France would suffer the same fate as Poland. . . . Those who advocate
peace at any price should not omit to take into account the fact that in
Belgium alone there was public property to the amount of at least three
billions in specie, and that there was still more in the other countries
which had been conquered and annexed, and that this was the only
resource for the redemption of the assignats. (Revue historique,

XVIII. 208, 308.)
Tallien never wearied of recalling the principle of 1792, that France
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When, shortly afterwards, the Directory succeeded to the
Convention, it accepted with other responsibilities the war
against three of the Great Powers of Europe together with
their dependencies; and inasmuch as the five men who now
were placed at the head of the French government, Barras,
Rewbell, Carnot, Letourneur, and La Révelliére-Lépeaux, all
belonged to the dominant party a change of policy was not to be
expected. Their close alliance with the republican Thermi-
dorians (under Tallien) and the Jacobins (under Sieyés) gave
them no choice but to make war upon existing monarchies.
This was a war apparently without end and, indeed, not intended
to have one, as its termination would have brought about the
close of the Revolution, and thereby the end of the power of
its ambitious leaders. To them the revolutionary tendencies of
foreign countries were the most welcome of allies, and for that
reason Germany, Switzerland, and, if possible, Italy were to be
roused to insurrection by a systematic propaganda and drawn
within the range of French political action. It wasa programme
"5, expansion in every direction.

\.Ib must be confessed that at the outset the execution of
this .plan was greatly inferior to the boldness of its conception.
Genék_als Jourdan and Pichegru, who had crossed the Rhine in
order ﬁg take the offensive, were repulsed by the Austrian com-

should surround herself with a circle of republics of her own founding
and which should be dependent upon the mother country. Sieyés had
even elaborated a plan for the secularization of the ecclesiastical princi-
palities of Germany which was in all respects similar to that which was
carried out in 1803.

Mallet du Pan, the clear-sighted correspondent of the Cabinet at
Vienna, writes as follows in a letter of August 23d, 1795: ‘“ The Monarchists
and many of the deputies of the Convention would sacrifice all conquests
made for the sake of hastening and securing peace, but the fanatical
Girondists and the committee led by Sieyés persist in this plan of expansion.
Three motives impel them to this course: 1st. The scheme of extending
their doctrine with their territory; 2d. The desire of uniting Europe
by degrees in a federation with the French Republic; 3d. That of pro-
longing a war, involving a part of the nation, which prolongs at the same
time extraordinary powers and revolutionary measures.” (Correspond-
ance inédite, I. 288.) Cf. Chapter VIII below.
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manders Clerfayt and Wurmser and thrown back to the other
side of the river; at the south, likewise, the Italian Army was
accomplishing but little. The latter had indeed been reinforced
by troops drawn from Spain and put under command of Schérer,
a general of advancing years who had hitherto been active in
the Pyrenees. His instructions from Paris were to press forward
through the passes of the Apennines into the plains beyond,
and success attended his first efforts in the victory of Loano
(November 23d-25th, 1795), but the winter season opened and
interrupted hostilities against the united Austrian and Sardinian
armies. Fortunately Russia sent no aid to Austria, and the
Jatter, being unsupported in her endeavors to hold France in
check, could not bring her forces to bear on the Italian theatre
of war. For a moment, it is true, Vienna had considered re-
moving the weight of her army from the Rhine to Italy, a move
which would probably have made far more difficult the victories
which Napoleon was soon after to gain in those regions. Thugut
was indeed informed that the French government was seeking
to separate Sardinia from Austria by offering her Lombardy
in exchange, and the reports which Mallet du Pan sent to Vienna
in the beginning of the year 1796 asserted confidently that the
French were determined to penetrate into Piedmont and Milan,
cost what it might. :

But in spite of everything no decisive measures were taken.
The English were able by means of subsidies to keep the Austrian
forces in Germany, which was in accordance with her interests;
the Grand Duke of Tuscany refused to allow Neapolitan auxiliary
troops to pass through his territory; Thugut himself feared
aggressive measures on the part of Prussia and wished to be
armed for resistance in Bohemia, and therefore refrained from
sending reinforcements, beyond a few battalions, to the army
in Italy; in short, everything conspired to the neglect of a field
of operations upon which events of the utmost importance were
soon to take place.

‘While Schérer and his troops remained inactive in the South,
the plan of campaign as elaborated by Napoleon demonstrated
not only the possibility but the necessity of commencing hos-
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tilities as early as February. To Schérer's complaints that
his troops were needy and in distress (a situation which the
financial state of the republic did not admit of rectifying),
Napoleon made reply by pointing to the rich plain of Lombardy
and promised to support the army upon the enemy’s country.
On the 19th of January, 1796, his plan was at length adopted
and sent to the Army of Italy for execution. This Schérer
refused to do. Such projects, he said, might be carried out only
by the man who had conceived them, and asked for his own
discharge. The request came opportunely. On the 13th Ven-
démuaire the little general had saved the lives of the men
who were at present in power; now he showed them the way in
which their policy might be saved. Then, when every military
reverse shook the foundations of the Directory and strengthened
the opposition, he promised triumphs which would justify
the conduct of the governing body and assure its position.
Schérer was relieved of his command and Napoleon took his
place. On March 27th he assumed in Nice the command of the
army.

The new general-in-chief found his troops in deplorable
condition. Of his effective force of six divisions, numbering
60,282 men, something more than 22,000 were in hospital,
leaving about 38,000 in fighting trim. These were men inured
to war and hardened to fatigue, but suffering for the want of
proper nourishment and equipment, for the declivities of the
Apennines with their poor little villages could contribute but
little to the support of the soldiers, and the state’s treasury was
empty. To these troops the manifesto now issued by the young
commander-in-chief—for Napoleon was younger than any one
of his generals—fell on their ears like a message of deliverance:
“Soldiers, you are ill-fed and almost naked; the government
owes you much, it can give you nothing. Your patience, the
courage which you exhibit in the midst of these crags, are worthy
of all admiration; but they bring you no atom of glory; not
a ray is reflected upon you. I will conduct you into the most
fertile plains in the world. Rich provinces, great cities will
be in your power; there you will find honour, glory, and
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wealth. Soldiers of Italy, will vou be lacking in courage or
perseverance?”’

This language, of which, to be sure, we have no record
bevond the recollections dictated by the Emperor at St. Helena,
is the unvarnished expression of that policy to which finan-
cial embarrassment now for some time had reduced France.
Before this time the Convention had instructed the armies
which crossed the Rhine that they must support themselves
at the expense of the enemy, and their leaders were to use
every means to obtain the required articles of subsistence from
their adversary. The Directory made no change in this maxim
beyond extending its significance. But these words are at the
same time characteristic of the man who uttered them; he
knew human nature too well to fail to promise wealth and
glory to the poor and ambitious. It required audacity to
make such promises, but still greater was the audacity of action
by means of which they were to be realized.

It will be remembered that two years previous to this time
Napoleon had demonstrated to Robespierre the importance of
effecting a passage of the Apennines from Savona, and that
he had in secret, under orders of the Dictator, informed himself
minutely as to the territory and fortifications of the enemy.*
He was now able to profit by the knowledge thus aequired,
availing himself of the very same strategic principles which
he had submitted in 1794 to the all-powerful deputy in Paris.
He said then: “In the management of a war, as in the siege of a
city, the method should be to direct the fire upon a single point.
The breach once made, equilibrium is destroyed, all further
effort is useless, and the place is taken. . . . Attacks should
not be scattered, but united. An army should be divided for
the sake of subsistence and concentrated for, combat. Unity
of command is indispensable to success. Time is everything.”

The road which leads from Savona to the north over the
crest of the Apennines divides upon the further side into two
branches, one of which proceeds westward by way of Millesimo
and Ceva to Turin, the other northeastward through Cairo

*p. 45.
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and Dego to Alessandria and thence to Milan. The former
was held by the Piedmontese, the latter by the Austrians, the
two armies being in close touch with one another. How to
make his way through between them was the problem which
confronted Napoleon. It was the plan of Beaulieu, commander-
in-chief of the Austrian forces, to attack from the east the French
division of Laharpe which had been thrown forward as far as
Voltri, while the Austrians under Argenteau were to fall upon
its rear from Montenotte, a village to the north of Savona.
The plan was badly conceived, and in order to take advantage
of this mistake on the part of the foe Napoleon was obliged to
give battle before the arrival of the expected army supplies.
Laharpe retreated before Beaulieu to Savona, while Argenteau
was surprised at Montenotte on the 12th of April by a force
twice outnumbering his own and defeated with great loss. On
the following day a second Austrian division which had been
detailed to the assistance of Colli, the Piedmontese general,
was dispersed at Millesimo by Masséna and Augereau, Bona-
parte’s subordinates.

Without loss of time Napoleon turned in person again toward
the north, and on the 15th, at Dego, completely wiped out the
remnant of Argenteau’s corps. Beaulieu, fearing to be cut off
with the main body of his army on the road to Alessandria,
withdrew on the 16th from the mountains into the plain near
Acqui. Napoleon had accordingly scored a success in his first
move on the chess-board. He had forced his army between those
of the allies, driven back the Austrians, and isolated the Pied-
montese at Ceva. The latter soon abandoned their advanced
position, and on their retreat were overtaken at Mondovi, April
22d, where they suffered grievous defeat.

The promised plain now lay open before the French, and
their advance guard soon extended as far as Cherasco and Alba.

" Napoleon had generously fulfilled his promise to his soldiers.
From this time they clung with blind confidence to him. His
genius had triumphed not only over the Austrians and Pied-
montese, but also over a third foe—mistrust and the envy of
his subordinate generals. The greater number of them were
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henceforward devoted to him, and thanks to his talent for giving
precise orders with the requisite firmness, he was able to exact
absolute obedience from such as were not personally attached
to him. The Directory in Paris was again compelled to recognize
the superiority of his policy when he, contrary to their orders,
pursued Colli rather than Beaulieu, his unanswerable argument
being that he could not operate with a hostile army in his rear.

King Victor Amadeus of Sardinia took precisely the course
which Napoleon had foreseen; insufficiently supported by
Austria, and threatened in his own country by revolutionary
tendencies, without means of strengthening himself, he turned
to the French and requested an armistice preliminary to peace.
Bonaparte granted this on condition that three forts should be
surrendered to him as security and that his army should have
freedom of passage throughout Piedmont. On April 28th the
treaty was signed whereby France rid herself of her Sardinian
opponent. At once Napoleon hastened to pursue the Austrians,
who had retreated from Piedmont into Lombardy, and were
awaiting the enemy in a strong position behind the Ticino.
But Bonaparte failed to appear at the place where Beaulieu
was expecting him; he had instead marched down the Po with
a view to crossing it at Piacenza and thus come upon the Aus-
trians in the rear. By the time that Beaulieu became aware
of this step he was able only with the utmost exertion, and at
the price of abandoning Milan, to reach Lodi and take up his
stand behind the Adda. But even this position was untenable.
On the 10th of May the French columns appeared at Lodi and
forced a passage across the river with unheard-of gallantry.
The Austrians fled, and the remains of the scattered and crest-
fallen army gathered only on the farther side of the Mincio
and in the fortress of Mantua. Lombardy was conquered.
On the 16th of May Napoleon made his triumphal entry into
Milan.

But at the seat of government in France this unprecedented
series of victories by the ambitious general was followed with
a certain feeling of apprehension. Without consultation with
Salicetti, who accompanied the army as commissioner of the
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government, Bonaparte had agreed upon a truce with Pied-
mont, while the government had intended to make this land
a republic. When at last the Directory reluctantly signed the
treaty, he wrote to Paris: “I have received the articles of peace
with Sardinia, the army has approved it.” This was a new
tone. The army now gave its sanction to the acts of the govern-
ment and set up in opposition to it a purpose and decision of its
own! Hitherto it had been the docile instrument of the leaders
in Paris. A decisive change in the order of things announced
itself in these few words which did not pass unnoticed. There
were indeed some who were of opinion that the writer of such
language should be shot. But his protector Barras and the
Jacobinical war-party put up even with this insult.

But with a view to controlling in the future the course of a
general so prone to act according to his own desires, Kellerman,
Commander-in-chief of the Army of the Alps, was ordered with
his troops to strengthen the army in Italy, he himself to share
with Bonaparte the command of the whole force and the direc-
tion of further operations, while to Salicetti was to be reserved
the management of all diplomatic affairs. The news of this
decree reached Napoleon just after his victory on the Adda, and
he was incensed by it. Give up to another the glory and the
power which he was on the point of acquiring! The thought
was intolerable. His ambition dictated a reply which his acute-
ness of perception enabled him to put in a form at once tactful
and unmistakable: “If you impose all sorts of fetters upon me,”
he wrote, May 14th, 1796, to the Directory, “if I must refer
every step to the Government Commissioners, if they have the
right to alter my dispositions, to remove or send me troops, you
may look for no further successes. . . . In the present situation
of affairs it is indispensable that you should have a general in
whom you have entire confidence. If I am not the person I
shall have no complaint to make, but shall use redoubled zeal
to merit your esteem at whatever post you may see fit to entrust
to me. Each person has his own way of making war. General
Kellerman has had more experience and will do it better than 1;
but both together we shall do it badly.” To Carnot, the Director
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in charge of military affairs, he wrote: “I can be useful to you
only if granted the same confidence which you bestowed on
me when in Paris. Whether I wage war here or elsewhere is
a matter of indifference to me; to serve my country, to merit
from posterity a pagein our history, to give the government
some proofs of my attachment and of my devotion, that is the
sum of my ambition.”

AMost certainly it was not a question of indifference to him
where he should make war; of the whole asseveration only the
appeal to posterity was sincere; the judgment of succeeding
generations was ever present in Napoleon’s mind, and even
during the last hours of his life he sought to influence that
opinion by a vast tissue of inventions and embellishments.
“Human pride,” said he to Madame de Rémusat while Consul,
“creates a public to its own taste in that ideal world which it
calls posterity. If one has brought himself to think that in a
hundred years beautiful verses will recall some fine action, that
a picture will preserve its memory, then imagination rises,
the field of battle has no further dangers, the cannon roars
in vain, it seems but the voice which is to carry through a
thousand years the name of a brave man to our remotest
descendants.” .

Whatever the case, whether he was sincere or not, the
Directory yielded. Kellerman was to them a person of small
consequence, and Bonaparte, with his talent for making requisi-
tions of which he had just given such marvellous proof, was
hardly to be spared while the treasury of France remained in
the impoverished condition of that time. The order was re-
tracted and the Directory contented itself with merely expressing
the wish that an expedition toward Rome and southern Italy
should precede the march northward. “From this time,”
according to the recollections at St. Helena, “Napoleon had
faith in his own greatness and in his call to play a decisive
part in the politics of France.”” The fact was that he was now
completely at liberty to do as seemed best to him in Italy.
And the matter of first importance was to reduce Beaulieu to
entire harmlessness.



84 The Campaigns in Italy 11796

The territory of the Republic of Venice extended at that
time a long distance westward, as far as the Lake of Como; Brescia
and Bergamo formed Venetian provinces. Bonaparte marched
4 portion of his army into this country, thereby threatening
the retreat of the Austrian commander from the Mincio toward
the north and leading him to suppose that the French were going
to invade the Tyrol. Beaulieu fell into the snare and scattered
his forces along the whole length of the Mincio from Mantua to
Peschiera. Suddenly Bonaparte turned toward the southeast
and on the 30th of May forced his way with but little difficulty
across the Mincio at Borghetto. He thus cut in twain the
Austrian army, one portion being driven back into Mantua and
the other on to the Adige and toward Tyrol. With the excep-
tion of 12,000 men who occupied Mantua, there was not an
Austrian corps left on Ttalian soil and Bonaparte could turn
his attention toward subjugating the allies of the emperor, or
at least to extorting from them the heaviest possible contribu-
tions. The Directory had charged him to “bring away from
Italy everything which was of value and capable of transporta-
tion.” He fulfilled these instructions to the letter. On the
9th of May he concluded a truce with the Duke of Parma, and on
the 17th with the Duke of Modena, in both cases at the price
of many millions of francs besides works of art and supplies of
all kinds, for paintings by the old masters figured beside beeves
and corn in the list of his demands. After his victory on the
Mincio Naples was constrained to sign a treaty according to the
terms of which that state promised to remain neutral and to
withdraw her ships from the Britich fleet. Thereupon the
Papal government, fearing to see the KEternal City occupied
by the godless republicans, ransoied the capital on the 23d of
June by surrendering to the French the Legations of Ferrara
and Bologna and the important harbour of Ancona, promising
that English ships should be kept at a distance from the coast of
the Papal States, besides making payment of something over
20,000,000 franes and yielding from their galleries a great number
of works of art. Finally, the trading port of Leghorn was seized
and occupied a few days later, with a view to further crippling
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the English, whose merchandise was confiscated and sold to the
profit of the French treasury.

But the French were vet far from being where they could
enjoy their successes in peace. Austria, whose interests, as has
been shown, depended upon maintaining her possessions and
influence in Italy, was straining every nerve to reconquer her
lost position. General Wurmser, who had bheen in command
of the Army on the Rhine, was ordered thence to the Tyrol to
replace Beaulieu at the head of the army and, with the aid of
fresh troops, to advance to the relief of Mantua.

Napoleon was fully aware that he had before him a struggle
of no mean extent, upon the issue of which depended the question
whether he were able or not to maintain his own despotic position,
and he took his measures accordingly. What the young general
accomplished during the ensuing months, in combat with four
armies successively relieving one another, belongs among the
wonders of military history. His successes were due to the
superiority of a genius of inexhaustible resources, a clear-sighted-
ness which recognized at a glance favourable or unfavourable
points in a territory, as well as the weakness or strength, ad-
vantages or mistakes on the part of the enemy. Napoleon’s
watchfulness was always on the alert, he grasped.all phases and
all details of an action and kept them in mind, and he fully
appreciated the value of making use of the right moment.

To these considerations must be added another. The
generals who were his opponents in these Italian campaigns
were trained and experienced in a methodical kind of strategy
only and, like all the generals of the older governments, in
duty bound to be as saving as possible of their costly armies
of mercenaries; to them a series of bloodless manceuvres was
the object aimed at. The generals of the Revolution, on the
contrary, commanded armies composed of hundreds of thousands
of their countrymen, animated by a frenzy for conquest and
liberation; their recruits cost nothing, and with war thus carried
on at the expense of foreign nations they had an immense ad-
vantage over those who were obliged to subordinate strategy
to economic considerations; their object was decisive battle
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at whatever cost. Frederick the Great, of whose writings Na-
poleon was an assiduous student, had advocated the same prin-
ciple; dire necessity and the pressure brought to bear against him
by allied and superior forces had compelled him to act upon it.
In one essential point, however, his method of warfare differed
from Bonaparte’s, for, as has been very justly remarked, “he
did not, like the French general, have 10,000 men a month to
spend.” Dubois de Crancé and Carnot share the merit of having
organized the revolutionary armies. But to Napoleon belongs
the honour of having applied these tactics in offensive warfare
in a manner displaying transcendent genius. Throughout the
campaign which was about to take place, the contrast between
the leaders of the antagonistic forces was but too clearly dis-
played. The general of the republican army was scarce twenty-
seven years old, reckless and daring, heeding only the commands
of his own inspiration, while the commander of the Austrian
troops at the age of seventy-nine was dependent for direction
upon the Emperor, his ministers, and the Aulic Council.

At the end of July—far too late—the Austrians, in two
divisions, advanced impetuously southward from the Tyrol.
One of these columns, under command of Quosdanovich
marched down the western bank of Lake Garda, the other,
under Wurmser, followed the course of the Adige. Their
forces outnumbered those of the French by more than 10,000
men, the latter having not more than 42,000 in fighting condi-
tion, including those who were engaged in laying siege to Mantua.
Should they succeed in the execution of their plan to surround
Napoleon’s army by means of concerted and simultaneous
action, its fate was sealed, and the outlook appeared so much
the more ominous since the Austrians gave proofs in the very
first engagements of unusual courage and firmness, and had cut
off the avenue of retreat for the French to either Milan or Verona.
Napoleon recognized to the full the danger of the situation and
considered the advisability of making a retreat behind the
Adda, but finally allowed himself to be led by the audacious
confidence of Augereau, one of his generals, and risked an engage-
ment, though in constant danger of being caught between two
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fires. The daring venture was sucecessful. With all available
troops he threw himself first on Quosdanovich, defeated him
on the 3d and 4th of August at Lonato, and compelled his re-
treat toward the Tyrol. Then he turned against Wurmser,
whose overcautious advance cost him a crushing defeat at
Castiglione on the 5th of August; for him also the only way of
escape lay toward the mountains. Mantua, whose blockade had
been necessarily abandoned, was at once reinvested by the
French.

But no decisive outcome had yet been reached notwith-
standing these victories. As long as this important fortress
was not within his power Napoleon could not consider making
further advance, inasmuch as the mere investiture of the city
required so great a proportion of his troops as to make it impossi-
ble for the rest to penetrate unsupported into the Tyrol or the
interior of Austria.

The Court of Vienna, moreover, appreciated as clearly the
significance of this stronghold to themselves; its loss would
entail that of all the Austrian possessions in Italy, and for this
reason their efforts were redoubled to relieve and liberate the
city. On the 19th of August positive instructions were sent to
Wurmser by Emperor Francis bidding him advance again to
the relief of Mantua. This order he obeyed early in September
with one division of the army through the valley of the Brenta,
while the second, under command of Davidovich, was to hold a
position on the Adige, whence, in case Wurmser should turn
westward from Bassano and draw the enemy upon himself,
they were to descend the valley of that river at full speed to his
assistance. But shortly after the opening of this action the whole
scheme was shattered by the course pursued by Napoleon, who
marched with the bulk of his army into the Tyrol, where he de-
feated Davidowich and drove him far behind Trent, then, turn-
ing into the valley of the Brenta, hastened to overtake Wurmser,
and inflicted upon him an overwhelming defeat on September
8th.

Only by the practice of the most strenuous exertions did the
aged general with the remnants of his vanquished army succeed
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in gaining the sheltering walls of Mantua. One division had
made its retreat eastward behind the Isonzo. This enterprise
had cost Austria more than 100 cannon, all her munitions of war,
and far above 10,000 men.

For Bonaparte the achievement was one of much wider-
reaching importance than had been his victory at Castiglione.
Its significance was enhanced by the fact that it came just at
the time when disaster had overtaken the armies at the North
under Moreau and Jourdan, who had lost the advantages which
they had previously obtained in Germany. By the recall of a
portion of her troops from the Rhine to the aid of the forces con-
tending against Napoleon, Austria had considerably weakened
her forces in the North. The young Archduke Charles, who
had given evidence of military talent in the Netherlands, now
succeeded Wurmser in the chief command of the army. To
him it seemed advisable (overestimating as he did the strength
of his adversary) to withdraw his troops to the east of the Rhine.
Moreau, who now, in place of Pichegru, commanded the Army
of the South, took this as a challenge to cross the river, where-
upon he defeated the Archduke and forced him to retreat
beyond the Danube. Jourdan also was successful in an advance
made against the second division of the Austrian army under
Wartensleben which enabled him to invade Franconia. Wiir-
temberg and Baden hastened to make peace with France, while
Saxony recalled her troops from the field and declared herself
neutral. It seemed as if the projected junction of the Repub-
lican armies in the Tyrol for a united advance upon Vienna
were really about to take place. Just then, early in September,
Archduke Charles met Jourdan at Wirzburg and totally de-
feated him, thus compelling both his army and Moreau’s to
retreat from southern Germany back to the Rhine. The honour
of 'the Austrian arms was at least splendidly retrieved. More
than ever now everything dependcd upon the fate of Mantua.

After his last victories Bonaparte had again acted contrary
to the intentions of the Directory, which purposed restoring
Lombardy to Austria when peace should be agreed upon in
return for Belgium and the Rhine frontier, His method of pro-
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cedure had been to stir up revolt among the peoples of northern
Italy against their hereditary rulers, and to incite them to the
creation of national legions; such were, in fact, organized in
Milan and Bologna. Austrian prestige hung in the balance.
The most strenuous efforts were put forth to maintain it. Ex-
tensive armaments, especially in Croatia and the military borders,
were fitted out, the Tyrolese sharpshooters were called into
requisition. Everything was done to increase the effective
force of the Imperial Army, so that presently Davidovich found
himself at the head of upward of 18,000 men in the Tyrol, while
Quosdanovich was in command in Friuli of more than 25,000.
The command of the whole army was entrusted to Alvinezy,
a brave but aged general who had become immovably attached
to the old methods. It seemed as if Fate had ordained that the
generals opposed to this young and energetic genius should be of
the oldest and those most wedded to tradition, thus giving to his
victories the appearance of being the triumph of a new era.* The
Austrians again had the advantage in point of numbers when on
November 1st they advanced westward from the Piave under
command of Alvinezy, and southward toward Verona under
Davidovich. But these troops consisted largely of young
recruits, who, like the Croatians, showed their best points in

*In 1797 Bonaparte expressed himself thus in regard to the enemy:
“My military successes have been great; but then consider the service of
the Emperor! His soldiers are good and brave, though heavy and inac-
tive as compared with mine; but what officers! They are wretched.
The generals who were sent against me were unfit and absurd. A Beaulieu
who had not the slightest knowledge about localities in Italy; a Wurmser,
deaf and eternally slow; an Alvinczy who was altogether incompetent.
They have been accused of being bribed by me; those are nothing but
falsehoods, for I never had such a thing in view. But I can prove that no
one of these three generals had a single staff of which several of the
superior officers were not devoted to me and in my pay. Hence I was
apprised not only of their plans but of their designs, and I interfered
with them while they were still under deliberation.” (Jung, ‘‘Bona-
parte,”’ III. 154.)

To what extent this harsh judgment is justified there is no way of
ascertaining. Other evidence indeed indicated that demoralization did
exist among the officers of the Austrian army.
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attack, while their lack of firmness and endurance soon put them
at a recognizable disadvantage.

And in truth the opening of this new campaign was in every
way unfavourable to Napoleon, so that for a time he stood in the
same danger as at Castiglione of being attacked by both divisions
of the Austrian army at the same time.

But the enemy did not take advantage of the victory which
they gained on November 12th at Verona, where the French lost
some 3,000 men, and Napoleon thus had time to prepare a new
stroke of genius by means of which he caught Alvinczy in both
flank and rear.

With unheard-of daring he reduced to a minimum the forces in
Verona and before Mantua, and with all available troops, about
20,000 men, descended the course of the Adige, which he crossed at
Ronco to the eastern bank of the river, in order to surprise the
enemy. But this was by no means to be so easily accomplished.

At Arcole on the little river Alpon two battalions of Croatians,
commanded by their colonel, Brigido, stationed themselves so as
to defend the bridge until the arrival of reinforcements. Every-
thing depended upon forcing a passage across and securing the
hamlet which commands the position before the strength of the
foe should be increased by the expected forces. The successive
assaults of the French were repulsed by the murderous fire of the
.enemy, who were under cover; thereupon Napoleon in person
seized a flag and rushed upon the bridge, followed by his staff;
an aide-de-camp fell at his side and several officers were wounded.
But all in vain: an attack of the Austrians brought everything
into confusion, and the commander-in-chief, who was swept
backwards in the rush of the fleeing soldiers, fell into a quagmire,
where his life was in the utmost peril. With difficulty his aide
Marmont and his brother Louis succeeded in extricating him
from the morass and in concealing him from the pursuing enemy.
Only under cover of the night did the French regain their position
on the Adige (November 15th). Meanwhile the whole force
under Alvinczy had massed itself around Arcole and there the
battle was renewed on the next day and the following in a bloody
and long-indecisive struggle, until at length the physical endur-
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ance of Napoleon's hardened troops carried the dayv against
the brave Austrian reeruits, and in the afternoon of the 17th
the bold charge of a handful of mounted officers sufficed to assure
the victory on the Alpon. The French had won in the three
days’ batttle of Arcole (November 15th to 17th, 1796).

Davidovich, who through delay had failed to take part
therein, was in like manner attacked immediately after the
battle and compelled to withdraw into the Tryol. The third
attempt to relieve Mantua had failed.

But Austria ventured a fourth trial, being unwilling to yield
this advanced position in Italy until her utmost endeavours
had been put forth. In the opening of the year 1797 Alvinczy
made another advance against the enemy, this time from the
Tyrol, while two lesser subdivisions commanded by Provera
and Bajalich marched from the east to overcome Napoleon.
Alvinezy had himself no further hope of victory and was only
acting under orders of the Emperor. And yet there came a
critical moment, on the plateau of Rivoli, which, properly put
to advantage, might have brought about decisive results in
favour of the Austrians. This was on the 14th of January,
when one of the Austrian columns fell upon the French position,
threatening its rear, while four others attacked it from the front
with marked success. But Bonaparte was no longer the same
man as before Lonato; he hurled all his available forces against
one of these columns, which recoiled under the shock, the three
others followed, and soon all the forces of the enemy attacking
from the front were put to flight. The column executing the
flank movement found itself cut off and was taken captive by
the French. The battle of Rivoli terminated in a total rout
of the Austrians. Their last attempt had gone against them.
On the 3d of February the fortress of Mantua capitulated.
Austria’s dominion in Italy was at an end.

Thugut, a man of inflexible purpose and of great political
ability, was scarcely able to believe the fact. Hardly two years
previous, when Austria had divided with Russia all that re-
mained of Poland, he had obtained the promise of political
support from this northern neighbour for whatever further
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acquisitions Austria should make in Italy, an agreement similar
to that which had formerly been made with Kaunitz and Joseph
II. But in November, 1796, Catharine II. died, just at the time
when the command had been issued for the mustering of the
Russian auxiliary troops, and her successor Czar Paul I. refused
to contribute aid toward the aggrandizement of Austria. And
when in addition to this disappointment Austria’s other ally,
England, withdrew her fleet from the Mediterranean, thereby
greatly facilitating the operations of the French in Ttaly, the
task became more than ever difficult. And now the struggle
had ended in a decisive overthrow. Yet in spite of all Thugut
was of opinion that the contest ought not to cease. At the
close of the preceding year, relying upon the strength of the
Austrian forces alone, he had refused the proposal of the Direc-
tory which required the cession of Belgium and the Rhine
frontier. Even recent events had not sufficed to shake this
confidence. ‘“We are not vet at the end of our resources,” he
exclaimed; “all we need is to gather together all our courage.”
He advocated removing all troops from the Rhine so as to con-
centrate their entire force in Italy, a step which might in truth
far better have been taken a year earlier. Archduke Charles,
who had heen victorious in the preceding year, was to assume
the chief command of the Italian army, reinforced by the divi-
sions which had been active on the Rhine, and to make a vigorous
advance toward the South and thus bar the passage for Bona-
parte through central Austria to Vienna. It was, of course,
essential that this move should be made as promptly as possible.
But the contrary occurred. The Empress was a daughter of
the Queen of Naples, and she, at her mother’s solicitation, be-
sought the Emperor to make peace; he was moreover prejudiced
by the Tory party against his minister, Thugut, who was a
commoner who had risen to power. Accordingly he hesitated
which course to pursue, and it was several weeks before he
finally determined to continue the war. And when at length
this resolution had been taken, it was not in the Tyrol that the
main body of the army was assembled, but in Friuli, whither it
had retreated after the defeat of Rivoli and where it had re-
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mained, evidentiy because there it was most easily supported.
The fatal drawback to this arrangement was that the reinforce-
ments from the Rhine were thus detained several weeks longer
on the way to their destination, communication between Friuli
and the Tyrol by means of the Val Sugana being interrupted.
These troops were in fact still on the way when operations
were begun by the French in the early part of March, 1797.
Tpon the part of the French, also, hostilities against Austria
had not been continued immediately after the fall of Mantua.
Bonaparte’s army, as well, had suffered and was in need of
considerable additions from the Rhine and the Sambre to fit it
for new and daring enterprises. The intervening time was turned
to account in a move upon Rome. Pius VI. had refused the
proposals of peace made by the Directory, since they encroached
upon the jurisdiction of the Church in demanding recognition
of the civil constitution of the clergy in France, the suppression
of the Romish Inquisition, and sundry other similar concessions.
In accordance with an agreement entered into with Austria
he had also failed to pay to France the millions of indemnity
promised in June. But with the fall of Mantua the cause of
the Holy Father was lost, and on the 1st of February, 1797,
Napoleon declared war against him. With a small force he
dispersed the Papal troops, who proved to be unspeakable
cowards, and opened up a way for himself through the Romagna
and the Duchy of Urbino as far as Ancona. It will never be
forgotten how Lannes, who commanded the advance-guard, at
the slightest possible cost compelled thousands of the foe to
surrender, nor how, while himself escorted by a few officers, he
came one day upon some hundreds of cavalrymen of the army
of the Pope, who, upon being ordered to dismount, were entirely
disconcerted and allowed themselves to be disarmed. It was
in vain that the monks exhorted the Papal soldiery to courage
and steadfastness, in vain that everywhere images of the
Madonna stood with averted eyes in wrath against the French;
the soldiers of the Pope were not a whit the more courageous,
and the fall of Rome was imminent. But here Napoleon stayed
his hand. To threaten the capital wou!d have entailed the
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flight of the Pope and prolonged a war which the General re-
garded as a mere episode in the greater conflict and wished to
bring to & close with the greatest speed consistent with profit.
He was far too shrewd a statesman to underestimate, as did the
Directory, the immense political importance of the Church,
and his sagacity in that respect contributed much to his success.
Instead of striking at the root of Catholicism, as he was in-
structed to do, he left the Pope entirely at liberty in all matters
pertaining to religion, and Rome unmolested; on the 19th of
February he concluded at Tolentino a treaty which was, from
a material and political point of view, advantageous to the
French in every particular: Pius renounced every alliance
antagonistic to France, closed his harbours to the English, re-
linquished the Legations of Bologna, Ferrara, and Romagna
together with the important port of Ancona to the French,
and paid 14,000,000 francs in addition to the 16,000,000 still due.

Once more Bonaparte had carried out his own intentions,
contrary to those of the Directory, precisely as he had concluded
the armistice with the King of Sardinia upon his own authority.
It was evident that his designs in regard to Italy differed from
those of the government. And what may these designs have
heen? Something may be inferred from the fact that he at
one time thought it necessary to defend himself against the
charge of having had thoughts of setting himself up as Duke of
Milan or even King. It is not impossible that he may have had
some such object in view and consequently sought a modus
rivendi with the Pope. More probably, however, he now had
o clear and definite apprehension of the possibility of himself
reigning some time on the Seine and of then establishing his
rule on a firmer basis and extending his sway over a wider
territory than the Directory had succeeded in doing. Carnot
suspected him of being “a second Czsar, who would not hesitate
to cross the Rubicon as soon as the occasion should present.”
Certain it is that of the tremendous contributions levied in
Italy but a small portion was put at the disposal of the govern-
ment and used in the support of the other armies. On the con-
trary, Napcleon was far from displeased when his generals seized
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their share of the booty; he thus assured himself of their devo-
tion. The treasure thus obtained was secretly conveyed to
Switzerland for safe-keeping.

When Bonaparte arrived in Ancona the proximity of Turkey
made a profound impression upon him. “Ancona is an excellent
port,” he wrote to Paris; “in twenty-four hours from here one
can reach Macedonia, and in ten days Constantinople. We
must keep this port when a general peace is made, and it must
remain always a French possession; this point will give us in-
valuable influence upon the destinies of the Ottoman Empire,
and will give us the mastery of the Adriatic Sea as we now
have that of the Mediterranean through Marseilles, the island
of Corsica, and St. Pierre.”” Doubtless the form of Alexander
the Great appeared at this time to his imagination and suggested
to his ambition the idea of an Oriental Empire of the like of
which the Directory then scarcely dreamed. ~Under its. spell
he afterwards made his expedition into Egypt, and it was only
upon his return thence in order to establish his dominion in
France that the alluring vision of the conquering Macedonian
gave place to that of Charlemagne as model. It was in just this
respect that Napoleon differed from his immediate precursors
in their systems of revolutionary conquest of the world,—from
the doctrinaire Girondists- with their ideal of universal liberty,
and from the Directors with their system of purposeless agita-
tion,—that his ambitious designs were based upon the solid
ground of history and carried out according to a policy with a
definite aim. - Only the fact that he too was never able entirely
to free himself from the spell of the Revolution finally caused
his downfall.*

* At the very time when Bonaparte’s victories in Ttaly were oceurring
in such rapid succession Mallet du Pan addressed these remarkable words
to the Court at Vienna: “Those who think that the imperishable Republic
will perish in the course of time are certainly correct in their surmises,
but if they mean thereby that this downfall more or less near is to insure
actual stability to the rest of Europe, if they expect that everything
then will change from white to black, they are greatly mistaken; for to the
Republic of to-day there may succeed another Republic which may be under
either a monarch or a dictator. Who knows? In the course of twenly years
a nation in commotion may give a hundred different forms to a revolution of
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The campaign of 1796 had established Napoleon’s military
fame; he had even eclipsed Hoche, who had been so much
admired. But he knew very well that public opinion in France
was more in favour of peace than of new victories, and that the
Directory was detested and execrated because of its war policy.
Flections for replacing one third of the members of the Couneil
of Five Hundred were at hand, and no one doubted that their
places would be filled by conservatives in favour of peace, and
a majority thus created hostile to the Directors. Bonaparte
foresaw that if he should succeed in compelling Austria to
conclude a preliminary peace upon terms favourable to France
he would thus not only gain the favour of the people, who had
not yet forgotten the 13th Vendémiaire, but he would also
put the five Directors under obligations to himself, since they
would then be in a position to face the elections more composedly.
But Bonaparte knew also how highly Austria valued her footing
in Italy, and that she would not permit herself to be thrust out
of the peninsula without determined resistance, and that for a
long time the power on the Danube had planned the conquest
of Venice. He accordingly resolved upon availing himself of
the first opportunity to offer Emperor Francis the territory of
San Marco and its dependencies in Istria and Dalmatia in
exchange for Lombardy and Belgium. The fact that he should
thereby destroy an independent neutral state was no obstacle
in the eves of this man whose ruling principle it was to press
forward toward his aim regardless of the consequences to others.
Had not the legitimate monarchies dealt with Poland in the

this kind.” Mallet du Pan did not at all events suspect then that the ‘‘revo-
lutionary monarch ’’ was to be the very man of whom he then wrote con-
temptuously. ““This Bonaparte, this little puppet with dishevelled hair,
whom the orators of the Councils delight to call ‘the young hero’ and
‘the conqueror of Italy,” will soon have to suffer for his mountebank.
glory, his misconduet, his thefts, his fusillades, his insolent slanders It
would be an entire mistake, in reading the last declaration which the
Directory had printed in eulogy of the General, to supposc its expressions
sincere. There were voices in favour of sending ‘the young hero’ to the
‘Place de la Révolution’ to have a score of bullets lodged in his pate;
but, as a friend of Barras, protected by the Jacobins of all classes, he has
escaped the penalty of his folly.”
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same manner? It is evident that this plan already filled his
mind when he began the campaign of 1797. To accomplish
his purpose it was indispensable that Austria should be placed
at the earliest possible moment in such a situation as to make
this offer acceptable, and that before the armies on the Rhine
under Hoche and Moreau might be able to dispute his laurels.
While the Austrian reinforcements were yet far distant,
those of the Trench arrived at headquarters during the latter
days of February; the beginning of March Napoleon resumed
hostilities. Three small divisions under General Joubert were
ordered to the Tyrol to protect the flank of the French army
against more than 20,000 Austrians. With but four others,
amounting in all to about 34,000 men, Bonaparte himself under-
took the expedition which was to lead to peace. As in the
preceding year at the opening of the campaign, his plan was
once again to prevent the armies of the adversary from effecting
a union of forces by placing himself between the two, and then,
with a superior number of troops, to defeat the main body of
the enemy. On March 10th he brushed aside the advance-
guard of the Austrians stationed on the Piave and hastened
on to the Tagliamento, behind which Archduke Charles had
withdrawn with the main body of his army, while Masséna
upon the French left endeavoured to turn the right wing of the
enemy. Before these superior forces the Austrians, instead
of receding to the northeast along the valley of the Tagliamento
to Pontebba, retreated southeastward to Udine and Cividale
and at length to the Isonzo, where they intended to await the
arrival of the troops from the Rhine. But these did not come,
and Bonaparte, who continued to press impetuously forward,
threatened their position, which now became untenable. The
Austrians withdrew in two columns, one marching from Goerz
straight toward Tarvis, the other aiming for Laibach. They
planned to unite at Villach, but that proved impracticable, for
the Pontebba Pass, inadequately defended after a struggle of
some days, fell into the hands of Masséna on the 23d of March,
thus cutting off communication with the I’usterthal, through
which the eagerly expected reinforcements were to have come.
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For the present any serious resistance to the French was out of
the question. In these few days the losses of the Austrians
had been enormous, particularly in prisoners; the Archduke
had remaining at his disposal only about 15,000 men; these
he conducted first to Klagenfurt and then northward on the
high road to Vienna.

This seemed to Napoleon the favourable moment, before
Hoche and Moreau could strike a decisive blow in Germany,
for making his proposals of peace, especially as his position was
more or less critical in the heart of a hostile country’, without any
possibility of support from the army in Germany. On the
31st of March he wrote from Klagenfurt to the Prince a letter
which he himself designated as “philosophical.” He alludes
therein to the attempt on the part of the Directory to conclude
peace with Austria, which attempt had been frustrated by
England. =~ “Is there then no hope whatever of coming to some
agreement between us, and must it be that, for the sake of the
interest or passions of a nation untouched by the evils of this
war, we must continue to cut each other’s throats? I appeal to
you, Sir, the Commander-in-chief, who by your birth are so near
the throne and above all the petty passions which so often
animate ministers and governments, are you determined to win
for yourself the title of benefactor of all mankind and of true
deliverer of Germany? . . . As for myself, Monsieur the General-
in-chief, if the proposals which I have the honour to submit to
you could be the means of saving the life of a single human being,
I should account myself more justly proud of the civie erown to
which I should feel myself thus entitled than of the melancholy
glory which may come as the reward of military successes.”

In order to give proper emphasis to these words, he recalled
to himself at Lienz, Joubert, who had made a victorious advance
as far as Brixen and had driven back the enemy to the north-
west as far as Sterzing and to the west as far as Méran, and
ordered Masséna to seize the passes at Neumarkt, an operation
during the course of which, in truth, the life of more than ‘‘one
human being” was sacrificed. Thence he was to advance far
enough into the valley of the Mur to be able to cut off at St.
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Michael and Leoben all communication remaining to the enemy
with the west. On April 7th, this task having been accom-
plished, Masséna entered Leoben with his troops.

Archduke Charles meanwhile had lost no time in transmit-
ting Napoleon’s letter to Thugut. This statesman was likewise
unwilling to enter unsupported by a military force into negotia-
tions with a general who had perhaps already advanced too far
into the territory of his foe. Thousands of volunteers were
enlisted, the Hungarians were called upon for assistance, and
preparations made for the defence of Vienna before the plenipo-
tentiaries were sent by the minister to Leoben.

Here, at the Chateau Gooess, were carried on the negotiations
between General Merveldt and Marquis Gallo, representing
Austria, and Bonaparte, in which the latter made the astounding
offer of the Venetian mainland in exchange for Milan and Bel-
gium. The proposal made a sensation at Vienna. Importuned
by both Court and nobility to make peace, unsupported by
Russia, deluded by England, whence he had been led to expect a
fleet, in the Adriatic in addition to considerable subsidies, and
convinced of Prussia’s determination to extend her borders, the
outlook was indeed unpromising and Thugut reluctantly yielded.
The acquisition of the long-desired territory seemed in a measure
to indemnify his country for the losses she was sustaining; there
still remained to her a firm foothold on Italian soil, and at the first
favourable opportunity the lost preponderance might be re-
gained. But argeement became more difficult when Napoleon
introduced his demand for the relinquishment of Modena. It
was clear that his intention was to restrain Austrian influence in
Ttaly within the line traced by the river Oglio, or, if possible, to
make the Adige the boundary of the dominion of Francis II.
Thugut, on the contrary, sought to preserve Modena to its prince
and the House of Habsburg, and to establish a boundary line to
the political power of France which should extend from Lake Iseo
along the Oglio to the Po, and then should follow the valley of
the Enza, and strike the coast near Massa and Carrara, thus
cutting off the peninsula from the territory of the Republic.
But Austria failed to secure her point in this diplomatic contro-
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versy; Modena had to be yielded and remained a portion of the
Republic. On April 18th, 1797, the compact was signed in the
Eggenwald Garden at Leoben. It was merely a preliminary
convention, containing indeed the principles of agreement, but
capable of modification in regard to sundry points when the final
treaty should be ratified. ~According to its secret articles Austria
was to cede Milan and the Duchy of Modena to the newly-
created Republic of Lombardy, while Belgium was to be given to
France; Austria was, on the other hand, to acquire the mainland
of Venice as far as the Oglio, besides its dependencies (Istria and
Dalmatia) on the eastern shore of the Adriatic, for which Venice
was to be indemnified by the bestowal of the three former papal
legations, Bologna, Ferrara, and Romagna.

At the very moment when Napoleon was putting his signa-
ture to the contract which ended hostilities, Hoche was winning a
momentous victory from the Austrians on the Rhine, which he
followed up by penetrating deep into the country of the Germans.
But these victories came too late. Bonaparte had rendered them
fruitless, that is, provided that the Directory were willing to
ratify a treaty which, as a matter of fact, he had been totally
unauthorized to make. In a letter accompanying the papers
he had artfully laid stress upon the merely preliminary character
of the agreement, and laid at Austria’s door the initiative in the
detestable Venetian business which had in reality been his own
work. The government, thus misled, and desirous of remain-
ing upon friendly terms with the mighty General, raised no objec-
tion and ratified the treaty making the one stipulation that no
further steps were to be taken against Venice, inasmuch as the
transaction which had been proposed was in violation of the prin-
ciples that a people should have the right to determine their
own future. The exhortation came too late. One week before,
on the 3d of May, Napoleon had declared war on the Senate of the
island city. He had deemed it quite unnecessary to inform the
Directory that he had undertaken in Leoben to obtain the
Venetian territory for Austria, and for this cause would open
hostilities against the Republic of San Marco immediately upon
the conclusion of the treaty.



Er. 27] Napoleon’s Designs on Venice 101

The pretext for this he had long been holding in readiness.
In spite of his statements to the contrary, it may safely be
assumed that Napoleon before invading Austria had organized
in the Venetian cities also a democratic revolution against the
aristocratic rule of that state. The “Patriots” rose in revolt.
The unlooked-for result was that the peasantry, who were friendly
to the government, turned upon the insurgents, and a number
of French soldiers, who had openly taken part in the uprising,
were killed. Thusin Verona there occurred a counter-revolution
which cost the lives of many democrats and Frenchmen, and it
was quelled only by the energetic intervention of the French
garrison. Two days later there took place in the harbour of
Venice a fight between a French and a Venetian war-ship in
which the captain of the former was killed. Thereupon fol-
lowed Napoleon’s declaration of war against the Doge. A
democratic uprising in the city openly supported by a French
Chargé d’Affaires contributed largely toward increasing the
disturbance. On May 15th the “Great Council” was forced to
abdicate and a provisional government was set up by the “Pa-
triots,” who at once disbanded such troops as the government
still had at its disposal and came to an agreement with Napo-
leon according to which that general, in return for a consideration
of 5,000,000 francs and a number of war-ships, promised to cease
hostilities and to give the Republic the protection of his arms
(May 16th, 1797). How little in earnest he was with this promise
of protection is shown by the fact that within a few days he
offered to the Marquis Gallo, who had been sent by Thugut to
Milan to conduct negotiations for the final treaty, to surrender
to Austria the city of Venice in addition to the mainland territory,
on condition that the Austrian boundary line be receded from
the Oglio to the Adige (May 24th, 1797). In order to reassure
the Venetians, he wrote, two days later, to the new municipality:
“Whatever the circumstances, I shall do all in my power to give
proof of my warm desire to see your liberty confirmed and to see
unhappy Italy at length take her place with glory, free and inde-
pendent of all foreign powers, upon the world’s stage, to resume
among the great nations the rank to which she is entitled by
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nature, position, and destiny. . . . Venice has the only popu-
lation worthy of the blessing of liberty.”” Directly contradic-
tory to all of these statements was his report to the Directory
written on the following day, which reads: “Venice, which has
been in process of decay ever since the discovery of the Cape of
Good Hope and the rise of Triest and Ancona, can but with
difficulty survive the blows which we have just dealt her. This
is a wretched, cowardly people, entirely unfit for liberty, without
land and under water; it seems but natural that they should be
turned over to those to whom we are giving the mainland. We
shall take all their ships, we shall despoil the arsenal, carry off
all their cannon, and destroy their bank. Corfu and Ancona we
will reserve for ourselves.” The haughty city was to be bled ere
her carcass should be delivered over to Austria.

It was questionable whether the Court of Vienna, which
desired above all things to acquire the three papal legations,
would accept the new proposals made by Napoleon. But
meanwhile affairs in Paris were assuming an aspect which of neces-
sity affected Bonaparte’s attitude. In these affairs he was per-
sonally concerned, and in consequence they reacted upon foreign
relations.

The elections of April, 1797, had resulted, as was to have
been foreseen, in an outcome entirely unfavourable to the
Directory, giving the Moderates a majority in the Councils
hoth of the Five Hundred and of the Ancients. A new Director
was also to be appointed at this time. The choice fell upon
Barthélemy, who with Carnot, likewise a Moderate, formed a
Conservative minority in opposition to Barras, Rewbell, an
Larévelliére. Consequently from this time the democratic-
Jacobin element prevailed in the Directory, while the Conserva-
tives and Royalists controlled the legislature. The antagonism
grew fiercer from day to day and a clash was inevitable. One
day the opposing majority would spring an attack on the
wretched financial policy of the government, which with diffi-
culty continued its existence despite a double bankruptey;
next day its dealings with priests and émigrés would be arraigned,
then its colonial administration, its commercial policy, and
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finally its foreign policy, which was more and more clearly re-
vealing its character of revolutionary propagandism, whose
acknowledged aim was to make Europe republican. The
Directory was openly accused of prosecuting an endless war
beecause it could not maintain the troops at home. The suicide
of several naval officers, who took their lives because they were
unable to procure food, produced a deep impression. The
proceedings in Italy were censured with especial severity, and
particularly the dealings against Venice. The Directory was
accused by the right wing of the opposition of declaring war
without securing consent of the legislature as the Constitution
demanded, and of interfering, equally unconstitutionally, in
the domestic affairs of foreign states, thus systematically pre-
venting the settlement of a definitive peace.

Bonaparte, who felt himself personally implicated in these
charges, espoused the cause of the majority of the Directory
against the majority of the legislature. On July 14th, in honour
of the anniversary of the storming of the Bastille, he issued a
manifesto to his army which contained a formal declaration of
war against the adversaries of his party. The opposition thus
menaced was composed in part of royalists, and these were
detested by the republican armies chiefly on account of the
émigrés. ‘““Soldiers,” said he, “I see that you are profoundly
affected by the misfortunes which threaten your country; but
the country cannot undergo any real dangers. The same men
who have made her triumphant over Europe in coalition are
at hand. Mountains separate us from France, but you would
clear these with the rapidity of the eagle if necessary to uphold
the Constitution, to defend liberty and protect the government
and republicans. ' Soldiers, the government keeps watch over
the laws which are entrusted to its custody. The Royalists
will cease to exist from the moment that they show themselves.
Let us not be disquieted and let us swear by the spirits of the
heroes who have died beside us in the cause of liberty, let us
swear upon our new banners, implacable war to all enemies of
the Republic and of the Constitution of the year III!” This
summons found an echo in every garrison of his army, and in
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the other armies as well, and sundry detachments affirmed their
loyal devotion to the Republic in addresses to the Directory.
In addition Bonaparte composed a number of memorials which,
in a way as masterly as it was false, were intended to justify
his course in relation to Venice. “I forewarn you,” he vocifer-
ates to the orators of the opposition, “and I speak in the name
of 80,000 men, that the day is past when cowardly lawyers and
wretched babblers sent soldiers to the guillotine!” And he
was not the man to content himself with words. He sent one
of his generals, Augereau, to Paris bearing the addresses of the
divisions, and put him at the disposal of Barras and his two
colleagues for their defence in case of need. Hardly had he
arrived before he was put in command of the Army of the
Interior. Besides this Napoleon rendered the three Directors
another and peculiar service. In Venice one of the principal
agents of the Bourbons, the Comte d’Antraigues, had fallen
into Napoleon’s hands, and in conversation with him the count
made disclosures concering Pichegru’s relations with the Bourbon
Prince de Condé in 1795. Such revelations were now the more
valuable since Pichegru had become one of the leaders of the
majority and President of the “Five Hundred.” By means of
promises or threats Napoleon induced d’Antraigues to commit
these statements to paper, and before long this writing found
its way to Paris, where it served the three Directors as an effec-
tive means and ostensible reason for a Coup d’Etat by means of
which they rid themselves on September 4th, 1797 (18th Fruc-
tidor), first of their two colleagues Carnot and Barthélemy and
then of a considerable number of conservative deputies. The
vacant places in the Directory were filled by two men of con-
firmed democratic principles, Merlin de Douai and Frangois de
Neufchiteau. The attempt had been successful in every par-
ticular. As justification for it Pichegru’s alleged treason was
made public. But the real victor of Fructidor was Bonaparte,
exactly as he had been on the 13th Vendémiaire. There is in
truth warrantable doubt whether, in giving his support to the
Directory, he had desired that affairs should assume this aspect,
whether his intention was not simply to overthrow Pichegru.
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It is possible that Augereau compromised him more deeply
than was necessary in regard to his designs. That at least
would appear to be the case judging by the Mémoires of Barante
recently published. But in face of the accomplished fact, in
order to remain master, he was obliged to lay claim to the victory
for himself and his army, and this he publicly did in a bulletin
issued on the 22d of September, the anniversary of the birth
of the Republic. Therein occurs this passage: “Soldiers, far
from your native land and victorious over Europe, chains were
being prepared for you; you knew it, you spoke, the people
roused itself and secured the traitors, and already they are in
fetters.”

He was more than ever in favour with the government.
Augereau, who had supposed himself the ruling power in the
Coup d’Etat, though he was in reality but the undiscerning tool,
was put out of the way by his appointment as Commander-in-
chief of the Army of the Rhine. Hoche, the Corsican general’s
only rival worthy of mention, died just at this time of an
acute pulmonary disease, though the report then current that
his death was due to poison seemed all too probable. The
Army of the Alps was united with that of Italy and Napoleon’s
fotces thus very considerably increased. The Royalists were
vanquished, the Moderates condemned to inaction, and the
new Directory, which was under obligation to the General,
avoided any resolute opposition to his wishes. His ambition
no longer knew any bounds. Some years later he said, in con-
versation with Madame de Rémusat: “It has been said of me
as a reproach that I facilitated the events of the 18th Fructidor.
They might as well reproach me for having upheld the Revolu-
tion. Advantage had to be taken of that Revolution, some
profit derived from the blood which it had caused to flow.
What! consent to yield unconditionally to the princes of the House
of Bourbon, who would have thrown in our faces the calamities
which we have suffered since their departure, and imposed
silence upon us by pointing to the need which we had shown
of their return! Exchange our victorious banner for that white
flag which had not feared to take its place amid the standards
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of the enemy; and finally I myself be content with some millions
and with some dukedom or other!* Of a surety, the part
played by Monk is not a difficult one; it would have cost me
less trouble than the Egyptian campaign or than the 18th Bru-
maire; most certainly I should have found a way, if there had
been need for it, to dethrone the Bourbons a second time, and
the best advice which could have been given them would have
been to rid themselves of me.”

How well this avowal accords with what attentive observers
say of him in that same year! One of his old friends, Suey, the
Commissioner of War, writes in August, 1797: “I know for
him no halting-point other than the throne or the scaffold.”
And the before-mentioned Comte d’Antraigues says in a report
made that September: “This man means to subjugate France
and, through France, Europe. . . . Were there a king in France
other than himself, he would wish to have enthroned him, and
that the royal authority should rest upon the point of his own
sword, from which sword he would never be separated so that
he might plunge it into the heart of his sovereign should that
monarch for a moment cease to be subservient to his will.”

Was this calumny or exaggeration? Neither one nor the
other. Napoleon himself made some strange confidences %o
Melzi and Miot in June, 1797, before the Coup d’Etat of Frue-
tidor: “Do you suppose that I gain victories to increase the
glory of the lawyers in the Directory, for Carnot, or for Barras?
Have you the impression that I have any thoughts of establish-
ing a Republic? What an absurd idea! A Republic of 30,-
000,000 souls! And with our customs and our vices? How
would such a thing be possible? .. . . The nation wants a chief-
tain covered with glory, and cares nothing for theories of gov-

* Bonaparte, like Pichegru, had been approached by agents of the
Bourbons.” The claimant to the throne had even written him a letter in
his own hand, and in December, 1796, he was promised the title of Duke,
the hereditary viceroyalty of Corsica, and the baton of a Marshal of
France on condition that he would declare himself for the hereditary
monarchy  These short-sighted conspirators had indeed no idea that

what they thus offered him had long ceased to be sufficient to curb Napo-
leon’s ambition.
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ernment, fine words, or dreams of idealists, none of which the
French understand. . . .” No one questioned who was to be
this chieftain, for already his outward bearing gave evidence
of his independent power. He held court, like a prince, in his
villa of Montebello in the vieinity of Milan. There, like a
prince, he received ambassadors from Austria, Naples, and
Piedmont. He even took his repasts in public with a few
privileged persons, exhibiting himself to the gaze of the curious
as was customary with monarchs. And like a monarch he
now negotiated the final treaty of peace with Austria, accord-
ing to his own designs and in no wise in accordance with the
intentions of the government at Paris. The latter did indeed
attempt to make Bonaparte follow the line of conduct prescribed
by its democratic doctrinairism, to force him to revolutionize all
Ttaly, and to exclude the Emperor completely. But he rejected
this demand as impracticable with so much decision, and with
the threat of his own abdication in case of persistence in it,
that there remained to the Directory no choice but to let him
follow his own inclinations. In the letters which he addressed
to the Foreign Office at the capital he assumes throughout a
superior and didactic tone. In one of the most noteworthy,
dated October 7th, 1797, and addressed to Talleyrand, the
newly-appointed Minister of Foreign Affairs, he says: “You
but little know these Italians. They are not worthy that
40,000 Frenchmen should be killed for them. I see by your
letters that you are acting upon a mistaken presumption; you
imagine that the possession of liberty will bring about the
accomplishment of great deeds by a people effeminate and
superstitious, buffoons and cowards. . . . The distinguishing
characteristic of our nation is to be far too rash in time of pros-
perity. If, as the basis of all our dealings, we make use of true
policy, which is nothing else than the reckoning of combinations
and chances, we shall for a long time be the great nation and
arbiter of Europe. More than that: we hold the balance of
Europe; we will make it incline according to our wishes, and,
should it be the will of fate, I see no reason why it should be
impossible for us in the course of a few years to attain even to
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those great results already dimly seen by the heated and enthu-
siastic imagination, and which only the extremely cool, per-
severing, and rational man may ever hope to reach.”

It was soon to be the turn of the Court of Vienna to feel
this pre-eminence and superior bearing of Bonaparte. Thugut
had expressed a readiness to deviate from the stipulations of
the preliminary convention of April, his intention being, of
course, to add to Austria’s territory in Italy through the acqui-
sition of the Legations. But in this he failed. Napoleon, to
be sure, had willingly consented to the alteration of the former
treaty, but only in order to reduce still further the influence of
Austria. It was to gain this point that he had in May offered
the city of Venice with the Adige as a boundary. Thugut had
at once rejected this proposal. But in vain he prolonged the
negotiations for months, evidently in the hope that a victory
of the Moderates in Paris would also bring about a more con-
servative foreign policy in France; in vain he sent to Udine to
treat with Bonaparte, Count Louis Cobenzl, the ablest diplomat
in the service of the Emperor; in September the situation was
such that, in view of the isolation of Austria and the supremacy
of the peace party at court, not even the terms offered at Leoben
could be insisted upon, and those now proposed by their ad-
versary had to be accepted. It was at the end of a series of
stormy sessions that the final treaty was at length concluded.
Bonaparte used all the resources of his temperament for the
purpose of influencing the Austrian envoy; he flattered, he
cajoled him with seductive promises, he threatened and insulted
him. Once, upon a refusal on the part of Cobenzl to some pro-
posal, Napoleon was seized with a veritable paroxysm of fury;
snatching up a porcelain vase, he hurled it to the floor and
rushed out of the room, cursing and shrieking; a scene similar
to those which, in later years, he repeatedly, and not without
premeditation, enacted in the presence of the envoys of foreign
powers. At last, on October 17th, 1797, after two occasions
upon which negotiations were on the verge of being completely
broken off, the definitive treaty was signed at Passariano, near
Udine, though the paper was dated Campo Formio. Belgium
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and the Ionian Isles were to belong to France, while Austria
received the city of Venice and the mainland of that republic
as far as the Adige and southward from this river the district
between the Bianco Canal and the main branch of the Po. The
territories of Mantua, Milan, Bergamo, Brescia, Modena, and
the three Legations were collectively to constitute the Cisalpine
Republic. The Duke of Modena was to receive the Austrian
Breisgau as indemmity for his former possessions. Austria,
which, in addition to the Breisgau, was obliged to surrender
the county of Falkenstein and the Frickthal in the Aargau,
was to receive in compensation the archbishopric of Salzburg
together with that portion of Bavaria lying on the right bank
of the Inn, and France engaged to sustain these claims in behalf
of the Emperor. In return for this Austria promised her
friendly intervention in the treaty yet to be concluded with
the Empire, whereby France was to obtain the long-desired
Rhenish boundary-line between Basel and Andernach. The
affairs of the German Empire were to be regulated at a special
congress soon to assemble at Rastatt. The German princes
whose lands might be encroached upon were to receive com-
pensation in territory upon the right bank of the Rhine. In
token of his good faith the Emperor at once put the French in
possession of the commanding fortress of Mainz.

The tidings that peace had been concluded brought boundless
joy at Vienna among the people at large as well as at the court.
Only a few clear-sighted statesmen, Thugut especially, deplored
the stipulations of the treaty as a misfortune to the monarchy,
and had no faith in the durability of the situation thus brought
about. The Emperor had consented to the diminution of the
territory of the Empire and had expressed his willingness to
annex to his own the domain of an ecclesiastical prince when it
was precisely these ecclesiastical States of the Empire upon
which the House of Habsburg most depended for its hold on
the imperial crown. If only Austria could have gained the
longed-for increase of power, there would have been some con-~
solation, but instead she had been driven inexorably backward
toward the East.
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Napoleon, on the contrary, had every reason to contemplate
his achievement with satisfaction. It is said that on the day
that the treaty was signed he gave unreserved expression to his joy
and showed the Austrian ambassador a charming amiability of
manner which was as much at command of his talent as an actor
as had been his former anger and violence. To him personally
the failure to reach a conclusion through these negotiations
would have entailed the undesired discomfort of a winter cam-
paign in the inhospitable Alpine regions, with the possibility in
the mean time that the decisive victory might be gained elsewhere
by another, while their successful termination enabled him to
carry out the vast designs which he had been maturing during
the course of the summer—designs which, for their world-em-
bracing extent and clear conception of purpose, have rarely been
equalled in the mind of a human being.



CHAPTER VI
EGYPT

‘Waex Napoleon, under the guise of a faithful ally, concluded
the treaty with the new government of Venice, his object was not
merely to secure a compensation which he could deliver to Austria;
he reserved to France a portion of the Venetian inheritance: the
position of the ancient Republic as a power in the Orient was to
descend to the French. In May, 1797, Bonaparte sent General
Gentili, a French officer, with a Vcnetian fleet to occupy the Ionian
Isles, whose population joyfully received the emissary of the
illustrious general as their deliverer from the oppressive rule of the
Lion of St. Mark. He had thus taken a momentous step toward
the Orient, where he saw extended a vast field for the develop-
ment of French influence and his own ambition, provided that
they could be made to coincide. As long before as the previous
May he had insisted that France must retain Corfu. *“Corfu and
Zante,” he afterward wrote to Talleyrand, ‘“make us masters of
the Adriatic and of the Levant. It is useless for us to attempt
to sustain the Turkish Empire; we shall see its downfall within
our own times; the occupation of these four beautiful Ionian
islands will put us in a position to support it or to secure a portion
for ourselves.” It was in accordance with this scheme that he
by means of clever agents established relations for himself from
the Ionian Islands with the Greeks, the Mainotes, and the Pashas
of Janina. Scutari, and Bosnia. And already his far-seeing eye
had discovered new objects for his activity. It had long been a
part of the policy of France to_cut off England’s communication
with India, and to thisend to secure as much foothold as possible
in the Mediterranean.

It was on this account that, upon the departure of the English
fleet from those waters in 1796, Napoleon had had Corsica re-

IIX
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occupied by General Gentili,* and for the same reason also, during
the ensuing spring, similar proceedings were carried out against
Genoa as had been instituted against Venice, and on June 5th,
1797, a treaty was concluded making France the absolute master
of the “Ligurian Republic,” which now received a new demo-
cratic constitution. Finally, on the 16th of August, 1797, he
wrote to the Directory: “The time is not far distant when we
shall feel that in order to really disable England we must possess
ourselves of Egypt. The vast Ottoman Empire, which is rapidly
crumbling into decay, makes it our imperative duty to take
prompt measures for protecting our Eastern commerce.” With
a single bound his thought traverses the space which intervenes
between him and the land of the Pharaohs. On the 13th of
September he writes to Talleyrand: “Why should we not possess
ourselves of the island of Malta? Admiral Brucys might readily
anchor there and take possession of it. Four hundred knights
and a regiment, of five hundred men constitute the entire garrison
of the city of La Vallette. The people there are much inclined
toward us and much out of conceit with their knights, who have
no means of subsistence and are dying of starvation. I had all
their property in Italy confiscated on purpose. With the island
of St. Pierre, which the King of Sardinia has ceded to us, Malta,
Corfu, etc., we shall be masters of the whole Mediterranean. If
it should prove necessary for us to give up the Cape of Good Hope
when the time comes for us to make our peace with England, we
must take possession of Egypt. One could start from here with
25,000 men escorted by eight or ten ships of the line or Venetian
frigates. . . . Egypt does not belong to the Sultan. I should
like to have you make investigations in Paris so as to let me
know what the consequences of our Egyptian expedition would
be to the Porte.”

Talleyrand eagerly entered into the projects of the General, his
penetration having doubtless recognized the future master under

* Napoleon accorded amnesty to the Corsicans, making exception
only in the case of the heads of those families who had ranged themselves

under Paoli’s banner against him, particularly Pozzo di Borgo, Peraldi,
Bertholani, and others. Pozzo di Borgo remained henceforth his foe

and implacable adversary.
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this exterior of brutal superiority. These schemes of Napoleon’s
were akin to conceptions and projects of his own. Before the
receipt of Napoleon’s letter, he had, in July, 1797, read a paper
before the members of the National Institute, “Sur les avan-
tages & retirer des colonies nouvelles aprés les révolutions,” in
which he directed attention to Egypt and claimed for Choiseul
the honour of being the first to conceive the idea.*

Furthermore, Magallon, the French consul at Cairo, had for a
year reiterated in his reports the advantages to be gained from
an Egyptian expedition. For these reasons Bonaparte’s pro-
posals met with approval on the part of the minister, who entered
into the plan himself and furthered it, laying stress upon the
importance of French supremacy on the Mediterranean and
especially upon the Nile. In fact he once even claimed to the
Prussian envoy that he had himself been the instigator of the
enterprise.

It may reasonably be questioned whether at this time Napo-
leon had the intention of assuming himself the leadership of this
expedition. It was quite out of keeping with his ambitious plans
to undertake such an adventure in a distant iand with 25,000
men, setting at stake upon an uncertain issue the glory which he
had so rapidly and completely won, giving up his position of

* But the idea was an older one. Leibniz had urged the same upon
Louis XIV. in order to distract the attention of the French from the
Rhine. In 1738 d’Argenson, the future French minister, again brought
up the suggestion and counselled the piercing of the Isthmus of Suez.
Since that time the French government had taken up the question a
number of times. Thus in 1780 the explorer Sonnini came upon a
French officer in Cairo who had been sent to study the possibility of mak-
ing a conquest of Egypt and a way thence to the Indies. Five years later
the question was again under discussion, for Emperor Joseph I1. assigned
Egypt to France in his plan for the division of Turkey. In 1795 and 1796
emissaries of the Republic scoured the valley of the Nile. It is, moreover,
a certainty that Bonaparte concerned himself about Egypt long before
1797. He had in 1792 made the acquaintance of Volney, who had trav-
elled throughout the Orient and had published five years before his
“Voyage en Syrie et Egypte.” Volney had an estate near Ajaccio. In
his “Considérations sur la guerre actuelle des Tures” (1788), the idea
of a French expedition to Egypt is the subject of detailed study.
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power in France and relieving the Directory at so small a price cf
the anxiety caused by his ambitious efforts. He did indeed later
conduct the expedition, but only because compelled by circum-
stances unforeseen in the autumn of 1797. For the conquest cf
Egypt was but a single link in the chain of projects whose final
aim was disclosed in a proclamation to the fleet: “Comrades.
when we shall have accomplished our task of pacifying the conti-
nent we shall unite ourselves once more with you to econquer the
liberty of the seas. .. . Without vou we could carry the
glory of the French name but to a small corner of the continent.
United with you we shall cross the seas, and the remotest regions
shall behold the national glory.” On the day following the con-
clusion of peace with Austria he indicated the present moment,
in a letter to Talleyrand, as particularly favourable to combat
with Great Britain: “Let us concentrate all our activity upon
the upbuilding of the navy, and let us destroy England. That
accomplished, Europe is at our feet!” Even before this time
the Directory had taken into consideration a landing on the Brit-
ish coast and made preparations accordingly. Bonaparte
favoured the idea. When on the 2d of November he was in-
formed in Milan of the ratification of the Austrian treaty he was
notified at the same time of his appointment as commander-in-
chief of the Army of England. He at once directed fifteen demi-
brigades of the Italian army to march to the seacoast, and ordered
cannon cast of the calibre of those used by the English, “in order
to be able, in the enemy’s country, to avail one’s self of English
projectiles.”

But another matter concerned him far more deeply than
these military designs. He had long ceased to be the mere
military servitor of the Directory. His whole being was ex-
pressive of the determination to conquer for himself, if possible,
a leading position and, if such a thing could be accomplished,
to exercise in the government at the heart of France the same
power which he had up to this time enjoyed in foreign lands.

November 17th, 1797, he left his headquarters in Milan in
order to betake himself to Rastatt, where he as first French
plenipotentiary was to negotiate with the ambassadors of the
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Emperor the treaty with the Empire. He remained but a
short time in this little town in Baden,—where he occupied the
same apartments put at the disposal of Villars during a previous
congress,—only until Cobenzl arrived and he had signed with
him the agreement concerning the surrender of Mainz, Decem-
ber 1st, 1797. Then on the same evening he began his journey
toward Paris, whither Barras in his capacity of chief of the
Directory had bidden him and whither he was driven by his
own desire of profiting by the fame he had acquired.

He was received by the Directory with every outward token
of amity. Fétes were given for him at the Luxembourg and
at the Louvre, whose walls were adorned with the works of art
brought as plunder from Italy, while theatrical performances
and similar festivities were organized in his honour. Even
the populace appeared to have forgotten its mistrust of the man
of the 13th Vendémiaire, and saw in him only the war hero;
interest and curiosity at least, if not sympathy, were every-
where manifest. In the theatres the public boisterously de-
manded a sight of the General upon learning that he was present;
it was scarcely possible for him to elude such ovations. He
was elected by the National Institute to a life-membership in
that body in the place of Carnot, and from that time he appeared
only in the ordinary garb of the scholar by way of demonstrating
‘his “civism.” In fact he affected a complete simplicity of
manner and conduct which must have been irksome to a man so
eager for glory. He lived in his wife’s unpretentious house in
the Rue Chantereine, which had been rechristened Rue de la
Victoire in his honour; the many attentions bestowed upon him
he met with studied reserve and rarely showed himself in public.
To his old comrade Bourrienne, who had become his confidential
secretary, he said: “At Paris nothing is long remembered.
If T remain inactive for any considerable time, I am lost. One
celebrity crowds out another in this Babylon. They need only
%o see me three times at the theatre to pay no further attention
to me, and I shuil appear there but seldom.” TUpon the ob-
servation of Bourrienne that he must nevertheless feel flattered
to see the people thrcag thus about him, he replied: ““Pshaw!
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They would crowd around me just as eagerly if I were on my
way to the scaffold.”

Of all the official festivities the chief event was the splendid
fate given in his honour by the Directory on the 10th of Decem-
ber, 1797, at which he was to deliver to them the treaty of
Campo Formio ratified by the Emperor Francis. All the dis-
tinguished people and high officials in Paris were assembled
that day in the great salon of the Palais de Luxembourg, which
was magnificently decorated. Minister Talleyrand delivered
the official address in which he lauded Napoleon’s old-fashioned
preference for simplicity, his predilection for the sciences, his
contempt for vain splendour. ‘‘All these qualities,” said he, “‘are
to us the surest guarantee that he will never allow himself to
be led away by ambition.” The audience awaited with intense
interest Napoleon’s reply, which was as follows: “The French
people, in order to be free, had to fight against kings. To obtain
a Constitution founded upon reason, it had to overcome the
prejudices of eighteen centuries. The Constitution of the
year III (1795) and you yourselves have vanquished all these
obstacles. Religion, feudalism, and monarchy have in turn
governed Europe during twenty centuries; but from the peace
which you have just concluded dates the era of representative
governments. Success has attended your efforts to organize
this great nation whose vast territory is circumscribed by the
confines which nature herself has imposed. You have done
even more. The two fairest countries in Europe,* once so
celebrated for the arts, the sciences, and the great men of which
they were the cradle, now see with the brightest hopes the spirit
of liberty rising from the tombs of their ancestors. These are
two pedestals upon which destiny will rear two powerful nations.
I have the honour to deliver to you the treaty signed at Campo
Formio and ratified by his majesty the Emperor. . . . When
the happiness of the French people shall be established upon
the best organic laws, all Europe will become free.”

The meaning of these words was far from clear. The last
phrase especially was enigmatic. Its solution was vaguely

* Ttaly and Greeee.
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divined by a few, while the remainder of his auditors exhausted
themselves in conjecture. Then with this vaunted Constitu-
tion of the year III France was not yet ‘“established upon the
best organic laws”? Far from it, according to Napoleon’s
innermost convictions. Shortly before he had written con-
fidentially to Talleyrand upon this subject; the letter, dated
September 19th, reads: “The organization of the French nation
is then in reality nothing more than roughly outlined. In
spite of our conceit, our thousand and one pamphlets, and our
verbose and endless harangues, we are very ignorant in political
science. We have, as yet, no definite conception of what is
meant by executive, legislative, and judiciary power. Mon-
tesquieu has given us misleading definitions; not that this
celebrated man was not abundantly able to give us what we
need, but his work, as he himself says, is only a kind of analysis
of that which had existed or was then in existence; it is a sum-
mary of notes made during his travels or in his reading. He
fixed his eye upon the government of England and defined in
a general way executive, legislative, and judiciary power. Why,
indeed, should one regard as an attribute of the legislative
power the right to make war or conclude peace, or the right to
fix the quantity and the nature of taxes? The English Con-
stitution has very reasonably entrusted one of these attributes
to the House of Commons, and this was an excellent step, be-
cause the English Constitution is simply a charter of privileges,
it is a black ceiling but bordered with gold. As the House of
Commons is the only body which actually represents the people,
it alone should have the right to determine this question of
taxation; it is the only discoverable bulwark against the des-
potism and insolence of courtiers. But in a government where
every authority emanates from the nation, where the sovereign
is the people, why class among the attributes of the legislative
power things which are foreign to it? The governmental power,
using the term in the broadest sense, should be considered as
the true representative of the nation, and this should govern
in accordance with- the written constitution and organic laws.
This governmental power appears to me to be subdivided natu-
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rally into two very distinet jurisdictions, one of which should
supervise without acting, while that which we now call the
executive power should be obliged to submit to the former all
important measures; this, if I may be permitted the expression,
would be the legislation of the executive. The first of these
bodies would be in fact the great council of the nation; it would
have all that part of the administration or of the executive
which according to our Constitution is entrusted to the legisla~
tive power. The governmental power would thus be vested
in two magistracies appointed by the people, one of them, con-
sisting of a large number of men, to which no one would be
eligible who had not already held some office which would have
given experience in state affairs. The legislative power would
in the first place make all the organic laws, and alter them, but
not in the course of two or three days, as is the present practice;
for, once an organic law has been made operative, aceording to
my idea, it could not be changed without five or six months of
discussion. This legislative power, without rank in the Republic,
impassive, without eyes and without ears for its surroundings,
would be free from ambition and we should no longer be inun-
dated with a thousand laws passed for the occasion which annul
themselves by their very absurdity and which make us, with
three hundred folio volumes of legislative enactments, a nation
without laws.”

These conceptions, which Napoleon calls his “Code Complet
de Politique,’” are of the greatest possible interest. They demon-
strate not only his dissatisfaction with existing circumstances,
but it is noticeable also that no word escapes him relative to the
nature of the real executive power; that was, and should remain
for the present, his own secret. The letter, as has been said, was
directed to Talleyrand, who was to show it in confidence to Sieyes,
the great theorist and constitution-maker. Both of these men
were as little in favour of the Constitution of that time as was
Bonaparte himself. The last named was then twenty-eight years
of age, and Article 134, to the effect that Directors must have
reached the age of forty, was to him particularly obnoxious.*

* According to the testimony of Prince John of Liechtenstein, who
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It needed only a favourable opportunity to bring about the over-
throw of this obstacle to his further progress. Should such an
one present itself during the winter of 1797-98 Napoleon was
prepared to make a Coup d’Etat against Directory and Constitu-
tion. When in the midst of the festivities of the 10th of Decem-
ber a curious spectator fell from the roof of the palace to the
ground, the sad occuwrrence was regarded as an omen of the ap-
proaching downfall of the government.

But the authorities were using every means to maintain their
friendly relations with Bonaparte. The Directors consulted him
upon all questions of foreign policy and accepted his recommenda-
tions with a greater or less degree of readiness. Toward the end
of December, 1797, there arose in the Papal States a revolt of
the democratic elements of the populace under French protection,
and this insurrection was forcibly suppressed by the papal troops.
When upon this oceasion General Duphot was killed, the Direc-
tory, acting upon the counsel of Bonaparte, took advantage of
this pretext to advance upon the papal government. Berthier
received command from Napoleon to énter Rome, where the
rule of Pius VI. was declared at an end and a republican govern-
ment proclaimed, February 15th, 1798. It is improbable that
it was the intention of Bonaparte that these measures should be
carried out as far as the deposition of the Pope. The inference
is that here the feeling in the Directory was too strong for him to
resist.

The Batavian Republic was at this time ruled by federalists,
and, the government feeling itself incapable of meeting the heavy
demands for money and ships imposed upon it by the alliance
with France, the French envoy openly came to the aid of the
democratic centralists, who rose into power January 22d, 1798,
by means of a Coup d’Etat similar to that of the 18th Fructidor,
and placed themselves absolutely at the disposition of the Direc-
tory. Joubert, the favourite of Napoleon, received the command
of the Dutch troops.

But it is in respect to relations with Switzerland that Napo-

saw him in Udine, he had, to be sure, even then the appearance of a man
of forty.
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leon’s influence is most clearly seen. While still in Italy he had
released the Valtelline from the dominion of the Grisons,—“since,
according to the rights of nations under the new liberty, no people
could remain subject to another,”—and this territory he had
incorporated in the Cisalpine Republic.

The treaty with Austria had delivered into his hands the
Frickthal, which belonged to the Canton of Aargau. He now
conceived a desire for a thoroughfare through Valais which
would facilitate communications between France and Lom-
bardy. This purpose could be achieved if Switzerland could
be induced to accept a place like that of the Batavian and the
Cisalpine in the circle of dependent republics with which France
was to surround herself as a shield against the rest of Europe.
Accordingly the democratic element in Switzerland was aroused
and supported in opposition to the aristocratic government of
the patricians, and the same means were employed which had
proved so efficacious in Holland and Venice, in Rome and Milan
and Genoa. Upon the solicitation of the democrats of the
Canton of Vaud for assistance from the French against the rule of
Bern, the Directory willingly granted their request and charged
its diplomatic agents in the chief cities throughout Switzerland
to fan the flame of the insurgent movement to their utmost.

Bonaparte and Rewbell had contrived with Ochs of Basel,
the leader of the democratic centralists, a regular plan of revolu-
tion. General Brune invaded the Bernese territory and under
the guise of a liberator succeeded in separating the adversaries
only to take possession of Bern, March 5th, 1798, whence he deliv-
ered to the Directory the “Bernese treasure” consisting of about
25,000,000 francs * besides an immense supply of provisions and
munitions of war. A burdensome treaty of alliance with France
was then imposed upon the newly-established ““Helvetian Re-
public.” Switzerland had become a French dependency. Of
the money seized 3,000,000 francs passed into Napoleon’s military
chest to be used in defraying the expenses of the projected under-

* According to Dandliker the value of this treasure has been greatly
exaggerated.. ‘It actually consisted of about seven millions in money
and twelve millions in bonds,” (Short Hist, of Switzerland, 217.)—B,
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taking against England, and, according to the statements of
Madame de Staél, it was commonly believed that the general
had advised this lucrative enterprise as a means to this very
end.

But however great the condescension whereby the Directors
permitted the victorious general to take part in their deliberations,
he was nevertheless without any secure official position such as
this influence upon proceedings would appear to denote. Bour-
rienne affirms that he demanded admittance to the Directory in
spite of the Constitution, but was unable to accomplish his pur-
pose. Itisnotimpossible that there was ground for the surmises
of the observant that the massing of great bodies of troops at that
time was ordered less with a view to the enterprise against
England than to the establishment of a dictatorship. Disa-
greeable scenes took place in the Directory over this question of
which something appears to have reached the public, for the
Prussian envoy reports that the populace of Paris were already
asking one another what the general was doing so long in the
capital and why he did not set sail for England.

Napoleon had thus not only failed of securing a position at
the head of the government, but he was at the same time running
great danger of seeing the glory of his former triumphs wane in
the light of every-day existence, and of losing, by continued
inaction, the popularity which he had acquired. He recognized
that, for the present at least, there was no hope of a suecessful
issue to a Coup d’Etat. Hated as the Directors were by the
people, he was himself far from being beloved to such an extent
as to be able to rely upon his popularity in a struggle against them.
His chief concern must be to “keep his glory warm,” to use his
own expression. In view of the inefficiency of the French navy a
landing in England seemed to him too hazardous a venture.
Even later, in 1805, he again eagerly availed himself of the ocea-
sion furnished by the coalition to lead his forces elsewhere. He
much preferred a return to his former plan of a campaign in the
Orient. “‘I will not remain here,” he said to Bourrienne, ‘“there
is nothing to be done. I see that if I stay it will be but a short
time before I am done for. Everything wastes away here below.
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T am already bereft of my glory. This little Europe has not
enough to offer. The Orient is the place to go. All great repu-
tations have been made there.* I mean, however, to make a
tour of inspection of the northern coast in order to convince
myself as to what may be ventured. If I see reason to doubt the
success of a landing in England, as I fear may be the case, the
Army of England will become the Army of the Orient and I shall
go to Egypt.”

On February 8th, 1798, the proposed journey along the coast
was undertaken. It was soon completed. Bonaparte easily
satisfied himself of the present impracticability of the enterprise,
and upon his return tried to bring the Directory to the same con-
clusion.

In two memorials of February 23d he demonstrates that a
landing in England without having first secured the mastery of
the seas would be a most difficult and daring measure, which, if
achievable, could only be accomplished during the long nights
and consequently not before the coming autumn. Meanwhile—
as he explains in a later communication bearing date of April
13th—the expedition on the Mediterranean with Egypt as its
destination might be undertaken which would compel the English
to detach a part of their Channel fleet to send to India and the
Red Sea. Meantime the forces in the northern ports of France
could be increased to a considerable army, so that a landing in
November or December with 40,000 men might be possible.

The Directory, with a feeling of relief, at once decided in
favour of the expedition to the Levant, and on the 12th of April
sent to Napoleon the commission, drawn up by himself, appoint-
ing him General-in-chief of the Army.of the Orient. He was
authorized and commissioned to take possession of Malta and
Egypt, and to drive the English from their possessions as far
as he was able to reach them, but particularly from the Red
Sea, and he was to cut through the Isthmus of Suez in order

* While still in Italy he had spoken to Bourrienne in a similar way:
“Europe is nothing but a mole-hill; it is only in the Orient that there have
been great empires and mighty revolutions, there where 600,000,000
people live.”
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to assure to the French the possession of that sea. TUntil his
return a substitute should take his place in command of the
army destined to make war upon England directly, for it was
a matter of course that, upon the termination of the Egyptian
expedition, he should reassume command of the combined
forces directed against the British. At Toulon he apostro-
phized the troops of the expedition in these words: “You arc
one wing of the Army of England!” and in his official orders
issued at the end of April he styles himself: ‘‘General-in-chief
of the Army of England.”

The die, then, was cast. “I do not know what would have
become of me,” he said later to Madame de Rémusat, “if I had
not had the happy idea of going to Egypt.” Two of the greatest
minds of his age have tried to answer this question: “Had he
remained in France,” says Madame de Stagél, “the Directory
would have launched against him calumnies without number
by means of all the newspapers under their control, and would
have dimmed his exploits in the minds of the idle. Bonaparte
would have been reduced to powder even before the thunderbolt
had struck him.” According to Beyle, things might have
resulted even worse: ‘“Napoleon lent himself to this project,
impelled by the double fear of being forgotten or being poisoned.”
This is doubtless exaggeration, but in any case the Egyptian
expedition seemed to have been undertaken because the Direc-
tory and Bonaparte were antagonistic and yet could not attempt
an encounter to decide the question of supremacy. The Direc-
tory sought a means of disencumbering itself of a dangerous
rival, while Bonaparte was trying to avoid the loss of all authority;
he was resolved upon increasing it by the acquisition of new
glory, and to renew the combat with the Directory when a
favourable moment should present. His genius at once per-
ceived all the advantages offered him by the new combination,
and, with characteristic energy, he proceeded to execute the
mission consigned to him.

He set about his preparations with a zeal such as had never
before been seen in him by those who were about him, and his
arrangements were made upon so vast a scale as to guarantee
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the result and to incur no risk to the renown of the general in
command. This was no longer the modest expedition which
could easily be undertaken by 25,000 men with a few frigates.
The expedition to the Orient was begun with an army of 40,000
of the best soldiers, embarked upon one of the greatest fleets
which had ever been equipped by France, and which was de-
signed to assure to the Republic the supremacy on the Medi-
terranean. The general was accompanied by a staff of a
hundred and twenty scholars, mechanicians, and engineers,
among whom figured Monge and Berthollet, who were to make
scientific investigations in that distant country, to prepare the
way for projected colonization and to open the necessary water-
ways. Talleyrand was to follow a little later to enter upon
direct negotiations with the Porte and convince the Sultan that
the expedition was in nowise aimed against him, but solely
against the Mamelukes, who, despising his suzerainty, were
governing Egypt like independent princes. A library was
selected to be carried on the expedition, and among these books
were Ossian, Tasso’s “Jerusalem Delivered,” Homer and Virgil,
Rousseau’s ‘“Nouvelle Héloise” and Goethe’s ‘“Werther.” It
is characteristic and interesting to note that the Bible, the
Koran, and the Vedas were grouped with the works of Montes-
quieu under the head of “Politics.” History was prominent
in the collection. Naturally Plutarch’s ““Lives” were there as
well as the Anabasis, Arrian’s *‘ Alexander,” and Raynal’s ‘“ His-
toire philosophique des deux Indes.” The deep and lasting
impression made on Napoleon by this work has already been
observed. The passage referring to Egypt had doubtless been
of particular interest to him. It reads: “At sight of a region
situated between two seas, of which one is the gate of the Orient
and the other the gate of the Occident, Alexander formed the
project of establishing the seat of his empire in Egypt and of
making it the centre of the world’s commerce. This prince,
the most enlightened of conquerors, recognized that, if there
were a means of cementing the union of the conquests which
he had already made and those which he proposed to himself,
it would be in a country which nature seemed, so to speak, to
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have attached to the point of junction between Africa and Asia
to bind them to Europe:.”

It would be easy to prove that the designs of the great Mace-
donian now engrossed the attention of Napoleon with special
vigour and tempted him to imitate, to surpass his predecessor.
His imagination soared aloft, but we know how he controlled
it. “I always have two strings to my bow,” was a customary
phrase with him. And thus in the midst of his vast concep-
tions he did not overlook what lay at hand to be achieved. To
Bourrienne, who asked him how long he expected to remain in
Egypt, he replied: ‘“A few months or six years, everything
depends upon the outcome of events.” And in fact as matters
then stood it was but too probable that within “‘a few months”
a new war would break out in Europe which would of necessity
recall his name to popular remembrance. For the progress
made by the spirit of revolution in Italy and the republicaniza-
tion of the Papal States had approached near enough to Tus-
cany and Naples to appear threatening, and the probability
was only too strong that Austria would extend her protection
to the ruling princes of those countries, they being related to
the House of Habsburg, and thus at the same time defend her
own interests.

Moreover, Russia would of course resent the interference of
France in the Eastern question. It .would be a mistake to
attribute to Bonaparte the introduction of this policy. France
had begun her system of revolutionizing her neighbours long
before the young general had acquired the slightest influence
upon affairs.* DBut there can be no doubt that he now secretly
advocated it in the selfish hope that the difficulties aceruing to
the Directory through war with a new coalition would bring
that body into discredit, apparently necessitate his own return

* The perspicacious Mallet du Pan wrote to Vienna as early as May
25th, 1796: “In all countries which they do not care to retain they will
sow the seed of republicanism, declare themselves allies of every State
which will imitate the example set by France, and provoke such imita~
tion in every possible way; they flatter themselves by the use of such
means to achieve in a short time what has been, ever since 1792, one of
the first and most important aims of the war.”
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to France, and elevate his power and authority to a position
whence he hoped to grasp the reins of government. To this
end France must be beaten in Europe, while he should be win-
ning fresh laurels to his name in the Orient; such was the aim
of his unpatriotic ambition. This was the occasion also for
removing all the best soldiers and ablest generals. He said to
Lis brother Joseph: ““I start for the Orient with every means
for achieving success; if my country needs me, if the number
increases of those who think as do Talleyrand, Sieyés, and
Roederer, if war breaks out and is not auspicious to France,
then I shall return, surer than now of public opinion. If, on
the contrary, the war is favourable to the Republie, if a new
warrior like myself should arise and gather about him the hopes
of the people, well! 1 may perhaps still render greater service
to the world, in the Orient, than he!”

But while he still tarried in Paris the first indications of new
complications on the Continent became apparent. At Rastatt
the Austrian envoy had opposed the demand of the Directory
for the cession of the entire left bank of the Rhine, and in Vienna
Bernadotte, who represented France, had offended the court
and incited the populace to an uprising on account of which
he was obliged to leave the country. The situation looked
serious. War was imminent. Napoleon hesitated and delayed
his departure. If report.is to be believed, his thoughts turned
again for a moment to a Coup d’Etat and dictatorship. But in
spite of all peace was preserved, and in the night of May 3d
Napoleon left Paris to embark at Toulon, urged to departure
by the anxious Directors, who preferred to feel that this ambi-
tious schemer was in Africa.

The preparations in the port of Toulon had been prosecuted
with the greatest zeal. The actual destination of the expedition
was known to but few. It is true there had been much talk of
Egypt and the newspapers had commented upon it, but precisely
for this reason no one believed in the genuineness of a venture
which would place at a distance the best general in the French
army at a time so critical. And yet such was really the case.
On the 19th of May, 1798, the fleet weighed anchor with a part of
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the expeditionary troops on board, the General-in-chief being on
the flag-ship “Orient.” At the same hour the divisions of
Baraguay d’Hilliers, Vaubois, and Desaix sailed from Genoa,
Ajaccio, and Civita Vecchia to join the squadron from Toulon, and
the combined forces made an imposing armament of fifteen ships
of the line, as many frigates, seven corvettes, and over thirty
smaller war-vessels carrying all together two thousand guns as
protection to the four hundred transports conveying the ex-
peditionary troops.

Among the generals of division who took part in this campaign,
in addition to those already mentioned, were Kléber, Menou, Rey-
nier, and Dugua, while among the brigadier-generals were the
bearers of those names which were later to be made so glorious,
Lannes, Davout, Murat, Andréossy, and others; at that time
Marmont, Junot, Lefebvre and Bessiéres still ornamented the
rank of colonel.

The chief danger to the expedition lay from the English,
who had, it is true, some time before withdrawn their fleet from
the Mediterranean to the Channel as a protection to their own
coast against the landing of the French, but since that time the
ships at Toulon had attracted their attention, and the decision
had just been reached to send a squadron under Admiral Nelson
to observe them. Napoleon was totally unaware of this proceed-
ing. Fortunately for him, Nelson was driven by a storm from
his ambush a few days before the departure of the French fleet,
and returned to his hiding-place only after they had made their
way out of the harbour he was watching. Doubtful whither they
had gone, he sought them in Sicily and Naples, while they had
already captured the first important halting-place on their jour-
ney,—Malta.

A year previous French agents had bribed certain of the
Knights of the Order of St. John which had been in possession of
the island sinee the time of Charles V. The Grand-master, Herr
von Hompesch, was an incapable and short-sighted man, whose
faculties deserted him completely on this occasion; he made no
attempt at resistance to Napoleon, and on June 13th, 1798, he
yielded to him the strong fortifications of La Vallette without even
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an effort to hold them until the arrival of succour from the Brit-
ish. It was scarcely an honourable eapitulation—a word
which, by the way, Napoleon avoided using in the articles of
rendition, in order, as he sarcastically observed, not to employ a
term which would sound harshly to the ears of an Order once so
celebrated for its martial valour. The property of the Knights
was confiscated, while they themselves, provided with seanty
pensions, were compelled to leave the island; some of them
joined the army of the conqueror. The Order itself was placed
under the suzerainty of Naples and under the protectorate of the
Czar of Russia. In accomplishing its annihilation Bonaparte
counted doubtless upon thus hastening the conflagration with
which Europe was already menaced.

Leaving at Malta a suitable garrison, Napoleon set sail
toward the East, and while off Candia received his first intimation
of the fact that he was being pursued by a powerful English
squadron. This was entirely out of keeping with his designs, for
not only the Egyptian expedition, but also the future invasion
of England was based upon the supposition that the French fleet
was to remain mistress of the Mediterranean at least until the
vanquishers of the Mamelukes should be brought back to France.
It was now all-important to evade the pursuing enemy and reach
Alexandria with these hundreds of transport ships. On this
occasion Bonaparte made it evident that if in his boyhood he
had, according to his inclination, been appointed to the marine
service, he would have furnished France with a most efficient
admiral. By sailing close to the southern shore of Candia he
eluded the vigilance of the pursuer and thus escaped the threat-
eningdanger. Nelson, having failed to come upon the object of
his quest in the Gulf of Naples, had decided to direct his course
to Egypt. Sailing along the coast of Africa, he, in his zeal to
overtake the enemy, outstripped the French and arrived ahead
of them in Alexandria. Finding that roadstead empty he at
once hastened away again, this time setting his helm for Syria.
Immediately after his departure the French fleet arrived in
Egypt, July 1st, and had time to land the expeditionary troops.

While still on the high seas, on the 22d of June, the com-
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mander-in-chief had issued a proclamation to his soldiers pre-
paring them for the task which awaited them. “Soldiers,” said
he to them, “vou are about to undertake a conquest the effects
of which will be incalculable upon the situation and commerce
of the world. You will deal to England the most certain and
terrible blow while awaiting the hour in which you may inflict
her death-stroke. We shall have some fatiguing marches to
make, we shall fight a number of battles, we shall succeed in all
our enterprises; fortune is with us. . . .” He admonished
them to respect the religion of the Mohammedans and their muf-
tis, adding: “The people whom we are about to encounter treat
woman differently from what we do; but, in any country, he
who violates is a monster. Pillage enriches but a few; it dis-
honours us, it destroys our resources, it makes hostile to us
those whom it is to our interest to have as friends. The first city
to which we come was built by Alexander. We shall find at
every step reminders of great deeds worthy to excite the emula-
tion of the French.” Many of his soldiers doubtless understood
him better when in Toulon he made the promise of enough
money to each of them, upon the return of the expedition, to
buy six acres of land.

Bonaparte, having taken Alexandria on the 2d of July,
likewise addressed himself to the inhabitants of the country.
In a proclamation rendered into the Arabic he represented him-
self as the friend of the Sultan come to destroy his enemies the
Mamelukes and to deliver the Egyptian people from their tyr-
anny. He proclaimed the equality of all men before God, the
same God whom he recognized in the Koran; and in order to
awaken more completely the confidence of the population and
counteract the precepts of the Koran which forbade submission to
any nation not of the faithful, he declared that the French were
true Mussulmans, and adduced in evidence the fact that they had
vanquished the Pope and annihilated the Knights of Malta. All
this was hardly likely to make any great impression upon the dull
sensibilities of the Fellaheen. They submitted to the new inva-
sion as to any other domination. The actual enemy with which
Bonaparte had to contend was the cavalry of the Mamelukes.
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Originally in the twelfth century only a body-guard of the
Caliph, created of slaves purchased for the purpose, the Mame-
lukes soon possessed themselves of the mastery of Egypt, which
advantage they retained until overcomein the sixteenth century
by the Ottomans, when Selim 1. committed the administration of
affairs of the country, as a Turkish provinee, to twenty-four of
their chieftains. Fach of these Bevs commanded a considerable
body of horse, and as the Turkish power began to wane the posi-
tion of these Beys became more and more independent until the
authority of the Sultan dwindled to a mere name. At the time
when Bonaparte took up arms against them their two generals,
Ibrahim Bey and Murad Bey, commanded over 8000 splendidly
equipped and practised horsemen, who were dexterous in the use
of sabre, lance, and firearms, but of other troops there were none.
Infantry and artillery were entirely lacking, except that the
small flotilla on the Nile carried a few cannon. These were cir-
cumstances, coupled with the fourfold superiority in numbers of
the French, to leave little room for doubt as to the issue of the
campaign in favour of the invaders. The real difficulties arose
from other causes.

First among these was disheartening disappointment. Alex-
andria fell far short of all expectations. Not more than a
twelfth part remained of the metropolis of civilization to which
the Macedonian hero had given his name, the rest had fallen away
into ruin and dirt. And when, on July 7th, Napoleon broke
camp to proceed to Cairo, choosing the more direct way across the
desert instead of the longer and easier route via Rosetta and
along the Nile, the suffering from hunger, thirst, and heat was so
great that the artfully cherished visions of an Eastern paradise
suddenly vanished. The soldiers grumbled, threatened to turn
back, and reviled the scholars to whom alone they imputed the
blame of the deception practised upon them. In the Fellah
villages there was no trace of civilization; grain there was in
abundance, but neither mills nor ovens, and for drink there was
nothing to offer but slimy cistern-water. Many of the soldiers
perished with thirst, while terrible homesickness prevailed in the
ranks and was the cause of frequent suicide; even the superior
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officers felt the demoralization. At length the Nile was reached
at Ramanieh, but there the enemy, roving about in detached
bands, began to harass the divisions, so that progress could be
made only by forming hollow squares and marching thus with
the cavalry in the centre. At Shebreket they came upon the
bulk of the army of Murad Bev. The two flotillas on the Nile
joined battle; Murad made two ineffectual attacks and then
withdrew.*

It was not until the Pyramids came in sight on July 19th,
at Om Dinar, three miles from Cairo, that a serious engage-
ment took place. With toil and hardship, marching only in
the early morning houis from two to nine, the French reached
Embabeh, the place where Murad had intrenched himself, and
now, on the 21st of July, offered battle with something over
5000 horsemen and a troop of Fellaheen against the French
forces numbering five times as many as his command. It was
scarcely necessary to excite the fervour of the Republican troops
by pronouncing those celebrated words: ‘“Soldiers, from the
summit of these Pyramids forty centuries are looking down upon
you!”

The superiority of their numbers alone made a victory seem
easy, and the longing to escape from the desert increased their
ardour for battle. The issue was the only one possible. Bona-
parte’s five divisions formed at once in squares six men deep,
with the cannon at the corners, the staff and baggage in the
middle. Murad threw himself impetuously upon that of Desaix.
Repulsed here, the Mameluke renewed his attack upon the

* One example, taken from many, will serve to show the extent to
which the deeds of the Army of the Orient were exaggerated by the time
they reached the Directory at Paris in Napoleon’s reports. Marmont,
in his Mémoires, mentions only four or five Mamelukes at Shebreket
who with mad impetuosity rushed upon one of the squares and were cut
down. There were unquestionably more than that, but in a letter written
by Bonaparte to Menou, who had remained in Alexandria, the number had
already increased to fifty, and in his report to the Directory, dated July 24th,
1798, it had become nothing less than a “battle at Shebreket” wherein
three hundred of the enemy were slain. At a later day he frankly said
that a statesman must understand lying to perfection, and the negotiator
of Udine and Passariano was a statesman.
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divisions of Reynier and of Dugua (wherein Napoleon had taken
his position), with the same lack of success. Then he galloped
away.

His camp at Embabeh fell after a short resistance into the
hands of the conquerors, who derived from it a rich harvest.
Ibrahim, who had been posted on the farther side of the Nile,
at Boulak, with a portion of the Mameluke army, abandoned
his position and withdrew eastward to the borders of the Syrian
desert. The hattle of the Pyramids delivered Cairo into the
hands of the French. On the 22d of July, Napoleon took up
his headquarters in Murad’s palace.

Hitherto the complaints of.the troops had been met with
the promise of consolation for their pains in the booty which
Cairo with its splendour and treasures was to afford. What
they found in this city of 300,000 inhabitants proved only
another disappointment. Provisions could be obtained for
money, but there was no vestige of the abundance and good
cheer which had been counted upon; evervthing, even to the
deserted Mameluke quarter, bespoke only poverty and squalor.
Discontent in the army increased. The many letters written
home by soldiers and officers in their dejection, which were
seized and published by the English, testify to the spirit of
dissatisfaction which was making itself felt. Bonaparte had
all he could do with punishing, appeasing, and promising, be-
sides the thousand details of organization and administration,
with the dispositions to be taken necessary for the reduction
of the enemy, who had withdrawn only to renew the charge
with fresh forces. And what added greatly to his cares was
the entire lack of tidings from Europe, while from Alexandria
came news of crushing disaster: on August 1lst the English
fleet under Nelson had reappeared on the Egyptian coast and
totally overwhelmed that of the French in the roadstead of
Aboukir. )

Bonaparte in leaving the squadron under Admiral Brueys
had instructed him to convey the fleet into the old harbour of
Alexandria provided it were of sufficient depth; if not, he was
to occupy a secure position in the roadstead of Aboukir, or, if
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this should prove impossible, he was to leave the transports
and sail for Corfu. Brueys found the entrance to the harbour
impassable, and anchored at Aboukir in a position which he
deemed strong enough to withstand attack of the enemy. In
a letter to Bonaparte dated July 20th he even declared it
impregnable, since he was protected on one side by the coast
defences and no hostile ship could take up its position between
him and the land. The error was a fatal one. On August 1st
Nelson appeared with his squadron. He had until this time
been seeking eagerly and excitedly, but in vain, for a trace of
the enemy, and now rushed without delay upon the French
ships, a large portion of the crews of which were not on board.
It now became evident that Brueys’ position was quite open to
attack and that the English ships of the line, though fewer in
number, were manceuvred with such skill and audacious courage
as to enable them in spite of everything to push between their
enemy and the coast. Caught between two fires, the French
vessels succumbed one after another notwithstanding all the
heroism of their defenders. Brueys atoned for his inistake with
his lite. The “Orient” blew up with him and all his crew; the
valiant warriors met their death shouting, “Vive la Répu-
blique!” It was such a victory as had never before been won
on the sea. Only two ships of the line and two frigates were
saved by the rear-admiral, Villeneuve, in the flight. Two others
had been previously towed into the harbour. Everything else
was destroyed or in the hands of the enemy.

Bonaparte received the tidings on his return from a march
eastward in pursuit of Ibrahim, while he at the same time entered
upon negotiations with Murad, though the latter were without
result. He was in Marmont’s tent when the news was brought
to him, and at first received the message with perfect com-
posure; he even began then and there to estimate its significance.
In his Mémoires Marmont records the words of his superior on
this occasion. ‘“Here we are now,” said he, “cut off from the
mother country. . . . We have got to be sufficient unto our-
selves. Egypt was once a powerful kingdom. ... What a
point of vantage this position would be in offensive warfare
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against the English! What a point of departure for the con-
quests which the possible disintegration of the Ottoman Empire
may bring within our rcach! We are perhaps destined to change
the face of the Orient and to inscribe our names beside those
recalled to our remembrance with the greatest radiancy by
ancient and medieval history. . . . This is the hour when
characters of a superior order should show themselves.”

These were spirited words and they did not fail of their
effect. “Thev did not, however, express the whole of the im-
pression produced upon the commander of the expedition by the
information just received. The loss of the fleet had been more
of a blow to him than he had allowed himself to show. His
intention, as we know, had been to conquer Egypt, and, having
secured its possession, to return to France if meanwhile the
fortunes of the new Continental war should have been of such
a character as to enhance the value of his sword in the mind of
the nation. In Bourrienne’s Mémoires we read: “According
to what General Bonaparte said to me before receipt of the
news of the Ist of August, he intended, the possession of Egypt
once assured, to start again for Toulon with this fleet, which
with its mission accomplished was thenceforth useless; to send
thenee troops and provisions of every kind to Egypt and to unite
the fleet with all the forces which the government should have
collected for use against England, . . . to which France would
then be superior. . . . The loss of the navy shattered all these
schemes.” * Its further consequences were even more serious;
it even put in jeopardy the position of the French in Egypt.

Napoleon had been in hopes that the Sultan might be de-
ceived as to the character of his expedition, or at least that he

* Bourrienne was at that time as little as Napoleon in a position to
know that the Directory had already renounced the plan of making the
projected invasion in the following autumn, and had sent the ships sta-
tioned in the northern ports to the help of the Irish, who had revoltcd
against England at the end of May, 1798. This enterprise entailed noth-
ing but losses to the French. Dispersed in separate expeditions, scie
of the ships were lost, others were driven out of their course. A new
concentration of the maritime forces in the north was for the present
entirely out of the question.
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could be prevented from interfering. This was to have been
Tallevtand’s task, but since the appearance of the English in
the Mediterranean he had lost courage for the enterprise and
transferred the office to the envoy in Constantinople. The
Sultan wavered for a long time between friendship with the
Republic and an alliance with Russia, which was offered him
by the Czar Paul I., whose political sphere of action was likewise
disturbed by the French intervention in the Orient and the
seizure of Malta. Just at this critical juncture news arrived on
the Bosphorus of the destruetion of the Irench fleet and decided
the question in favour of the Russian alliance. What had been
counted impossible was accomplished; Turkey, wishing to
defend her rights of suzerainty against the invader in Egypt
and the Tonian Isles, had been won over by Russia. On Sep-
tember 1st the Porte declared war against France.

Bonaparte, who was now cut off from all tidings of events,
did not at once learn of this turn of affairs. But he soon sus-
pected it. Immediately upon his arrival in Egypt he had made
offers of friendship to Achmed Pasha, Grand Vizier and Lieu-
tenant-Governor of Syria, who was surnamed Jezzar, che
Slaughterer, on account of his cruelty; to him Bonaparte repre-
sented the object of his mission as being none other than the
protection of French commercial interests against the Mame-
lukes. No reply had been received to these letters. On the
other hand he learned in the early part of October that the Porte
had ordered the arrest of French consuls everywhere. But he
still had no certain knowledge of the attitude of Turkey, and
until he was definitely informed he could not think of leaving
Egypt. If advices should prove of unfavourable character,
the task before him would be a double one; he should have to
defend his recently acquired position not only against the hos-
tility of the Arab population and the forces of the Mamelukes,
but also against the rightful lord of the land—the Sultan. After
the defeat of his fleet at Aboukir, which naturally had made a
bad impression at home, he stood in need of fresh triumphs to
efface the remembrance of that disaster; the laurels which he
had won in the battle of the Pyramids, even when the loss of the
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enemy had been multiplied by ten, were insufficient to maintain
his personal renown. And yet he had come to Egypt only to
increase his fame while waiting for the war on the Continent to
open to him a new field of action! On the 18th of September
he wrote to the Directory: “I am awaiting news from Con-
stantinople; I cannot be at home, as I promised you, by October,
but the delay will be only for a few months.”

During this time of anxious waiting Bonaparte had oppor-
tunity to convince himself that the Egyptian people submitted
only with great reluctance to foreign rule and that his professed
sympathy with Islam was of little avail. In October the in-
habitants of Cairo revolted. The insurrection was occasioned
by the rumour that the Sultan had declared war against France,
that Jezzar was advancing from Syria, that the French were
going to be compelled to withdraw, but were resolved first to set
fire to the city. The populace assaulted the French in their
houses and killed a number of them, among others twenty-five
sick or wounded soldiers. The masses armed themselves and
organized a revolt. Napoleon at first attempted to pacify the
insurgents by the use of gentle means. When these failed he
ordered the rebellious quarter surrounded and bombarded.
The uprising was soon at an end. To insure himself against
repetition of the offence he ordered the immediate decapitation
of a number of prisoners. “That will serve as a lesson to them,”
he wrote to his geperals. He had supposed that he could
accomplish his ends with mild measures, but with these people
intimidation alone was effective.

The time of quiet following these terroristic measures was
cmployed in the development of the organization of the interior.
The scholars who had accompanied the expedition, with certain
officers of education, such as Caffarelli and Andréossy, founded
an “Institute,” at which they read papers on the subject of
cultivation of the country. These papers were published in a
periodical entitled ““La Décade Egyptienne,” while political and
local news were reported in “Le Courrier d’Egypte.” The first
scssion of the Institute was held on October 23d. Bonaparte
himself on that occasion proposed a series of questions the study
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of which was committed to different sections of the organiza-
tion. The sessions were held every five days. It was here that
the materials were brought together for the imposing scientifie
production which began to be published ten years later. This
work, wherein the foundations were laid for the scientific study
of Egypt in all its aspects, constitutes a title to imperishable
honour for the man who made it possible by his energy and the
interest which he gave to it. The best possible feeling pre-
vailed between the members of the Institute and its president.
Upon a single oceasion, as is reported by an officer of the expe-
dition, Bonaparte got into a dispute with Berthollet and allowed
his anger to overmaster him upon being repeatedly contra-
dicted by the latter, whereupon the great chemist observed:
“You are in the wrong, my friend, for you are getting unecivil.”
When upon this Desgenettes, the chief surgeon, took sides with
the naturalist, Napoleon broke forth: “I can see plainly enough
that an understanding exists between you all. Chemistry is
the kitchen department of medicine, which is itself the science
of murderers.” To which Desgenettes coolly replied: ‘“And
how do you define the art of the conqueror, Citizen General?”

Since he could look for no further supplies of money from
home, Bonaparte had recourse to the wealth of the rich Arabs.
One is reminded of the art of financiering as practised by Mephis-
topheles in “Faust” when one hears that the French commander
was continually searching for hidden treasure and in the interim
ordered the manufacture of 100,000 francs in paper money.
The need for money was real, for a new campaign was about to
be entered upon.

The tidings of the declaration of war by Turkey, which had
been the cause of the Cairo revolt in October, were later sub-
stantiated, but the report of the advance of Jezzar proved to
have been premature. In December, 1798, Bonaparte went
to Suez to make a search for traces of the old canal, and to in~
vestigate into the actuality of the miracles of Moses; there he
received the information that the troops of Achmed Pasha had
made an incursion into Egypt and had established themselves
in the frontier fortress of E] Arish. He at once made prepara-
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tions for taking the offensive in Syria. The opportunity had
now come for winning new victories, and he seized it with ardour.
His own tranquillity of mind was contributed to by the news
brought by a Frenchman who had reached Alexandria on a
merchantman from Ragusa: the negotiations at Rastatt were
still pending and only Naples was at war with France. This
was exactly in accordance with Napoleon’s wishes: to be assured
that the great Continental war had not yet burst into flame
and vet at the same time to realize the probability that, kindled
by the contest with Naples, it would not be long before it would
break out generally. It was his intention to return then to
France, and of this he openly informed the Directory in a letter
of February 10th, 1799, written before he set out for Syria.

In the same letter he made known the plan which he was
following in penetrating into Syria: he meant not only to repulse
the invasion and by means of fortifications on the frontier to
prevent any co-operation between the Syrian army and a second
which would probably land on the Delta, but, in addition, once
he had acquired possession of Syria, to take advantage of it to
exercise some pressure upon Turkey. The Syrian expedition
was thus designed to restore the political ascendency lost through
the destruction of the fleet. Whether his designs extended
still further may be inferred from the fact that on January 25th
he had written to Tippo Sahib, Sultan of Mysore and sworn
enemy of England, inviting him to enter into relations with
himself. Toward the Shah of Persia also he had made some
advances in regard to the necessary halting-places on a march
to India. Five years afterwards he said to Madame de Rémusat:
“In Egypt I felt myself freed from the shackles of a restricting
civilization; I dreamed all sorts of things, and I saw means of
executing all that I had dreamed. I created a religion, I saw
myself on the way to Asia, mounted upon an elephant, a turban
on my head, and in my hand a new Koran which I had com-
posed to my own liking. I should have brought together in
my undertakings the experiences of the two worlds, gathering
to my own profit from the history of all countries, attacking
the power of England in India, and by means of this conquest
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renewing my relations with ancient Europe.” His imagination
following in the footprints of his great predecessors was evidently
inexhaustible in its projects. But in a historical narration it
is not permissible to attach too great weight to such fantasies.
For even when indulging in these dreams calm reason was ever
at hand and ready to assert itself. He told Bourrienne in con-
fidence that he should not venture upon the expedition to India
unless Egypt were first made secure and he could leave 15,000
men there while pursuing his march with 30,000 more. Since
these prerequisites were lacking he was obliged to content him-
self with the Syrian campaign. ‘“He himself felt keenly,”
observed his confidant in his Mémoires, ‘““that all these projects
were too little in accord with our means, the weakness of the
government, and the distaste already evinced by the army to
these deserts.”

The conquest of the Holy Land was undertaken with four
divisions (about 13,000 men), under Kléber, Reynier, Lannes,
and Bon. On February 20th the garrison at El Arish was led
to capitulate, being granted the right of withdrawal without
molestation, and on the 24th the advance-guard reached Pales-
tine, where the troops could refresh themselves, having been
driven nearly to desperation by thirst and heat and a parching
wind which kept them on their march in the midst of a cloud of
sand. Gaza soon fell into their hands, no determined resist-
ance being shown by the few thousand men who were its defend-
ers, and on the 4th of March the fortified city of Jaffa was invested:
by the French. And here was the beginning of more obstinate
resistance. The French officer sent to negotiate terms with the
garrison was beheaded by order of the Turkish commander of the
place, and the ardour for battle on the part of the expeditionary
troops was thereby goaded to reckless fury. By March 7th their
batteries, consisting only of light field-pieces, had made breaches
in the walls, and the fortress was at once stormed and taken.
Hereupon followed a general massacre in the streets of all that
fell into the hands of the victors. Of the garrison, originally
4000 men strong, 1000 had already been killed. The others
retired, fighting their way, to a caravansary. Upou the appear-
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ance of two of Bonaparte’s aides-de-camp, the besieged Turks
offered from this refuge to surrender on condition that their
lives should be spared, to which condition the officers agreed
without waiting to obtain further orders, to the extreme chagrin
of the commander-in-chief, to whom the great number of prisoners
was the cause of no small embarrassment. To send them to
Egypt was impossible on account of the necessary escort; to
release them would mean only to strengthen the enemy; to
divide and maintain them offered difficulties no less considerable;
the French soldiers grumbled at being obliged to share their
bread with the murderers of the negotiator; the generals, in a
council of war held to decide the question, voted unanimously to
allow that law of war to take its course which forfeits the lives of
defenders of a fortress taken by assault. Bonaparte considered
the question for three days before approving the decision of his
officers. Finally the prisoners were taken to the beach and
massacred in a body.

History has condemned this horrible act, but military writers
have declared it justifiable.* But certainly this can apply only
in so far as concerns the garrison of Jaffa, who were taken in the
assault with arms in their hands after having rejected every
manner of capitulation. These were, however, according to
report, not the only ones who were put to the sword. In addi-
tion 800 militiamen from the garrison of El Arish were murdered
with them. To these the promise of unmolested withdrawal
had been made, but, in the end, not kept, for fear that they
should go to strengthen the enemy. If this be true, it is an
abomination such as no argument of military usage can excuse.t

* For example, Yorck, in his recently published book on ‘“Napolean
als Feldherr”” (I. 132), says: “ History of a pedantic order has been shocked
and horrified at this deed; from a military standpoint the question wears
a very different aspect. The welfare of his own army, and with it the
possibility of winning a victory, must precede all other considerations in
the mind of the commander. If the proceeding were necessary to the
safety of his army, not only was the act in this case justified, but its repe-
tition in a future war would be the same, and any convention would be
powerless to make any change in the matter.”

- 1 A staff-officer in the expeditionary army relates: “Contrary to the
terms of the capitulation, the prisoners from El Arish had been dragged
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On the 19th of March Bonaparte encamped before Acre.
The fortress differed apparently but little from those of the
easily conquered El Arish and Jaffa. A superficial reconnois-
sance of its works yielded a similar impression, and since the
heavy artillery which had been ordered sent on from Alexandria
had not yet arrived,—if, indeed, it ever should succeed in escap-
ing the English cruisers,—the commander-in-chief began this
siege with the same means which had proved sufficient in the
former cases. But at Acre the result was to be a different one.
The works were much better adapted to effectual resistance,
being provided with a counterscarp behind the outer walls. In
addition, the English rear-admiral, Sir Sidney Smith, was in the
offing with several ships whence he furnished the fortress
with provisions and means of defence, and sent to Jezzar a
capable officer of engineers who conducted the defence. By a
strange coincidence that officer was Picard de Phélippeaux, a
fellow student of Bonaparte’s at the Paris “Ecole Militaire.”
These two men who had sat together on the same bench at
school were now opposed to one another at this moment so
significant in the*world’s history, the Corsican in the service of
France, the Frenchman as the instrument of the English.

The speedy conquest of this place was very important for
Bonaparte, for war had now really broken out on the Continent.
In March he received from the Directory a despatch of Novem-
ber 4th, 1798,* which confirmed the report that the Neapolitan

along in the train of the army; Bonaparte feared that instead of going
to Bagdad they would go to Jaffa or to Acre, where they would have
reinforced the enemy. After the taking of Jaffa these militiamen pro-
tested and became unruly. Bonaparte, said they, had no further occasion
to fear their going to Jaffa, hé ought to let them depart according to
agreement. Still he could not make up his mind to permit this, and as
he had resolved upon ridding himself of the prisoners made at Jaffa, he
secretly ordered those from El Arish included with the others, and had
them all massacred together on the 10th of March.” (JFahrbiicher fiir
die Deutsche Armee und Marine, XXXVI. 141.) .

This account would agree with Bourrienne’s statement, giving the
number of the victims at about 4000,—3000 men of the Jaffa garrison,
with the 800 militiamen.

* Since the battle of Aboukir, and in consequence of the constant
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forces were about to take the field under command of Austrian
generals (Mack and Sachsen), which was at the same time an
indication of the renewal of hostilities on the part of Austria.
Further, that an Austrian detachment had penetrated the
Grisons, thus violating the neutrality of Switzerland, the ally of
France. To meet these complications the Directory had ordered
a levy of 200,000 men and given to General Jourdan the com-
mand of the Army of the Rhine, and to Joubert that of the Army
of Italy, where presumably the decisive blows were to be dealt.
Bonaparte himself was to act according to circumstances and
the dictation of his own judgment. The Directory not being
in a position to give him any support, it would refrain also from
giving him any commands or instructions. The despatch
closed with the words: “Since a return to France appears to be
difficult of achievement at the present juncture, three alternatives
seem to offer among which you can choose: to remain in Egypt
and so establish yourself as to be safe against all attacks of the
Turks,—in which case, as you are aware, the fact must be taken
into consideration that there are seasons there extremely calami-
tous to Europeans, especially if without aid from the mother
country; to penetrate into India, where, on your arrival, there
is no question but that you would find men ready to unite with
you to accomplish the overthrow of British domination; or,
finally, to march toward Constantinople against the enemy which
threatens you.” This letter was accompanied by newspapers
dated as late as February, which the consul at Genoa had given
the courier to take with him and which told of war actually
broken out between France and Naples and Sardinia, and of the
advance of the Russians toward Italy.

Much impressed by these tidings, and disregarding the pro-
cruising about of English ships, intercourse with France had been made
extremely difficult, especially when, after Turkey’s declaration of war,
the Barbary States also assumed a hostile attitude and. communication
between Tripoli and Egypt became altogether unsafe. This despatch
had reached Alexandria in safety by means of a Gencese transport-ship;
but how many letters fell into the hands of the English is evidenced by

the two volumes of the ‘“Correspondence of the French Army in Egypt”
which appeared in London in 1799.
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tests of Kléber, Bonaparte, toward the end of March, 1799,
ordered the storming of Acre with all possible speed. Only
this ‘“‘heap of stones” more to conquer, and then—covered
with the glory of having outshone the crusaders—away to
Europe, alone, where the Directory, as their letter shows, are
undertaking a war with very little confidence of success. These
were his reflections. Moreover, when leaving Cairo he had an-
nounced to Bourrienne that if he received in March tidings that
France was at war against the coalition, he should depart at
once. These tidings had reached him, and immediately he told
General Dommartin in confidence that he counted upon return-
ing to France with a certain number of generals and higher
officers. He needed then only to acquire a little glory before
taking his departure.

But Acre resisted all attempts. The assault was repulsed,
and the result heightened the self-confidence of the besieged.
Good artillery manned by English gunners inflicted serious
losses upon the French; Albanian sharpshooters threatened
the slightest indiscretion with certain death; Caffarelli, the excel-
lent general of engineers, died of a wound received in the trenches;
the besiegers were kept constantly on the alert by frequent
sorties. To add to their difficulties, an army of relief organized
in Damascus was hastening to the aid of the besieged and had
already crossed the Jordan. Kléber’s division, which was sent
out against it, was soon surrounded by forces twenty times as
many as his, and in spite of the heroism of his soldiers they were
in a most critical situation. Napoleon had to go to their assist-
ance, and on the 16th of April, by means of a brilliant feat of
arms, he was successful in routing the enemy at the foot of
Mount Tabor. Murat then drove the remainder back across the
Jordan.

Meanwhile the work of the besiegers had been pushed vigor-
ously forward. Mines had been laid, but with insignificant
results. The assault had been again and again renewed, but
all in vain. Finally the point of attack was changed with no
better success than before. At command of Phélippeaux a
second “enceinte” was constructed within the fortress and the
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streets barricaded. An assault on May Sth, 1799, undertaken with
unparalleled gallantry, broke upon this accumulation of defences,
and only a few hundred of the most foolhardy grenadiers reached
the interior of the city, where they were obliged in the end to
give themselves up to the English. It was not long before
pestilence began to spread in the French camp, ammunition
was growing searce, and. as if to take from Napoleon his last
ray of hope of success. a Turkish squadron landed reinforcements
for the besieged. When, on the 16th of May, there followed
the last decisive attack upon the nearly demolished city, it
miscarried, as had the others. To tarry further was now useless,
indeed ruinous, especially to the personal standing of Bonaparte
with his troops, whom he sacrificed without number. Two days,
May 7th and Sth, had alone cost 3000 men and two generals.
The army began to murmur and to conirast their unfeeling
commander-in-chief with the humane Kléber, and there were
individuals who even wanted the chief command transferred
tothelatter. Napoleon determined upon retreat to Egypt. The
more improbable the conquest of Acre became, the more he had
expatiated upon his far-reaching designs in case the siege were
successful. Where his deeds no longer yielded the coveted
glory, he had recourse to his imposing dreams. With the
weapons plundered from the fortress at Acre he should arm the
discontented tribes of Syria, march upon Damascus and Aleppo,
proclaim the end of the tyranny of the pashas, and, with the
hordes which should come to swell the ranks of his army, move
upon Constantinople. “Then,” said he to Bourrienne, “the
Turkish Empire falls before me; I establish in the Orient a new
and great empire which will assure my place with posterity, and
perhaps I shall return to Paris by way of Adrianople or Vienna
after having crushed the House of Austria.”

Here were again the visions of that imagination of which he
had said in the before-mentioned conversation with Madame
de Rémusat that it had “died confronting Acre.” That may
have been, but in any case we know from his own letters written
from Syria to those who had remained in Egypt that his efforts
were to be directed toward a return to Cairo whether the fortress
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yielded or not. For he was convinced that a Turkish army,
which had already been seen at Rhodes, was designed to land
at the Delta of the Nile, and it was clear to him that these
forces must be conquered if everything were not to be lost. The
unyielding claim of this immediate necessity put to flight all
further dreams of advance toward Constantinople or India, or
the foundation of an Oriental kingdom. And an empire might
not impossibly be founded elsewhere than in Asia.

On May 20th the siege was raised and the retreat begun.
According to descriptions of contemporaries the latter was
horrible in the extreme. The march from Acre to Jaffa is por-
trayed in these words: “A consuming thirst, total lack of water,
excessive heat,* a fatiguing march through scorching dunes,
demoralized the men and caused all generous feeling to give
place to the most cruel selfishness, the most distressing indiffer-
ence. 1 have seen officers with amputated limbs thrown from
the litters upon which they were to have been transported
according to orders, even in cases where the wounded man had
paid the bearers for their labour. I have seen abandoned to
their fate those who had suffered amputation, the wounded
together with those who were attacked by the plague or only
suspected of being so. The march was illumined by torches
kindled to set fire to small cities, towns, villages, hamlets, and
the rich harvests with which the land was covered. The whole
country was in flames. We were surrounded only by plunderers,
incendiaries, and the dying. By the side of the road where they
had been thrown lay men half dead, calling out with feeble
voice, ‘I am not sick with the plague, I am only wounded,” and
to convince the passers-by many of these poor wretches could
be seen reopening their wounds or inflicting new ones upon
themselves. No one believed in them. . . . The sun in all its
splendour under this clear sky was obscured by the smoke from
our incessant conflagrations. We had at our right the sea and
behind us the desert which we had created, before us the priva~

* In the desert, between Syria and the Nile, the thermometer regis-
tered 84° Réaumur (108° Fahr.) when exposed to the air, and 42° Réau-
mur (125° Fahr.) when in contact with the ground.
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tions and sufferings which awaited us; such. in truth, was our
situation.”* Besides there were hovering all about them swarms
of Nabulusians, one of whom on one occasion shot at Napoleon,
who had fallen asleep upon his horse while on the march.

On the 24th of May theyv reached Jaffa. Here yet lay those
wounded during the attack on the city. The plague had asserted
itself here as in the ranks of the army. Napoleon himself
hastened through the wards of the hospital, calling out to the
sick: “The fortifications are destroyed. Fortune was against
me at Acre. I have got to return to Egypt to keep it from
enemies who are about to descend upon it. The Turks will be
here in a few hours; let all who feel able to get up come with
us; they will be transported on litters and horses.” And how
about the others? There were about sixty stricken with the
plague who were obliged to remain. Fable has exaggerated
this visit to the hospital both in art and writing, while ill-disposed
criticism has set forth as a crime his suggestion that those who
must remain should be protected from the fury of the pursuing
foe by administration of a narcotic which should bring about
painless death. He never denied having taken this view of the
situation, and at St. Helena he declared himself to his physician
1o be still of the opinion that the measure suggested would have
been the wisest, and that under similar circumstances he should
have pursued the same course toward his own son.

Through Ascalon and Gaza and then for nine long days
through the burning sands of the desert, the expeditionary
troops, wofully reduced in number, dragged their weary way;
a procession smaller in extent but otherwise closely resembling
that awful retreat from Russia’s bitter cold and ice which thir-
teen years later prefaced the end of the “Fortune” of the Em-
peror of the French. Five thousand men had been sacrificed
without making the slightest impression upon the Porte. And
to disperse a Turkish army there was no need for travelling that
long road of suffering to Mount Tabor. Least of all had any-
thing been accomplished toward the satiation of the ambition
of the commander. His chief concern now was that there should

# Jung: “ Bonaparte et son Temps,” III. 290.—B.
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be no avowal of the truth. While still before Acre, on the
10th of May, he had announced to the Directory that his object
had been attained, the season was growing unfavourable, and
Egvpt demanded his presence; he should return through the
desert after having demolished the fortress. In another report,
of May 27th, his statement was that he might have occupied
the ecity, but had abstained from doing so on account of the
plague which, his spies, prisoners, and deserters all concurred in
testifying, was raging there most frightfully. (What a pity
that his spies had been so late in making this discovery!) In
a war bulletin of the 16th of May he announced to the Divan
of Cairo, an organization of his own creation, that he was bring-
ing with him a vast number of prisoners and flags, that he had
razed to the ground the palace of Jezzar, likewise the ramparts
of Acre, and so bombarded the city as to leave no stone upon
another; the inhabitants had all fled by way of the sea: Jezzar,
who was wounded, had retired with his followers into one of
the forts on the seacoast. He even went so far as to reassure
his own soldiers with the confidently affirmed falsehood that
they might have hoped in a few days to overpower the Pasha
of Syria himself in his palace, but that at this season, with the
possibility of a landing of the Turks in Egypt, the capture of
Acre would not counterbalance the loss of time spent in the
effort. When his secretary ventured to protest against this
distortion of the actual circumstances, Napoleon silenced him
with the observation that he was a simpleton who tormented
himself about trifles and had no comprehension of matters of
this kind.

Toward the middle of June, the Syrian army, reduced it is
true to only 8000 men, made its triumphal entry into the capital
of Egypt. A short time afterward Bonaparte received word
from Marmont in Alexandria that 100 Turkish ships had ap-
peared on the 11th of July in the roadstead of Aboukir under
escort of Sir Sidney Smith and had landed 18.000 men.* The

* The number fluctuates between 8000 and 18,000 according as the
statement be made by the English or by the French. The former is
certainly too low an estimate, the latter too high in comparison with the
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same message had evidently reached Ibrahim and Murad, whom
Desaix had until now kept at a respectful distance; for the former
now again appeared on the Syrian frontier, while the latter
made efforts to reach the North with some hundreds of Mame-
lukes, both with the object of co-operating with the Turkish
forces just landed. The latter had intrenched themselves tem-
porarily upon the peninsula of Aboukir, Alexandria being
fortified by the French.

Bonaparte determined upon attacking them in this place and
at the earliest possible moment. Murad was speedily driven
toward the South, while a close watch was kept upon Ibrahim.
To facilitate the concentration of the French forces, Desaix was
ordered to evacuate Upper Egypt, while with all other disposable
troops—numbering about 6000 men, besides a reserve of 2000
entrusted to Kléber—the commander-in-chief advanced against
the enemy. It was a hastily conceived plan brilliantly exe-
cuted on the plain of Aboukir, July 25th, 1799. The plan of
action in this battle was characteristically Napoleonic—to unite
all forces before the onslaught, make use of them all in the en-
gagement, and seek to annihilate his foe; its execution was made
much easier through the defective order of battle adopted by
the Turks. The success was complete. The left wing of the
enemy having been surrounded and driven into the sea, the right
was made to undergo the same fate. Lannes then succeeded in
gaining possession of a commanding redoubt which Murat and
his eavalry, with mad impetuosity, had ridden around and which
constituted the strongest point of the Turkish centre. That
also was now forced, and only a few remnants of the Turkish
forces escaped to the fort on the apex of the little peninsula. -
These were reduced by starvation and forced to capitulate a
week later. This time Napoleon confined himself strictly to the
truth in writing to Cairo: ““The staff will have acquainted you
with the outcome of the battle of Aboukir; it is one of the finest
I have ever witnessed. Of the army landed by the enemy not a
man has escaped.”

number of transport-ships. More than 15,000 men were scarcely to be
conveyed on 100 transport-vessels.
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In addition to this triumph but one thing more was needed
to fulfil the requirements of his self-seeking ambition: to be
assured that he had been correct in the second assumption upon
which he had based his departure to Egvpt—that the war broken
out meanwhile in Europe should result disastrously to France,
thus not only increasing his own personal importance, but bringing
the government at Paris into discredit so that a determined
soldier who knew how to conquer at this time might with the
same blow easily acquire the power of the State. And the cer-
tainty of this condition of affairs Napoleon obtained for himself.

Since the message which had overtaken him while before
Acre no other had reached him. He could not know that at the
end of May, 1799, the French admiral Bruix had received orders
to unite his squadron with the Spanish fleet to defeat the Eng-
lish on the Mediterranean and bring home the expeditionary
army from Egypt—an enterprise which fell through on account
of the refusal of the Spanish commander to co-operate. He
failed also of receiving a letter sent to him on May 26th by the
Directory notifying him of Bruix’s mission and recalling him to
Europe.* But he heard nevertheless what he needed to krow.
It is almost a certainty that he received occasional tidings from
his brothers by way of Tunis through the consuls of Genoa and
Ancona, who were devoted to his interests. And here again
chance came to his aid. Sir Sidney Smith, who now lay at

* A passage from this letter signed by three of the Directors runs
thus: “The extraordinary efforts just put forth by Austria and Russia,
the serious and almost alarming turn taken by the war, necessitates to
the Republic the concentration of all its forces. The Directory has
accordingly just given command to Admiral Bruix to employ all means
in his power to make himself master of the Mediterranean and to bear
toward Egypt for the purpose of bringing back from thence the army
under your command. He has orders to arrange with you as to the method
to be employed in effecting its embarkation and transport. It is left
to your discretion, Citizen General, to decide whether you can with safety
leave in Ezypt a part of your forces, and you are authorized by the Direc-
tory in this case to entrust the command to whomsoever you may judge
fit. The Directory would take pleasure in seeing you at the head of the
republican armies which you have up to the present time commanded
with so much glory.”
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anchor before Alexandria and was entering into negotiations
with Bonaparte in regard to the release of prisoners, took pleasure
in communicating to him the late defeats suffered by the French
in Italy, where indeed Schérer had been overcome in April and
the Cisalpine Republic dissolved. As testimony to the truth of
his assertions he sent to Bonaparte a package of the most recent
newspapers, announeing in addition that he was under orders to
prevent the return of the expeditionary army desired by the
Directory. Nothing more was needed to determine Napoleon’s
immediate execution of the plan long before resolved upon. In
the words with which he announced his.decision to Marmont may
be found the entire plan by which his actions were to be directed
during the ensuing months: “I have determined upon taking
my departure for France, and I count upon taking you with me.
The state of affairs in Europe forces me to this momentous step;
reverses have overwhelmed our armies, and Heaven knows to
what point the enemy may have already advanced. Italy is
lost, and the reward of so many efforts, of so much bloodshed,
escapes us. And what, in truth, is the use of these incapables put
at the head of affairs? There is nothing but ignorance, stupidity,
or corryption amongst them. It is I, I alone, who have borne
the burden and by means of constant victory given strength to
this government, which without me would never have been able
to lift its head and support itself. As soon as I was gone every-
thing had to collapse. Do not let us wait until the destruction
be complete. . . . The news of my arrival and of the destruc-
tion of the Turkish army at Aboukir will be heard in France
almost at the same moment. My presence, in raising their
spirits, will restore to the army the confidence which it lacks,
and to good citizens the hope of a brighter future.”

His intentions were confided to but a few trusted men and
concealed from most of the generals. With the utmost secrecy
also were the two frigates at anchor in the harbour of Alexandria
fitted out for the voyage. Sir Sidney Smith, to whom it was
apparently inconceivable that the commander-in-chief should
return to France without this army, had left the roadstead for a
short time to renew his supply of water at Cyprus. Hardly had he
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taken his departure before Napoleon profited by this new favour
of fortune and made his way out to sea during the night of August
21st, accompanied by only a few devoted adherents, Lannes,
Marmont, Murat, Monge, Berthollet, and a few hundred soldiers of
the guard. To the gallant Kléber, whose inconsiderate frankness
had made him obnoxious to Napoleon. was left, by written order,
the command of the army remaining in Egypt.

The fact does not appear to have been taken into considera-
tion by Napoleon that honour required his continuance with the
troops which had been entrusted to his leading and which had
courageously shed their blood in the furtherance of his own
ambitious designs. And yet it is scarcely admissible to accuse
him of abandonment of the army, nor—as has even been done—
of desertion. His position toward the Directory was without
question exceptional. At the time of his departure for Egypt it
was understood that he was to return during the autumn of
1798 to resume command of the Army of England. This was
not to be the case with the entire expeditionary corps, since it
was the plan also to found a colony and to organize plantations
which would require perpetual protection. The letter of No-
vember 4th, 1798, from the National authorities at Paris, re-
ceived while besieging Acre and which has been before cited, left
him entire freedom in his decisions. He himself had repeatedly
and openly announced his approaching return to France, which
he would certainly not have done had it been directly contra-
dictory to instructions. But it is equally certain that in taking
this step he was acting only out of regard for his personal ambi-
tion and interests. For neither of these was anything further to
be acquired in Egypt and everything to be lost. The situation
of the expeditionary army must inevitably grow more and more
critical, and in announcing that he left it just after a victory in
the field which would long protect it from molestation his state-
ments did not wholly coincide with the truth. He kept silence
upon one point which he afterwards divulged at St. Helena:
that he was already convinced from the moment of the loss of
the fleet at Aboukir that expedition could end only in catastrophe,
since any army which cannot be recruited must eventually
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capitulate. He also prudently refrained from communicating
what was revealed by the honest Kléber in a letter to Talleyrand:
that the army, already reduced by one half, was suffering for
the want of munitions and clothing; that the population of
Egypt, roused by the Sultan against the Christians, was ready at
any moment to rise in revolt; that an advance of new Turkish
forces was threatening, and that Alexandria was almost defence-
less, since the heavy artillery had been lost in the Syrian campaign
and the remainder of the equipment used in fitting out Napo-
leon’s two frigates; finally, that the distress of the situation was
aggravated by a grievous lack of money, since the arrears of pay
to the troops now amounted to 4,000,000 francs, and Napoleon
had left nothing but debts with not a single sou in the treasury.

Much has been said of the courage shown by Napoleon in
exposing himself to the dangers of a voyage upon the Mediterra-
nean, infested as it was by ships of the enemy. DBut it may be
questioned whether it would not have required greater courage
to remain under such desperate circumstances. And in this
courage Napoleon would not have been found wanting if his
ambitious schemes had not impelled him to make this effort
toward the acquisition of supreme power in France. Of these
schemes the distinguishing features had long been determined
upon, nor was there any lack of devoted adherents, so that even
before the expedition to the Orient they had been on the point
of realization by means of a Coup d’Iitat. The Army of the
Orient was composed almost exclusively of fervent republicans.
He felt not the least pang in separating himself from it; it suited
him perhaps better to know that it would be far from France at
the moment when his designs were to be executed. During the
campaign in Italy Napoleon had already obeyed only his own
impulses, regarded himself as sovereign in conquered countries,
and negotiated and concluded the treaties of Leoben and Campo
Formio by which France had been bound. Here in Egypt,
where even more than before he acted as his own master, his
spirit of domination had found new sustenance and his yearning
desire to become the head of an independent government had
struck deeper root than ever into his character. He could
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scarcely think of himself any longer as without a crown. Ounly
it seemed to him manifestly easier to pluck it from the withered
liberty-tree of the Revolution than to disinter it from the endless
sands of the desert.



CHAPTER VII
THE COUP D’ETAT AND THE CONSULATE

A7 that time, when everything depended upon wind and
weather alone, a voyage to or from Egypt was a question of
the season. From the beginning of spring until autumn it was
an easy matter, driven by the constant northwest wind, to
reach Alexandria from Toulon, but just so much the more
difficult to make the trip in the opposite direction. It was,
therefore, no favourable season for a journey to France when
the two frigates, “Muiron” and ‘‘Carrére”, with Bonaparte
upon the former, left the Egyptian harbour. Only for the
sake of eluding the vigilant watch of Sir Sidney Smith had
they put to sea in August. The contrary wind compelled the
two ships to give up the direct course to Toulon and to sail
along the north coast of Africa. Their progress was scarcely
to be designated as such. A number of times they were driven
back ten miles during the day and only regained their former
position by night when the breezes blew from the shore. Not
less than three weeks were thus consumed by the impatient
travellers before they arrived off the Carthaginian headlands,
in constant anxiety of being attacked from the rear by the
enemy. But the real danger began only when the wind at
last turned to the advantage of the homeward bound. The
narrow passage between Sicily and Tunis had to be passed, and
this was guarded by an English cruiser belonging to Nelson’s
fleet, which was at anchor off Syracuse. Should the frigates
be discovered by this vessel, it would be a very short time
before the dreaded admiral would be in pursuit. Fortunately
they succeeded in passing the scout at night with lights ex-
tinguished, and now directed their course toward the north
along the west coast of Sardinia as*far as Corsica, which they
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reached in the beginning of October. And here they were
again detained for several days by a return of the northwest
wind to the vexation of Napoleon, who was overrun in Ajaccio
by cousins and godparents and every one who could eclaim
relationship of any kind. He was totally unmoved by every-
thing except the meeting with his old nurse, who hailed him
eagerly as ‘“‘caro figlio.” He showed to his companions, not
without a certain pride, the former estates of the Bonapartes,
and hunted with them in the adjoining thickets. This was the
last time that he ever saw his native island.

As if his programme were to be literally carried out, he
learned in Ajaccio that the French armies had suffered new
reverses, that on June 19th a battle had been lost on the Trebbia,
and on August 15th another at Novi, and that Joubert had been
killed. But something else which he learned was of still greater
importance to him: that the Directory had succumbed after
a struggle with the legislative bodies in June (the 30th Prairial),
and had been compelled to admit new members, among them
Sieyeés. It is well known that Napoleon’s confidence in the
abbé was great, and these tidings consequently could not but
be reassuring to him. They induced him to change his plan
for the rest of the voyage. It had been his intention to hasten
at once to the theatre of war in Italy, there to assume the su-
preme command, and having by new victories ingratiated him-
self with the people of France, as their deliverer in the hour of
need, to present himself before the Directory with all the weight
of his renown. This plan being now abandoned, he put forth
all efforts to reach the capital. The circuitous route by way
of the battle-field seemed now only a loss of time.

But first of all it was indispensable to reach the shores of
France, and this was to be more difficult than had been fore-
seen, now that, after having passed through so many dangers,
they were so near the goal. A favourable wind had at last
carried them away from Corsica, and on the 8th of October
they were already in sight of the islands of Hyéres and sailing
toward Toulon, when suddenly at sundown an English squad-
ron was made out bearing directly upon their course. The
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critical moment was at hand, for the Englishmen had also
observed the frigates and began to give chase. The French
admiral attempted to turn back toward Corsica, but Napoleon
gave orders to veer again to the north and continue in their
course. He was resolved in case of necessity to throw himself
into a small boat carried by the ship, and to attempt an escape
to land alone. And once again was his courage rewarded by
success. The English were misled in the distance by the ap-
parent direction of the sails, and fancied them to be steering
in a northwesterly direction. Under this mistaken impression
they pressed rapidly forward. Nightfall prevented them from
discovering their error until too late. The frigates escaped
thus narrowly, and the following morning, October 9th, found
them safely at anchor in the harbour of Fréjus.

The tidings of Bonaparte’s return was spread in a moment
throughout the town. At once the sea was covered with craft
which, regardless of the danger of pestilence, escorted the hon-
oured general to land. Here, as in Ajaccio, the question of
quarantine was entirely set aside, affording no small gain in
time to Napoleon, and what must have seemed to him of still
greater consequence was the inference to be drawn from this
enthusiastic reception that the public mind had become most
tavourably disposed toward himself. It is even related by
Marmont that he was publicly greeted by a club-orator with
the words: “Only go and beat the ecnemy, General, and drive
him away, and then we will make you king if you so desire!”

After a few hours of repose he pursued his journey without
stop as far as Aix, whence he sent on a messenger to the Direc-
tory to announce his arrival. Every word of his letter was
carefully weighed. It opened with the statement that the
General had received the communication sent by the govern-
ment on November 4th of the previous year, and had concluded
from it that war was about to break out on the Continent.
That if he had not at once put himself at their disposal the
incursion of the Turks was to blame, since they had first to be
overcome before he might think of return. He should have
ventured to make the voyage home whatever the circumstances
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even had it been possible only ““ in a small boat and wrapped in
a mantle.” He, of course, a